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ABOUT HAICHANG OCEAN PARK HOLDINGS LTD.

BEEEBFAEERARAT

Haichang Ocean Park Holdings Ltd. (2255.HK) is a leading group
in China specialising in providing integrated tourism and leisure
services with oceanic culture as its core. The Group owned and
operated seven large-scale marine culture-based theme parks
under the brand name of “Haichang” in China. While improving
visitors’ experience and product offerings in theme parks, the
Group gradually diversified its business to tourism and leisure
services and solutions, and IP operation new consumption. As
the Group continues to deliver its comprehensive tourism and
leisure resources and premium IP merchandises across China,
more consumers are able to fully enjoy the Group’s wide range
of high-quality culture-based tourism and leisure consumer
products. The goal of the Group is to become a company helping
people to have fun to the fullest by creating a place filled with
“Dream, Love, Joy”, which can continue to satisfy consumers’
demand for high-quality tourism and leisure products. Haichang
Ocean Park Holdings Ltd. has successfully been listed on the
Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange since 13 March
2014. The Company has been selected as a constituent stock of
a number of indexes under the Hang Seng Family of Indexes such
as the Hang Seng Composite Index, the Hang Seng LargeCap
& MidCap (Investable) Index, the Hang Seng Consumption Index

and the Hang Seng Stock Connect Hong Kong Index, and has
been included in the MSCI China All Shares Small Cap Index and
the FTSE Global Equity Index Series.

HEEFEARZERAERAGF(2255.HK) 2
LUSEX L BZ OB P EELENEE T
NIEEE  SEEZRBEENES L IE
EIRNANBE | RmE - UBFXUERE
BMAAFERER - HRRATELELE
FERBRNERNRE  SEXRTBEES
HREXIRRE REERTTRER - IPEE
FOEBXE  BBFENKRMAE KR
BABRNESNIPEEERBHE2E
B AREBREZHHEHEBEEHTD
ZEXRNHMEE BSE 2 MRESURH
BED ASENEREREKNA—REKX
RIMBETRAR HEETE—@EF
2-8% - BREINF  TEREA
MEREEXREBERMERK - 2014
F3A13H  BEBFRREZERAERA
BIEBBHRAERKI LT - AF B
AMEEEREBELREEE BERRA
B(AIZRE)IBE - EEHEEY - ELE
EREEHELZHEBEERIRIOK S
[ - BB EMAMSCIHE 2R EE /N RS
EHMERE2XRERERY -




CONTENTS

H &%

Corporate Information

NEER

Five Years’ Financial Summary
REMBHE

Chairman’s Statement

TEWE

Management Discussion and Analysis
EILE S RO

Directors and Senior Management
EEREREREE

Directors’ Report

BExgws

Corporate Governance Report
rEERRE

Independent Auditor’s Report

B ZHAERE

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

BffRER

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

AffEmlaER

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

BHFMBARRE

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

CLit: fe L ES
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
aHEERER

Notes to Financial Statements

AR ERR MR

Major Properties held by the Group
REEFHEZETBYE

-

10

33

52

74

110

120

121

122

124

126

129



CORPORATE INFORMATION 2 RI1&E#

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Qu Naijie (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Qu Cheng

Li Kehui (Senior Vice President (Person-In-Charge))
Zhang Jianbin?

Non-executive Directors

Wang Xuguang
Yuan Bing

Wu Tongtong?®
Li Hao*

Independent Non-executive Directors
Wang Jun
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Shen Han®
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Zhang Meng’

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Zhu Yuchen (Chairman)
Wang Jun
Shen Han

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Wang Jun (Chairman)
Wang Xuguang
Zhu Yuchen

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Qu Naijie (Chairman)

Wang Jun

Shen Han

RISK MANAGEMENT AND CORPORATE

GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

Yuan Bing (Chairman)
Zhu Yuchen
Shen Han

appointed on 17 November 2023
resigned on 17 November 2023
appointed on 3 July 2023
resigned on 3 July 2023
appointed on 9 June 2023
appointed on 31 October 2023
retired on 9 June 2023

~ o o & © N o=

HAICHANG OCEAN PARK HOLDINGS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Y

HITES

BTN (EERITEAE)

Gl

THE (BRE G (L TIE))
SREEIH?

FATES
E8%

R A AR

%t

BYFHTES
¥

RERS

e

BREE7

RET

BEREES
RER (L)
S
b

HFWEES
I8 (ER)
E)iP

RER

REZES
t T ()
IE
R

RREEREXELCEES

=E(LE)
AER
L

R2023411 A17 BREZRT
R2023F 11 A17 BEHT
R2023F7 ASHBRERT
R2023F7 A3HEHT
R2023F6 A9RBER(T
MR2023F 10 A31 HREZRE
7202346 A9 BRI

~ o o & © N o=



INDEPENDENT BOARD COMMITTEE

Wang Jun (Chairman)
Zhu Yuchen
Shen Han

COMPANY SECRETARY
So Lai Shan

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Qu Cheng?®

So Lai Shan

Zhang Jianbin®

LEGAL ADVISERS

As to Hong Kong Law
Ashurst Hong Kong

As to PRC Law
Liaoning Think Tank Law Firm

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King’s Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

HEAD OFFICE IN THE PRC

31st Floor, Building A

Foreshore Beach World Trade Centre
Phase I, No. 4, Lane 255 Dongyu Road
Pudong New District

Shanghai

PRC

REGISTERED OFFICE

PO Box 309, Ugland House
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104
Cayman Islands
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CORPORATE INFORMATION A ®1& %t

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG
KONG

Room 804, 8/F., K11 Atelier, Victoria Dockside
18 Salisbury Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon
Hong Kong

CAYMAN ISLANDS SHARE REGISTRAR

Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited
PO Box 1093, Boundary Hall

Cricket Square

Grand Cayman, KY1-1102

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKS

The Export-Import Bank of China, Shanghai Branch
The Export-Import Bank of China, Liaoning Branch
China Construction Bank Corporation, Shanghai Branch
China Construction Bank Corporation, Sanya Branch
China Construction Bank Corporation,
Dalian Branch
Bank of China Limited, Henan Branch
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited,
Dalian Branch
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited,
Shanghai Branch
Bank of Communications Co., Ltd., Shanghai Branch
China CITIC Bank Corporation Limited, Dalian Branch
Ping An Bank Co., Ltd., Dalian Branch
China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd., Shanghai Branch
Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co., Ltd.,
Pilot Free Trade Zone New Area Branch
China Everbright Bank Co., Ltd., Shanghai Branch
Industrial Bank Co., Ltd., Shanghai Branch
Shanghai Rural Commercial Bank Co., Ltd.,
Huangpu Sub-Branch
Zhongyuan Bank Co., Ltd.
Harbin Bank Co., Ltd.
Bank of Dalian Co., Ltd.
Bank of Ningbo Co., Ltd., Shanghai Branch

STOCK CODE
2255

COMPANY WEBSITE

http://www.haichangoceanpark.com
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T F I EBE FIVE YEARS’ FINANCIAL SUMMARY

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31HLEE
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
20194 20204 20214 20224 202345
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREBFT  AREFT  AREFT  AREFT  ARETT
Results 3o
Revenue WA 2,801,980 1,168,222 2,460,200 792,988 1,816,842
Gross profit/(10ss) 5/ (18) 1,285,393 (129,255) 721,265 (278,728) 457,455
Profit/(loss) before tax BREREF/(B18) 175,349 (1,517,525) 1,197,169 (1,418,389) (186,104)
Income tax (expense)/credit e (), e (144,156) 39,071 (362,931) 9,531 4,197
Profit/(loss) for the year FnaF/(B8) 31,193 (1,478,454) 834,238 (1,408,858) (181,907)
EBITDA' RETHE - HE -
WERBEHEA
B8R/ (E8)" 1,206,712 (429,470) 2,170,811 (772,957)" 507,527
Attributable to: BER:
Owner of the parent BRREEA 25,080 (1,451,637) 844,851 (1,395,911) (197,259)
Non-controlling interests R 6,113 (26,817) (10,613) (12,947) 15,352
Assets and liabilities EEREE
Total assets BEE 16,871,151 16,419,488 11,717,352 10,210,925 11,522,744
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEED 2,484,468 2,408,110 3,206,658 1,244,633 1,702,264
Short-term interest-bearing KT BIRTT
bank and other borrowings REMEE 2,471,365 2,769,547 1,925,907 1,461,220 1,403,535
Long-term interest-bearing REGTRRT
bank and other borrowings REMEE 6,035,532 6,426,162 3,268,061 3,687,947 4,739,333
Shareholders’ equity et s 4,478,681 3,000,325 3,830,469 2,676,327 2,518,362
Note: MizE -
1. EBITDA means profit/(loss) before tax plus depreciation, amortisation 1. EBITDARBRFEATZAF] ~(E518) HnlE &

i MBER

and finance costs
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT EfE#H 4%

On behalf of the board (the "Board”) of the directors (the
"Director(s)”) of the Company, | am pleased to present to
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) the review
of our annual results for the year ended 31 December 2023 and
our prospect.

In 2023, with the easing of epidemic prevention and control
measures, the gradual economic recovery and development and
the accelerated reshaping of the tourism and leisure pattern,
the tourism and leisure market in China gradually recovered
and further displayed its role in stabilizing economic growth,
adjusting economic structure, expanding domestic demand,
promoting consumption, increasing employment and boosting
confidence. According to the statistics of the Ministry of Culture
and Tourism, the number of domestic tourist trips reached 4.891
billion in 2023, representing a year-on-year increase of 93.3%;
total spending of domestic tourists reached RMB4.91 trillion,
representing a year-on-year increase of 140.3%; and the number
of domestic tourist trips and domestic tourism revenue recovered
to 81.38% and 85.69% of 2019, respectively.

Our results recovery and tourists received were both above the
average level of the industry. Our total revenue reached RMB1.82
billion in 2023, representing a year-on-year increase of 129.1%,
which is mainly attributed to the normal external operating
environment as well as the recovery and increase of the number
of tourists brought about by the increasingly improved quality
and attractiveness of tourism and leisure products. In 2023, our
total admission attendance reached 9.29 million, representing
an increase of 101.9% as compared with that of 2022 and
an increase of 8% as compared with 2019 and surpassing the
pre-pandemic level. The implementation of the intellectual
property (“IP") strategy and the increasingly improved tourist
experience significantly boosted in-park spending in our theme
park segment. The tourism & leisure services and solutions
business expanded rapidly. The Phase | Project of Zhengzhou Park,
our key project, opened on 28 September, bringing incremental
contributions to our results growth.

HAICHANG OCEAN PARK HOLDINGS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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We recorded continuous increase in revenue and refined operation
and achieved remarkable improvement in profit and cash flows. In
2023, our gross profit turned to positive at RMB458 million; the
adjusted EBITDA profit™® turned to positive at RMB459 million;
and cash flows in operating activities increased significantly to
RMB534 million.

Thanks to the normal external operating environment in 2023,
our theme parks recovered rapidly with Shanghai Park, our
large-scale flagship project, becoming an important source of
revenue growth. In 2023, Shanghai Park contributed 60% of the
revenue from the park segment and the revenue of Shanghai
Park achieved a remarkable increase of 132.4% as compared
with the corresponding period of 2022 and an increase of 6.9%
as compared with the corresponding period of 2019. Shanghai
Park brought us a sustainable and stable cash return. Jingiao
Haichang Penguin Resort Hotel adjacent to Shanghai Park is under
construction and will open in 2024. The phase Il of the Shanghai
Haichang Ocean Park is also under construction and is expected
to open in 2025. After the opening of the abovementioned two
projects, it will enrich the ancillary and entertainment experience
in Shanghai Park, develop an oriental ocean leisure destination in
Shanghai and contribute incremental revenue to Shanghai Park.
During the year, Zhengzhou Park, a large project, was officially
opened on 28 September. Despite the operation for only a
quarter in the 2023 financial year, we have seen the extraordinary
potential of Zhengzhou Park, which is likely to become another
source of revenue growth.

Note: Adjusted EBITDA is a non-IFRSs financial measure. Please refer to the
section headed “Financial Review — Non-IFRSs Measure — Adjusted
EBITDA Profit/(Loss)” for details on the adjustments made by the
Company in arriving at adjusted EBITDA.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT E£fE#H&E

For the tourism & leisure services and solutions business, we
have developed complete plans and models on tourism & leisure
outputs with our focus on light-asset development. We have
achieved great progress in pan-tourism & leisure projects with
many large-scale projects executed contracts and implemented.
As mentioned above, Jingiao Haichang Penguin Resort Hotel and
the phase Il of the Shanghai Haichang Ocean Park are under
construction. Beijing Haichang Ocean Park is under design. We
have entered into strategic cooperation framework agreements on
Fuzhou Haichang Ocean Park and Saudi Haichang Ocean Park and
are actively advancing them.

We have developed an IP operation product platform on which
we will, in continued partnership with owners of globally
influential IPs, commercialise and integrate such IPs into our
theme parks, scenic spots, lifestyle hotels, commercial buildings
and other on-ground consumption and entertainment premises
for the development of new business formats with IP + new
scenarios. Currently, we have been granted and achieved the
implementation of international IPs such as ULTRAMAN, One
Piece and Baby Shark, covering consumers of different ages with
the diversified IP matrix. Our proprietary IPs include Fat Douding,
a baby killer whale, Celestra Queen and Seven Guardians. We
deeply implemented the IP strategy in the park segment. Since the
opening of the first ULTRAMAN-themed pavilion in 2022, IPs have
continuously empowered the revenue growth of our park segment
in less than two years.

We have achieved outstanding results in the protection and
breeding of core animal species. In 2023, a total of 35 large
ocean and polar animals were bred. A baby killer whale was
born in December 2023, which is the second baby killer whale
successfully bred in our park. We have developed bionic whale
sharks, bionic rays and bionic finless porpoises and such bionic
animals can be used in science education and the output of
research and performance products. On the one hand, it can
reduce the reliance on rare species; on the other hand, it can
facilitate the commercial application of bionic technology and
maximize the value of such technology.

HAICHANG OCEAN PARK HOLDINGS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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We have been selected as one of the “Top 20 Tourism Groups
in China” for 11 consecutive years. As a leading enterprise in
the tourism and leisure industry, we have carried out active
exploration and made achievements in light asset and cultural IPs
and other innovation sectors. Currently, we have developed the
new ecosystems of Haichang with seven self-owned large-scale
theme parks + four large-scale light-asset projects + over 40 small
— and medium-sized light-asset projects + a reserve of over 10
well-known IPs + a reserve of 140,000 ocean and polar animal
resources. We have the mature capability on the whole process
of tourism & leisure services and solutions covering plan design,
construction management, operation services, brand output
and IP empowerment. We are determined to develop into an
international large-scale and comprehensive tourism and leisure
group with oceanic culture as its core.

APPRECIATION

Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | would like to convey my heartfelt
appreciation to all our staff members for their contribution and
devotion. | would also like to express my sincere gratitude to our
visitors, consumers and all business associates for the continued
trust and support. Our goal is to become an international
large-scale and comprehensive tourism and leisure group by
creating a place filled with “dream, love, joy"!

Yours sincerely,
Qu Naijie
Chairman
26 March 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EEfEsTam K& 2T

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a leading group in China specialising in providing
integrated oceanic culture-based tourism and leisure services.
As at 31 December 2023, the Group owned and operated
seven large-scale marine culture-based theme parks under the
brand name of “Haichang” in China. While improving visitors'
experience and product offerings in theme parks, the Group
gradually diversified its business to tourism and leisure services
and solutions, IP operation and new consumption. As we continue
to deliver our management and operation experience in large-
scale tourism and leisure projects, and IP-supported premium
tourism and leisure products with high experience across China
and overseas, more consumers are able to fully enjoy our wide
range of high-quality culture-based tourism and leisure consumer
products. Our goal is to become a company that allows people to
have fun to the fullest and create a place filled with “dream, love,
joy”, which can continue to satisfy consumers’ demand for high-
quality tourism and leisure products.

In 2023, as the entire tourism and leisure market in China
witnessed a rebound, our parks also experienced a certain
recovery. The Group’s revenue increased by approximately
129.1% to RMB1,816.8 million for the year ended 31 December
2023 from RMB793.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2022. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded
a gross profit of RMB457.5 million, a net loss attributable to
Shareholders of RMB181.9 million and an adjusted EBITDA
profit™ of RMB458.9 million, respectively, representing a
significant improvement as compared to gross loss of RMB278.7
million, a net loss attributable to Shareholders of RMB1,408.9
million and adjusted EBITDA loss™ of RMB423.2 million,
respectively, for the corresponding period last year.

Note: Adjusted EBITDA is a non-IFRSs financial measure. Please refer to the
section headed “Financial Review — Non-IFRSs Measure — Adjusted
EBITDA Profit/(Loss)” for details on the adjustments made by the
Company in arriving at adjusted EBITDA.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EE st R 547

RMB’000 Year ended 31 December
AREFTT BZE12A31BLEE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Revenue by business REBEHBA
Park operation NEES 1,687,376 748,941
Ticket sales RELION 902,753 348,340
In-park spendingstete EIANEE=4U) 565,664 276,296
Rental income HaeBA 25,285 23,771
Income from hotel operations SETE YA 193,674 100,534
Income from tourism & leisure MR AR TS R R 7 5
services and solutions 129,466 44,047
Total et 1,816,842 792,988

Note: (1)  In-park spendings include revenue from sales of food and
beverages, sales of merchandises, and in-park recreation
income
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Park Operation

As at 31 December 2023, the Group owned and operated seven

theme parks.

NEEE
HZE2023F12A31H  REEHEIE
BIRETBAE -

Year of

Park Theme Location opening  Site area Scenic rating

E £ g REBE (GHER RETR

Shanghai Haichang Ocean Park Polar ocean and Shanghai 2018 Approximately 297,000 4A
("Shanghai Park” or amusement facilities square metres
"Shanghai Project”)

tiEgesRE ([ LSRRI g R ER g 2018 #29.78F 4A
[LEER])

Zhengzhou Haichang Ocean Resort Polar ocean and Zhengzhou 2023 Approximately 425,000 To be
("Zhengzhou Park” or amusement facilities square metres determined
"Zhengzhou Project”)

gMeeEFmEERE ((BHAE] BT RIBLR i 2023 H4258F ¥4
[BMER )

Dalian Haichang Discoveryland Theme Park ~ Amusement facilities Dalian 2006 Approximately 467,000 5A
("Dalian Discoveryland”) square metres

REBEERIETELE BERIE RiE 2006 #4678 F 5A
([REZRIE))

Sanya Haichang Fantasy Town Immersive cultural and ~ Sanya 2019 Approximately 233,000 To be

recreational complex square metres determined
=GREBNEF N MRAX R AR =3 2019 #2338¥ fE

Dalian Laohutan Ocean Park Polar ocean Dalian 2002 Approximately 23,000 5A

square metres
REZREFTAE bz RE 2002 #2387 5A
Chongging Haichang Caribbean Water Park ~ Water park Chongaing 2009  Approximately 240,000 4A

square metres
ERSEMPLBKER KEEE BF 2009 #24EF 4A
Yantai Haichang Ocean Park Polar ocean Yantai 2011 Approximately 157,000 4A

square metres
EeEESEAE byyes Ea 2011 A1578F 4A

2023 ERE BEEFAEERBRAR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EE st R o

Despite a relatively long period of adversity in the past, we
remained committed to improving our visitors’ experience and
product quality. Therefore, as the cultural and tourism industry
witnessed a rebound, we have been able to achieve a rapid
recovery. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's
parks recorded a total admission attendance of approximately
9.29 million. Excluding the newly opened Zhengzhou Park, the
total admission attendance recorded a significant increase by
101.9% as compared with the corresponding period of 2022 and
an increase by 8.0% as compared with that of the same park
admission attendance in 2019. For the year ended 31 December
2023, the park operation segment recorded a revenue of
approximately RMB1,687.4 million, excluding the newly opened
Zhengzhou Park, representing a significant increase by 118.6% as
compared with the corresponding period of 2022 and an increase
by 4.4% as compared with that of the same park revenue in
2019.

We further strengthened our IP strategy in our park segment. In
2022, we integrated the ULTRAMAN IP into our Shanghai Park for
the first time, and constructed and operated ULTRAMAN-themed
pavilion and area, where we provided attractive IP products
in form of food, beverage, toy and amusement. Moreover, in
January 2023, we officially opened the world’s first ULTRAMAN-
themed hotel in the Shanghai Park, which has been well received
by visitors, reflected in its 100% occupancy from time to time
during holidays. In addition to the ULTRAMAN IP, we continued
to launch well-known IP products/events such as the ONE PIECE
treasure tribes, Baby Shark-themed rooms, restaurants, shops and
parade products in our Shanghai Park. In the first half of 2023,
we continued to establish an ULTRAMAN-themed pavilion and the
ONE PIECE legend castle in the Dalian Discoveryland, maintaining
our position in leading the trend for local culture and tourism.
The ULTRAMAN-themed area in our Zhengzhou Park has fully
completed and opened for business. We will constantly introduce
outstanding IPs and promote the implementation of quality IPs
in other theme parks, which will greatly broaden the revenue
sources of our park operation segment and optimize our revenue
structure.
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EEE R KRS MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The growth and recovery of our theme parks in 2023 outpaced
the average level of tourism and leisure industry. According to the
statistics of Euromonitor, the growth and recovery of our theme
parks in 2023 significantly outpaced the average level of theme
parks in China. Our theme parks share high popularity among
tourists due to the integration of amusement, leisure, education
and popularization of science as well as our diversified contents.
During the spring festival of 2024, excluding the newly opened
Zhengzhou Park, the total number of ticket buyers recorded an
increase by 18.3% as compared with the corresponding period
of 2023, and revenue from theme park segments recorded an
increase by approximately 15.9%.

Shanghai Project: The Shanghai Park, being our flagship project,
has become a benchmark of marine culture experience. We have
also seen a significant recovery in park admission attendance and
revenue, which was attributable to the tourism recovery as a result
of the normalized external environment and the growth in per
capita secondary spending due to our ongoing efforts to improve
tourism experience. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Shanghai Park recorded a significant increase by 118.6% in
total admission attendance as compared with the corresponding
period of 2022 and an increase by 16.6% as compared with
the corresponding period of 2019. For the year ended 31
December 2023, the Shanghai Park recorded a significant increase
by 132.4% in revenue as compared with the corresponding
period of 2022 and an increase by 6.9% as compared with the
corresponding period of 2019. During the spring festival of 2024,
the Shanghai Park recorded an increase by 12.1% in total number
of people buying tickets as compared with the corresponding
period of 2023, and recorded a significant increase by 16.5%
in total revenue as compared with the corresponding period of
2023.

It proved our efforts in providing high quality tourism and leisure
experience and our competitive edge on business model: the high
quality and sophisticated Shanghai park will bring a sustainable
and stable cash return.

B EBERAER2023FHIEBRE KK
EEHBAXKITEFLHKE - BRIE
Euromonitor® & - MW EBELE
R2023F MR EMREERBHREE
BABEFHKE - BN EBARESH
% KEER HERETR 8-
NAEE BRI EENEE o
2024 FFEEAM - BR & a9 E N
NE - EEEASE L2023 F A HE
£18.3% r TELAERBUMALNE K
15.9% -

EBER EARMEEIEE - LF
AEEKABEENERIZR - 525
P IE B b B N 3B 3R 35 BT 75 2R A 32 R IR
B/ URTEHEHIREEEBRATE R
MAEZEER - BRAOABRASERK
AL KIEIRE - 8 Z2023F 128318 1E
FE - ESRABEABARELLL2022F R
HAKIEIER118.6% * ¥ L2019 A £
MEHERK16.6% ° H£2023F12A31H
WEFE  EBAEKRAELL2022F R
AIRIER132.4% » HH2019F RHE R
6.9% ° 2024 F B E A - LB ARERE
= ANRELE 2023 F R R12.1% - &
WA 2023 F R BAAIEIS K 16.5% ©

ELEERTRMAERGEERKER £
MEBHN  ARBEMEBERANES &
g1 KAWL RS RSERE
HIRE R E R -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Our Shanghai Park is adjacent to Dishui Lake, located in Lin-Gang
cultural, commercial and tourism cluster, with a number of well-
known cultural and tourism experience projects in the vicinity,
including the Yaoxue Ice World, Shanghai Astronomical Museum
and the China Maritime Museum. We are expecting such area to
become a world-class cultural and sports tourism destination and
Our
Shanghai Park, as a benchmark of marine culture experience, has

a carrier of international consumption centre in Shanghai.

already become a leisure and vacation destination in the Yangtze
River Delta and even in whole China. To this end, we will further
promote the expansion of the Shanghai Park to meet the needs
of more tourists for quality cultural tourism. We are expanding
the phase Il development of the Shanghai Park through asset-light
approach, which will incorporate elements such as a hot spring
hotel, an ocean-themed hotel, an ocean discovery centre and a
specialty hot spring centre, which is expected to open in 2025.

Zhengzhou Project: Zhengzhou Park is located in Zhengzhou, an
important national transportation hub city in the Central Plains,
with two hours of traffic circle covering 450 million people, the
potential tourist market is huge. Currently, the Phase | Project
of Zhengzhou Park has opened at the end of September 2023,
and the size of the entire Zhengzhou Park is 143% of that of
the Shanghai Park, with associated facilities including ocean-
themed parks, hotels, commercial strip and IP-themed town.
The Zhengzhou Project will become another important source
of revenue for the Group. We expect that the cash flows of the
Zhengzhou Project will turn to positive in 2024.
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EEE R KRS MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Tourism & Leisure Services and Solutions Segment

More than 20 years of cultural tourism operation has enabled us
to accumulate experience and insight in the industry. Therefore,
we intensify the development of our tourism & leisure services
and solutions business. The Group has set up a strategic product
system for the provision of a full cycle of management delivery
services under the OAAS (OPERATION AS A SERVICE) model,
to precisely develop boutique projects in the “marine tourism
+ science exploration + family entertainment” three-in-one
composite business format.

During the year, we signed a strategic cooperation agreement
with Tongzhou District People’s Government of Beijing
Municipality, and also signed a cooperation framework agreement
with Beijing Tongzhou Urban Construction and Operation Group
Co., Ltd. to work collaboratively to develop the Beijing Haichang
Ocean Park Project (the “Beijing Project”). The location of the
Beijing Project is situated at the north side of Universal Studios,
the sub-central cultural tourism zone of Beijing, with a total
construction area of approximately 140,000 square meters. The
Beijing Project is our first project in Beijing. It is also another
project led by local state-owned assets authorities and fully
operated and managed by the Group, demonstrating that the
Group has won further recognition in terms of OAAS business
model, dual-engine strategy of “marine culture + IP". This
cooperation will consolidate the advantageous resources from
both parties, form an effective synergy with Universal Studios,
and help the cultural tourism district to build a brand-based
conglomeration for landmark cultural tourism destinations, which
will also help boost the overall enhancement in the Group’s
market share and revenue. Up to now, the Beijing Project has
proceeded to the stage of design.

ShiR AR 7S 2 R R T SRAR R

20 FNNIKELEERMEA T HE
EOERAAR - Bt - RAREHARE
SCHR IR 7 B R T RER - RSB
OAAS (OPERATION AS A SERVICE)#E={
EEHEBRBOBRBERBR  BE
i IR+ BB R R+ REREE ) =1
—BEAXERRER -

FA - BRI RTEMNEARBFE
FERS S BERIEBMNEHRE
RETEBEARARERZAFERD
& BAREREERIEREEBFAE
HAE (TEREB]) » EFEREULR
18 FO T Bl A0 3L ik i [ BR BRI AL
fl - BEREREN14EF 7K - IbRIA
BRHEMAELRRENEEER - b2
X—EmitTEHETERESHANEE
EPHEZEEENER B EOAASER
B [EF b +IP] 5| BHRRFEIE
—HHRA c WRAEHREETES
BIR - EIRREUMIVK A M E - B
AL B [ T & AR 1 SR B /Y 3t 4 B
S8 THANESHAKREMSHEER
MBAZERT - BHEBA - ERIAEH
EREE ARG -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS BB wmk 2

In addition, major projects such as Jingiao Haichang Penguin
Resort Hotel and Phase Il Project of Shanghai Park are under
construction, and they are expected to open in 2024 and 2025,
respectively. On 26 March 2024, we entered into a strategic
cooperation framework agreement with Fuzhou New Area
Management Committee to work collaboratively to develop
Fuzhou Haichang Ocean Park. Up to now, we have certain
project potential cooperation opportunities that are still under
negotiation.

Boutique aquarium is one of our product lines which we are
currently advancing in a rapid manner. Embracing the belief
of "“Every city deserves to have one Haichang Aquarium/Ocean
Exploratorium”, we launched two new brands, namely “Haichang
, in the first half

of 2022. We cooperated with potential local aquariums, which

Aquarium” and “Haichang Ocean Exploratorium”

we upgraded to some extent to improve the original landscape
and enhance the tourism experience. We also provided a full
suite of supporting systems of Haichang and dispatched our
experienced staff to provide management support. As of 17
March 2024, we operated 20 marine culture-based and urban
family-friendly aquariums. Currently, there are still about 10
boutique aquariums in negotiation. These projects serve as a
channel to further increase the attendance through consolidation
and management of operating small boutique aquariums by
capitalising on our business strengths and experience in marine
culture industry. The value, traffic and customers’ experience of
the boutique aquariums are further enhanced through integration
of Haichang's premium culture-based tourism and leisure products
and sales system, introduction of IP derivatives and leveraging
on the cost advantage as a conglomerate and under the scale-
up development. For the year ended 31 December 2023, our
boutique aquarium recorded a revenue of approximately RMB93.6
million. From January to February 2024, our boutique aquarium
recorded an admission revenue of approximately RMB11 million.
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EEE R KRS MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

China still has an enormous regional culture-based tourism and
leisure market and the demand for high quality tourism and
leisure products of the huge regional consumer population.
Thus, we plan and hope that we are able to provide a more
diversified range of quality products and services for China's
massive family tourism and leisure market and speed up on the
extensive expansion of geographical presence across China. We
will also continue to adjust our portfolio of boutique aquariums
to meet our requirements for their efficiency. Furthermore, we
will integrate our new IP merchandises business into the chain
aquariums. In the future, we will continue to introduce our
premium products of new IP merchandises into our operating
projects, endeavouring to further meet the demand for the
premium IP products of the consumers in the region, thus
enhancing the overall profitability for the projects.

In addition, our other product series, the “Children’s Snow and
Ice Center” project, was officially launched in Bao’an District,
Shenzhen in April 2023. Covering an area of approximately 2,200
square meters, the project offers a snow-based experience of
real ice and snow through the use of patented technology to
restore natural snowfall in a purely physical way, differentiating it
from the current ice-based ice and snow projects in the market,
ensuring a unique experience. Meanwhile, combined with IP
operation, the ice and snow park with exotic customs and magical
cultural background is created through multiple scene elements,
presenting a rich and colorful interactive experience. The opening
of the project will mark the launch of the Group’s new product
series, which will serve as a starting point for future expansion
and deployment of more projects nationwide. This project
generated a positive cash flow in 2023, proving the feasibility of
such product.
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IP Operation New Consumption Business

We have started to shape the landscape of IP operation products
in the market segment which we are familiar with. We seek to
develop a unique IP operation product platform on which it will,
in continued partnership with owners of globally influential IPs,
commercialise and integrate such IPs into our theme parks, scenic
spots, lifestyle hotels, commercial buildings and other on-ground
consumption and entertainment premises for the development of
new business formats with IP + new scenarios.

We will strive to further diversify our IP portfolio. Currently, we
have been granted the IP license of the ULTRAMAN Series (details
of which can be found in the announcements of the Company
dated 30 December 2021, 18 April 2022 and 27 June 2022
published on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”)). We have also entered into cooperation
with Toei Animation Enterprises Limited and were granted
relevant license of works under the animated television series
“ONE PIECE” for carrying out a series of commercial cooperation.
We are also in negotiations with a number of extraordinary IP
owners for possible cooperation. On the other hand, we are
developing Haichang's proprietary IPs, such as Fat Douding. Fat
Douding is the first baby killer whale bred in the Shanghai Park.
Other than those charming and oceanic proprietary IPs, we have
developed a distinctive oceanic IP, Celestra Queen. These IPs have
debuted in the shows at the ULTRAMAN Theatre in the Shanghai
Haichang Ocean Park, and received countless commendation
after the shows. We will further operate our proprietary IPs in the
future.

In addition to introducing the IP-themed pavilions in our own
parks, we are also actively expanding other channels. Currently,
we plan to first launch our IP-themed pavilions in other scenic
spots, parks, shopping malls and other crowded areas. Our
influential IP and excellent IP products will be popular among
local tourists, which is a proven successful commercialisation
opportunity. We expect to open theme pavilions in non self-
owned scenic areas as soon as possible, which will lay a solid
foundation for the rapid market-wide development of IP business
in the future. Besides, we also launched several activities in 2023,
including Baby Shark-themed rooms, restaurants, shops and
parade products, and achieved success in attracting visitors.
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Type Area Year of opening
B g S
Shanghai Haichang ULTRAMAN-themed pavilion 2,226 square metres July 2022 Self-owned
Ocean Park scenic areas
EsEEFRE RS TR 2,226m’ 202277 A BERE
Shanghai Haichang ULTRAMAN-themed hotel 105 rooms January 2023 Self-owned
Ocean Park scenic areas
Naied= Ny N RS TEEE 105fE % 2023F 1A BERE
Zhengzhou Haichang ULTRAMAN-themed pavilion 1,330 square metres September 2023 Self-owned
Ocean Park scenic areas
BMEE 55 E RIS TEE 1,330m? 2023F9 A BARE
Zhengzhou Haichang ULTRAMAN town 10,526 square metres January 2024 Self-owned
Ocean Park scenic areas
MG EEFNE BRI S/NE 10,526m? 20241 A BERE
Zhengzhou Haichang ULTRAMAN-themed hotel 105 rooms January 2024 Self-owned
Ocean Park scenic areas
BMEE T E RS TEEE 105fE5 202451 A BARE
Dalian Discoveryland ULTRAMAN-themed pavilion 4,147 square metres May 2023 Self-owned
scenic areas
REERTE BT STEE 4,147m? 20235 BARE
Chengdu Happy Valley ULTRAMAN-themed pavilion 2,650 square metres June 2023 Non self-owned
scenic areas
PREPERLERD B ST EH 2,650m’ 202376 A FEAERR
Shanghai Haichang ONE PIECE-themed pavilion 820 square metres June 2023 Self-owned
Ocean Park scenic areas
Naied= Fisde N g E X R 820m? 2023%6 A BERR
Dalian Discoveryland ONE PIECE-themed pavilion 1,190 square metres June 2023 Self-owned
scenic areas
REERTHEH e B 1,190m? 202376 A BARE
2023FERE BEFELAEERARAD 24
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OUTLOOK

Leveraging on our abundant experience in cultural and tourism
operation, we will continue to make unremitting efforts to expand
and extend our business.

We are still a growing enterprise. The following are our next new
projects with high visibility, but we do not guarantee that all of

such projects can be fully implemented:

ARIREE
DA B ) OB AT B R LR - RIS
BETHERAMEBNREERE -

BADE-—KTEKRENDE - L TR
BAETIRERERENHHIER - B
I RAEFAA IR B BESE 255 3

Expected year

Type of opening
it b E S
Jingiao Haichang Penguin Resort Hotel Resort hotel 2024 Operated by Haichang
cREECBEREAE EREE 2024 BEEE
Phase Il Project of Zhengzhou Haichang Theme park 2024 Self-owned and
Ocean Park operated by Haichang
BMNEEEFTAE_HEA FTERE 2024 BEBAILES
Phase Il Project of Shanghai Haichang Theme park 2025 Operated by Haichang
Ocean Park
FEBERF AR _HIER FTERE 2025 BEEE
Beijing Haichang Ocean Park Project Theme park 2026-2027 Operated by Haichang
tREEEF L AEIEA TERAE 2026-2027 BEEE
Haichang Ocean Park Project in the Theme park 2030 Operated by Haichang
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
DERAATEEEBFARIER FTERE 2030 BEEE

In addition to large-scale new projects, we still have much growth
potential, including the operation and optimization of existing
tourism and leisure projects, the accelerated deep integration
of IPs with theme parks, the commercialisation opportunity of
IP-themed pavilions, the deliveries of local tourism and leisure
projects, etc.

In addition, we also hope to deploy more focus on our operation.
We will conduct further in-depth exploration on the path of
capitalization to further improve our capital structure. Except for
future projects which will be developed under asset-light model
in principle, we will also actively pursue an innovative financing
model for our existing heavy assets, releasing restricted capital
to provide strong financial support for the rapid growth of the
Group in future. Meanwhile, we will explore business models with
value-added assets empowered by Haichang's operations.
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EEE R KRS MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW B 7% 5] B8
Revenue A

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded & ZE20234F 12 A31BILFEE » AEEE
a turnover of approximately RMB1,816.8 million (2022: SEEBEHOAR®1,816.8BH T (2022
approximately RMB793.0 million), representing an increase of F:HARBKTIOZ0HEERL)  REFE
approximately 129.1% when compared with last year, primarily — ER#4129.1% » TEHAXIRTILEIR
attributable to the fact that both our park operation business — RIBIAREM ABMR2023EFHE - A
and tourism & leisure services and solutions business recorded a BB 2 EBUWA KRR KR 7%=
substantial increase in revenue thanks to the rebound of tourism EBWA BRI IR -

& leisure market, as well as the newly opening of our Zhengzhou

Park in 2023.
As at 31 December
HZ=12H31H
2023 2022
2023 %F 20224
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
AREFT % ARETT %
Revenue by business REBE DA
Park operations NEEE 1,687,376 92.9% 748,941 94.4%
Tourism & leisure services S RARTS M iR 7 &
and solutions 129,466 7.1% 44,047 5.6%
Total et 1,816,842 100.0% 792,988 100.0%
|
! -]a =
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Revenue generated from the Group's park operations segment
increased by approximately 125.3% from approximately
RMB748.9 million in 2022 to approximately RMB1,687.4 million in
2023.

Revenue generated from the Group's tourism and leisure services
and solutions segment increased by approximately 193.9%
from approximately RMB44.0 million in 2022 to approximately
RMB129.5 million in 2023.

Cost of Sales

The Group’s cost of sales increased by approximately 26.8%
from approximately RMB1,071.7 million in 2022 to approximately
RMB1,359.4 million in 2023, which is attributable to the growth
in revenue.

Gross Profit/(Loss)

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's overall gross
profit was approximately RMB457.5 million (2022: gross loss of
approximately RMB278.7 million), resulting in an overall gross
profit margin of approximately 25.2% (2022: gross loss margin
of approximately 35.1%), primarily attributable to the substantial

increase in revenue post the pandemic.

Other Income and Gains

The Group’s other income and gains increased by approximately
68.8% from approximately RMB181.5 million in 2022 to
approximately RMB306.5 million in 2023, primarily due to the
fair value gains on investment properties, gain on disposal of an
associate and dividend income from financial assets.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

The Group’s selling and marketing expenses increased by
approximately 63.7% from approximately RMB85.0 million in
2022 to approximately RMB139.2 million in 2023, primarily
attributable to strengthened marketing efforts post the pandemic
and increased selling and marketing expenses incurred as a result
of the opening of Zhengzhou Park.
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EEE R KR 2 MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Administrative Expenses THEHA

The Group's administrative expenses decreased by approximately AEBNITHRERB2022FHARKE
22.5% from approximately RMB606.4 million in 2022 to  606.4BETT * [E1K4122.5% 20234
approximately RMB469.8 million in 2023, primarily due to the  #JARM®469.8FE T FTEHMN2022
long-term assets impairment of RMB148 million in 2022. FROEERBARKI148BETERR -

Finance Costs B 7 R AR

The Group's finance costs increased by approximately 2.5% AEERSBERABE2022FNHARE
from approximately RMB314.9 million in 2022 to approximately ~ 314.9B&JT * INKI2.5% £ 2023 FH)
RMB322.6 million in 2023, primarily due to the fact that more ~ #IARM322.6 BETT » TEMN B
interest-bearing debt incurred in 2023 in order to support ~ FMAE2023FELBZETEER °
Zhengzhou Park.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS BBk 24T

Income Tax Credit

The Group recorded an income tax credit of approximately
RMB9.5 million in 2022 and an credit of approximately RMB4.2
million in 2023, primarily due to the effects of deferred income
tax.

Loss for the Year

As a result of the foregoing, the Group realised a loss for the
year ended 31 December 2023 of approximately RMB181.9
million (2022: loss of approximately RMB1,408.9 million) with a
net loss margin of approximately 10.0% (2022: net loss margin
of approximately 177.7%). For the same period, loss attributable
to owners of the parent amounted to approximately RMB197.3
million (2022: loss attributable to owners of the parent of
approximately RMB1,395.9 million).

Non-IFRSs Measure

In order to supplement the Group’s consolidated financial
statements, which are presented in accordance with IFRSs, the
Group uses adjusted EBITDA profit/(loss) as an additional financial

measure. The Group presents the financial measure because it
is used by the Group’s management to evaluate the Group's

B %

REER2022FHBABHEEHAR
O SHEIT  M2023F A SEEHA
R¥42B&TT - TEARBELTEMEHD

ye -
FREE

MR EXATMRERA @ AEBREZE2023
F1I2ABLEFEELABEOARKE
181.9BE L (2022F : BEHARE
1,408.9B87L)  FEEXHN10.0%
(20225 : FEBEEN177.7%) - IREA
HE - BAREBARLEEOARE
197.3B&7C (20224 : B RARHEE AME
HEIBHARE1,3959H&7T) °

JEEFR ISR ERFT 2

AHAANEERBEEMEREENS
IMAHMBHRE  AEBBLEAE
EBITDARE ~(&18) {E BT INIT H 5T
E - AEERIZEHBHETIBARAE
CEEREFAXSMEITE  BBM




EEE R KRS MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

financial performance by eliminating the impact of certain items
that the Group does not consider to be indicative of the Group's
performance during the reporting period. The Group also believes
that the non-IFRSs measure provides additional information to
investors and others in their understanding and evaluating the
Group's results of operations in the same manner as it helps
the Group’s management. The non-IFRSs measure provides an
unbiased presentation for investors for understanding. However,
the non-IFRSs measure does not have the standardized meaning
prescribed by IFRSs and therefore it may not be comparable to
similar measures presented by other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange.

Adjusted EBITDA Profit/(Loss)

For the year ended 31 December 2023, adjusted EBITDA profit
was RMB458.9 million (2022: loss of approximately RMB423.2
million), primarily attributable to a significant increase in revenue
resulting from the rebound of tourism and leisure market.

The following table sets out the adjustments of adjusted EBITDA
for the periods indicated:

HRBERRAEERRYEAREREAT
HETNENETHENZENFIGAS
BB R IR o ANEBE IR S I IR BIFR
MBREEFER/REEREMAL
REBEINER  BEPRNRFEAEEHE
BERARETAERLFERNEERL
BEE - ZIFERMERELE/IRE
EREDERBIR AR o A UL IEE
MM BRE LR ELRABEERMB
BEERENTE(ORE - B A6
HEMAEBRX EmH AR 250 E
D AR -

ZAEEBITDARIE (BE)
HZE2023F12A31 B I FEKLARE
EBITDAZRF A AR 45898 & 7T (2022
FEBOARKA232H5ET) £ 2
EHRXIRTSEIRRERABRAL
hn e

TRAEZYHRETAEEBITDAR AN ¢

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARMFT ARMEFIT
Earnings/(loss) before interest and tax BERaIFE,(E18) 102,282 (1,122,978)
— Depreciation and amortization — PrEH 405,245 350,021
— Changes in fair value of investment —REMEAREBEE
properties (48,648) 179,830
— Impairment of property, plant and — M BB REREAR
equipment and intangible assets B EERE - 148,114
— Impairment of completed properties — BFEHENEERMERE
held for sale - 21,810
Adjusted EBITDA profit/(loss) AEZEBITDAFIE ~(&18) 458,879 (423,203)
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EEE R KRS MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Capital Expenditure

Our major capital expenditure was primarily incurred for park
construction, park renovation and facility upgrade. We funded our
capital expenditure from our internal resources, bank borrowings
and leases. For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023, the
Group's capital expenditure amounted to RMB804.1 million and
RMB1,317.4 million, respectively.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had current assets of
approximately RMB2,718.1 million (2022: approximately
RMB2,847.4 million). As at 31 December 2023, the Group had
cash and bank deposits of approximately RMB1,702.3 million
(2022: approximately RMB1,244.6 million).

Total equity of the Group as at 31 December 2023 was
approximately RMB2,518.4 million (2022: approximately
RMB2,676.3 million). As at 31 December 2023, total interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings of the Group amounted
to approximately RMB6,142.9 million (2022: approximately
RMB5,149.2 million). As at 31 December 2023, total lease
liabilities of the Group amounted to approximately RMB156.1
million (2022: approximately RMB118.6 million).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a net gearing ratio of
approximately 182.5% (as at 31 December 2022: approximately
150.3%). The net liabilities of the Group included interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings and lease liabilities, less cash and cash
equivalents.

As indicated by the above figures, the Group has maintained
stable financial resources to meet its future commitments and
future investments for expansion. The Board believes that the
existing financial resources will be sufficient to execute future
expansion plans of the Group and the Group will be able to
obtain additional financing on favourable terms as and when
necessary.

EREX

BMNEZEARIBRELARER 2
BREREBEEN - BMNERFAZE
SRBERBEMOREER - RITERK
MHE - BlE2022F K%2023F12HA31H
EFEAEBREAAZSEINAAR
B4 1 BB ITRARM3174B8T -

REBEERMKEER
MR2023F12A318 - AEBRBEE
HWAEARE27181HBIL(2022F & 4
AR#2,847.4887T) - R2023F12 A
318 AEENR S RIRITFERLABA
R#1,70238870 (2022F : HARE
12446 EEBTT) °

MR2023F12A318 @ REBEEEZED
BARE2,5184EB8TL(2022F : HHA
R#¥2,676.3B87T) °c R2023F12 A
318 AEERTERITREAMSE KR
B ABANRE6,142 98 BT (20224 -
WARYES5 149 2BHETL) ° FR2023F 12
A3MA  ALENHEAFRBEHNAA
R¥156. 1 B8 (2022F : AR

e —

118.6 H&IT) °

M2023F12 8318 - AEBRFEEL
KU A182.5% (FR2022F 12 A31H -
#41150.3%) - AEB FHEREF BIR
ThkEMEREEEEE  BRES LS
S EEY -

FRABFER  AEREHRERBMBE
IR AT R EL R R R R IR E DA
TER ZESE8E BREMBERSK
RRBEBRNEERITARAKBRE - MR

FEER - NERETENIEE A RIE
RSN E -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS BBk 24T

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The share capital of the Company comprised only ordinary shares
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Certain suppliers of the Group filed claims to the People’s Court
of Pudong New Area in Chinese Mainland against the Group
for overdue payments of construction costs of approximately
RMB12,585,000 and the interests arising from the overdue
payments of construction costs of approximately RMB305,000.
As at 31 December 2023, a bank account of the Group of
RMB2,592,000 was frozen by People’s Court of Pudong New Area
for property preservation. As at the date of this annual report,
the trials of the cases are yet to be scheduled. The Group has
made full provision for payments of construction costs due to
the possibility of the Group taking settlement responsibility on
the basis of the available evidence and legal advice taken. The
Directors of the Company are of the opinion that, the interests
claimed are without merits and the possibility for the Group to
be subject to additional interest claims is remote and no provision
has been made for the interests claimed.

aben
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EEE R KR 2 MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE RISK

The Group mainly operates in the PRC. Other than bank deposits
denominated in foreign currencies, the Group is not exposed
to any material risk related to fluctuations in foreign exchange
rates. The Directors do not expect any material adverse effect on
the operation of the Group arising from any fluctuation in the
exchange rate of RMB.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group had capital
commitments of approximately RMB643.6 million (2022:
RMB608.4 million), which shall be funded through a variety of
means, including cash generated from operations, bank financing

etc.

5 EE B == [ B
AEEEBEDDEE - RSN E
WIRTEHSN - AEE LAY EAH
MONEEF R DM EARR - B EEH
AR M B S A £ 1 B 0 o
TEEEATHYE -

BAREE

HZE2023F12A31HIEFE - AEEW
BREELBARE643.6BET (2022
F: ARB6084EFETT) BLB®kE
LEEAMES  BITRESZEERES -
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STAFF POLICY

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 3,725 full-
time employees (2022: 3,060 full-time employees). The Group
offers a comprehensive and competitive remuneration, retirement
scheme and benefit packages to its employees. Discretionary
bonus is offered to the Group's staff depending on their work
performance. The Group and its employees are required to make
contributions to social insurance schemes including the pension
insurance and unemployment insurance at the rates specified in
relevant laws and regulations.

The Group sets its emolument policy with reference to the
prevailing market conditions and individual performance and
experience.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD,
MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, during the year ended
31 December 2023, the Group did not have any significant
investments, material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, during the year ended 31
December 2023, the Group did not have other plans for material
investments or capital assets.

HAICHANG OCEAN PARK HOLDINGS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2023

EEBE

20231283180 KEEAHKE
3,725% 2B ES (20224 : 3,060% %
BEE) AEEMHEESRERHEZEMA
WSl DEF B - RIKEH 8 REF B -
NMERAEEE TN TIERBmEEE
WEE AEEEEESBRAMEE
KOEMBF AR E Rt gRBEE (B
BEEZRBEAKRERRE) HK -

AEERBERMRLMEARRRLZ
i BEEHMBUR

= = ’
BNTREELENE R RE
R

BrARFRETHEES - B E2023F 12 A
S1THIEFER  AEBEWETMAEKRR
E - KMBAR  HMEARKAELERN
BERKEREE -

AREERKRESBAELRE
EEE

BrARFERETHEES - B E2023F 12 A
S1THIEFER  AEBTEHEMEEKR
KERBAELREENTE -



EERSHREEE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

AN OVERVIEW OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The Board currently consists of nine Directors, three of whom
are independent non-executive Directors. The Directors were
appointed by the Board. According to the articles of association
of the Company (the “Articles of Association”), not less than
one-third of the Directors must retire from office by rotation
at an annual general meeting provided that every Director is
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years
and any Director appointed by the Board either to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the Board will hold office until the
next following general meeting of the Company after his/her
appointment.

The Board is responsible and has general powers for the
management and conduct of the Company’s business. The
following table sets out certain information concerning the
Directors during the year ended 31 December 2023:

Date of
Name Age appointment(s)
e i EZEAH

EENREREEEBNE
EERREENEES  EF=%54
BUFNITESR - FEFHHESEZ
FoRBREBEARAZAHEABERME ([ER
HME])  FOR=p2—EFEFERRR
BERetGERT HWEBREEHA
E=FHELHmERT—X MEEES
ZHENERBRRERSIIEATIZESS
ZENTENESC EHEEHELZ TR
RRARRIT I —RAREKRE AL -

EECEEARAERZEELRER -
WTHHEEZEESN - TRHFIREZE
2023F 12 A3MHILFEERESENET
&R

Other Position/title, job responsibilities and
relationship with other Directors

Higfr B BEREHGESHEE

Executive Directors #{TES

Chief Executive Officer, chairman of the Board and chairman of
the nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination

Primarily responsible for the overall management of the Group

((REZEE) IR

Mainly participates in discussion of corporate development strategies

IE H Txﬁﬂ*ﬁ@%fx

Qu Naijie 63 5 January 2022
97 202241 A5H
Committee”)
Father of Mr. Qu Cheng
THES BFFFERARAREEES
FEREASENEEERIE
2L MR
Qu Cheng 36 25 May 2016
fhig 201645 H25H and project investment and other businesses
Son of Mr. Qu Naijie
TESMPEERERE
WAL ENRTF
Li Kehui 50 17 November 2023 Senior Vice President (Person-in-Charge)
I 2023F11 4178 =RERE (FFFTE)
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Date of

Other Position/title, job responsibilities and

Name Age appointment(s) relationship with other Directors
e Fir EZIERH Hepmi /B BEREHGESNEE
Zhang Jianbin 50 5 January 2022 Executive President

SR

(note 1)

202241 A5 E (M)

Non-executive Directors #{TE%E

Wang Xuguang
Frex

Wu Tongtong
RARAA

Yuan Bing

=K

Li Hao

E

55

44

55

42

5 January 2022
20221 H5H

3 July 2023
20237 H3H

24 August 2012
201248 H24H

27 August 2018
(note 2)

201848 A27H
GEY)

Responsible for the overall operational management of the Group
HMITHE
PHEEASEKLEERIE

A member of the remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”)

Primarily responsible for overall strategic planning and overseeing the
general corporate, financial and compliance affairs of the Group

ARAFHEES ((FMERS|)KE

ITREERRERRIANEEAEE REX  MBRAREE

Primarily responsible for strategic planning and overseeing the general
corporate, financial and compliance affairs of the Group
IZEERBRIREBLAEE—REE  UBERERFE

Chairman of the risk management and corporate governance committee
of the Company (the “Risk Management and Corporate
Governance Committee”)

Primarily responsible for strategic planning and overseeing the general
corporate, financial and compliance affairs of the Group

ARFEBREERCEXERZES ((AREEREXEREZERS )L

IZAERBAAREEREE-—ROE  UBRERER

Primarily responsible for strategic planning and overseeing the general
corporate, financial and compliance affairs of the Group
IZREXRBRANEELAEE —REE  UBKAREE
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Date of Other Position/title, job responsibilities and
Name Age appointment(s) relationship with other Directors
e FHe EZEAH Hipmi /B BEREHGESNEE

Independent Non-executive Directors B EHTEE
Zhu Yuchen 63 9 June 2023 Chairman of the audit committee of the Company (the "Audit
K*ER 2023F6 A9H Committee”) and a member of the Remuneration Committee, Risk
management and Corporate Governance Committee and independent
board committee of the Company (the “Independent Board
Committee”)
Primarily responsible for supervising and providing independent
judgment to the Board
ARAERZES ((ERERE ) IRLAFHEES  AREBRLXE
REEBRARRBUEEZE ([(BYEEERE)KE
ITEEREEEEe NRHERMB M

Wang Jun 67 19 December 2019 Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and Independent Board
I 201912 419H Committee and a member of the audit committee and Nomination
Committee

Primarily responsible for supervising and providing independent
judgment to the Board
FHEE G BUEERER IR AERZEGRRZEGKE
I%’é BEREARRESE NAERMB G

Shen Han 48 31 October 2023 A member of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee, risk
VLR 20234 10A31H management and corporate governance committee and Independent
Board Committee
Primarily responsible for supervising and providing independent
judgment to the Board
ENEEY REZEY AREERC¥ELZEGREBIEEZZEENE

TEAREEES O RAHRIB T HE
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Date of Other Position/title, job responsibilities and
Name Age appointment(s) relationship with other Directors
e FHe EZERE HAm Bl BEREHGESNEER
Chen Guohui 68 25 January 2017 Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration
FR B 8 (note 3) Committee, Risk Management and Corporate Governance Committee
201741 H25H and Independent Board Committee
=) Primarily responsible for supervising and providing independent
judgment to the Board
ERZEQIRAFMEES AREERGEELZESR
BUEEZEGKE
TERREEES e RAHERMB A
Zhang Meng 60 25 January 2017 A member of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee, Risk
RE (note 3) Management and Corporate Governance Committee and Independent
20171 H25H Board Committee
=) Primarily responsible for supervising and providing independent
judgment to the Board
ERZEg REZES AREELRGEELRZESR
BUEELZEGKE
TERREEES e RAHRMB A
Notes: FfEE

1. Zhang Jianbin resigned as an executive Director and executive 1. SREEM2023F11 A17ABIRITES
president on 17 November 2023.

FMITHEE, -

2. LiHao resigned as a non-executive Director on 3 July 2023. 2. ZEM2023F7 A3HEBIAEFNITESE -

3. Chen Guohui and Zhang Meng retired as the independent non- 3. MREERREZMN2023F6 A9RBRMERET
executive Directors on 9 June 2023.

FHITES -
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Qu Naijie, aged 63, the founder and chief executive officer of
the Company who has over 30 years of experience in corporation
management and operations. He commenced oil trading and
marine transportation businesses in 1992, and set up Dalian
Haichang (Group) Co., Ltd. in 1998. In 1999, the Group tapped
into the theme park industry in China under the leadership of Mr.
Qu. In 2002, Mr. Qu led the construction and operation of Polar
Aquarium in Dalian Laohutan Ocean Park, the first polar aquarium
in China. The project was rated as a national 5A tourist attraction
by China National Tourism Administration (CNTA) in June 2007.
Since 2002, Mr. Qu has further led the construction and operation
of 11 different kinds of cultural tourism projects in various
major cities nationwide, which has promoted the development
of theme park industry in China. In May 2015, Mr. Qu received
“China’s Outstanding Contribution Award for Tourism Industry —
Feima Award (FEIRFEE G L EREGREHE))", an award first
set up and granted by CNTA. He was appointed as a member
of the Board of the Company in November 2011, has acted as
the chairman of the Board and a non-executive Director of the
Company since February 2014 and has acted as the chairman of
the Board, an executive Director and the chief executive officer of
the Company since January 2022.

Mr. Qu was appointed as a director of Haichang Holdings (Asia)
Ltd. (“Haichang Asia BVI”) and Haichang Holdings (Hong Kong)
Limited (“Haichang Holdings HK”) in 2011 and became the
chairman of the board of directors of such two companies in
September 2013.

HITES

BTIAR  635%  RAAFIMEIR AT
HEE  BE-THTFNLXTEME
BB o N 19N FRBEERMES
MAMES R - WHR1998FAIL T
NEFEEBHFRAF © 19994 - ik
HFEBAEEEEFHFTELETE
2002 FEFREL T HE B BIERHEF
fF — REZRESFAREME - %8
HmM2007 46 AW BRI BT E & EH
ROARIRIERE - AR 2002 F B
—HEBARNEE RS EE BT E
REET T EATRBENHXIKIER -
HETHREZBEARITEMER 2015
F57 M AERERRIKERENERL
WHRENPEKEEZEHERE (R
%) | o B R2011FE11 AEEE AN
NAIESFEKE - N2014F2 ARRET
RAAREEFEERBTINTES IR
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TEZFRITHREE -
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Qu Cheng, aged 36, was appointed to the Board and designated
as an executive Director on 25 May 2016. Mr. Qu Cheng is the
son of Mr. Qu Naijie, an executive Director and the chairman of
the Board. Mr. Qu Cheng is the controlling shareholder of the
Company. Mr. Qu obtained a bachelor’s degree in geography
from King’'s College, the University of London in July 2010, and
he is proficient in Chinese, English, French and Latin. While in
college, Mr. Qu had internships at a number of internationally
renowned financial institutions. From December 2012 to October
2013, he served at the headquarters of the Global Commercial
and Alternative Investment of Orix Group, mainly responsible
for fund management, fund investment, strategic and financial
investment, project financing and financial consultancy, etc.
From November 2013, he started to familiarise himself with the
business segments of the Company and its subsidiaries, and
mainly participated in discussions about corporate development
strategy and project investment.

Li Kehui, aged 50, has been appointed as an executive Director
and the Senior Vice President (Person-In-Charge) of the Company
since 17 November 2023. Mr. Li has over 28 years of extensive
experience in business operation and management in the field of
cultural tourism, as well as governance, investment and financing
of listed companies. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Li served
successively as representative of securities affairs and secretary
of the board of Shenzhen Overseas Chinese Town Co., Ltd. (%
NEBHIDBIRAF]) (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange, stock code: 000069) and the general manager of Happy
Valley Group, a subsidiary of Overseas Chinese Town Group. Mr.
Li received a bachelor’s degree in international investment at the
Department of Investment of Zhongnan University of Economics
and Law (FEEFEBIEKXE) (formerly known as Zhongnan
University of Finance and Economics (/9 Bf 48K E2)) in 1996.
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EERSHNEEE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Zhang Jianbin, aged 50, was appointed as the executive
president of the Company on 3 November 2021 and was
appointed to the Board and designated as an executive Director
in January 2022. He resigned as an executive Director and the
executive president on 17 November 2023. Before his resignation,
Mr. Zhang was responsible for the operational management of
the Group. Mr. Zhang joined the Group in 2015 and served as the
vice president of Dalian Haichang (Group) Co., Ltd. Mr. Zhang has
over 20 years of management experience in corporate strategic
management, operation management, investment management,
marketing management and human resource management.
Before joining the Group, Mr. Zhang held numerous management
positions in the field of product marketing and sales management
in Lenovo Group Limited (stock code: 0992), and subsequently
served as the director of post-investment management of Beijing
Hongyi Yuanfang Investment Consulting Co., Ltd. (dtFR5ARKE
HIEBBARZATR]). Mr. Zhang obtained a bachelor’s degree
in applied chemistry from the Department of Technical Physics,
Peking University in 1997. He is currently studying in the China
Europe International Business School for an Executive Master of
Business Administration (EMBA).
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Wang Xuguang, aged 55, was designated as a non-executive
Director of the Company in January 2022. Mr. Wang worked
at the Dalian Branch of China Construction Bank for more than
16 years until he became the deputy branch manager, during
which he developed his extensive knowledge and experience in
real estate financing. Mr. Wang then joined Haichang Group in
February 2007 as a director and the president. He was further
appointed as a director and the general manager of Haichang
Corporation Development in February 2010. From October 2010
to February 2012, he also served as the president of Dalian
Haichang Real Estate Group Co., Ltd. Mr. Wang was appointed as
a director of Haichang China in October 2011 and was promoted
as the chairman of the board of directors in July 2012 and the
chief executive officer in April 2013. In July 2012, Mr. Wang was
also appointed as a director of Haichang Asia BVI and Haichang
Holdings HK. Mr. Wang is the vice chairman of Dalian Federation
of Industry & Commerce (K& T EE).

Mr. Wang obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics and
investment management at Dongbei University of Finance
and Economics (BRALBIAZKEL) in Dalian in July 1990. He was
subsequently awarded a master’s degree in international laws by
Dalian Maritime University (3883 K2 in April 2002.
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Wu Tongtong, aged 44, has been appointed as a non-executive
Director of the Company since 3 July 2023. He is primarily
responsible for strategic planning and overseeing the general
corporate, financial and compliance affairs of the Group. Mr.
Wu graduated from the Graduate School of Finance, Accounting
and Law of Waseda University in Japan with a master's degree
in business administration (finance). Mr. Wu has more than
ten years of management experience in investment, real estate
development, and IP licensing of films and television shows. Mr.
Wu joined ORIX Corporation in January 2010 and is currently a
director of ORIX Corporation. ORIX Corporation is a company
engaged in provision of diversified financial services whose shares
are listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange (stock code: 8591) and
the New York Stock Exchange (stock code: IX). At the same time,
Mr. Wu served as the executive deputy general manager of ORIX
(China) Investment Co., Ltd. and the president of ORIX (China)
Industrial Holdings Co., Ltd. Mr. Wu is also a director of Beijing
Dongfang Zhongke Integrated Technology Co., Ltd. (stock code:
002819.52).
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Yuan Bing, aged 55, was appointed to the Board on 24 August
2012 and designated as a non-executive Director on 23 February
2014. He is primarily responsible for strategic planning and
overseeing of the general corporate, financial and compliance
affairs of the Group. Mr. Yuan graduated with a bachelor’s
degree in English from Nanjing University (R A22) in July 1990.
In June 1993 and June 1998, Mr. Yuan obtained a master’s
degree in international relations and a doctorate degree in law
from Yale University in the United States, respectively.

Mr. Yuan has extensive experience in equity investment and
investment banking. Mr. Yuan is currently a co-founder and
managing partner of Rockets Capital. Prior to co-founding
Rockets Capital, Mr. Yuan served as the chief operating officer
and a partner of Hony Capital, where he was responsible for the
management of all of Hony Capital’s equity operations, including
Hony private equity investment, Hony Goldstream hedge fund,
Hony Horizon mutual fund, and Hony venture capital fund, with a
total AUM of over US$10 billion. Mr. Yuan Bing has over 25 years
of experience in investment banking and private equity investment
industries. He served over 12 years in the investing banking
market in both New York and Hong Kong, and assisted numerous
prominent Chinese companies completed their IPO, corporate
finance and M&A projects.

Mr. Yuan served as a former executive director of Goldstream
Investment Limited (stock code: 1328) from December 2018 to
March 2022, the foregoing company’s shares are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Currently, Mr. Yuan also
serves as a director of Haichang Asia BVI, Haichang Holdings HK
and Haichang China.
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Li Hao, aged 42, was appointed as a non-executive Director
on 27 August 2018. He resigned as a non-executive Director
on 3 July 2023. Before his resignation, Mr. Li was primarily
responsible for strategic planning and overseeing the general
corporate, financial and compliance affairs of the Group. Mr.
Li graduated from the Graduate School of Finance, Accounting
and Law at Waseda University in Japan with a master's degree
in business administration for finance. Mr. Li has over ten years
of managing experience in the fields of investment banking and
finance. Mr. Li has been with ORIX Corporation since October
2007. He is currently an executive director responsible for
Greater China Group at ORIX Corporation, a diversified financial
services company and whose shares are listed on the Tokyo Stock
Exchange (securities code: 8591) and on the New York Stock
Exchange (trading symbol: IX). He serves as a director and the
president of ORIX (China) Investment Company Limited and ORIX
Asia Capital Limited, respectively, both of which are wholly-owned
subsidiaries of ORIX Group. According to the latest disclosure
of interest form filed on 28 January 2016 by ORIX Corporation,
ORIX Corporation is a substantial Shareholder of the Group. Mr.
Li is also a non-executive director of Beijing Energy International
Holding Co., Ltd. (formerly known as Panda Green Energy Group
Limited) (stock code: 686) and Shoucheng Holdings Limited
(formerly known as Shougang Concord International Enterprises
Company Limited) (stock code: 697), both companies’ shares are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhu Yuchen, aged 63, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company since 9 June
2023. He is mainly responsible for supervising and providing
independent judgment to the Board. Mr. Zhu obtained a degree
in Economics from Dongbei University of Finance and Economics
in 1983 and Ph.D. in Economics from Wuhan University in 1998.
He used to study and work in Chicago Mercantile Exchange and
Chicago Board of Trade. Mr. Zhu had served as deputy general
of the Policy and Regulation Department of the Ministry of
Commerce of the PRC* (HEE AR IFLAMEIR 2K E RIRIE
£), chief executive director of Shanghai CIFCO Futures Brokerage
Co. Ltd, general manager of Dalian Commodity Exchange, general
manager of China Financial Futures Exchange and president of
Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co Ltd (“SPDB”), whose
shares are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
600000). Mr. Zhu was a member of the tenth and eleventh
sessions of the National People’s Congress (NPC) and the twelfth
session of the National Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference. He is a founder of the Asia
Pacific Exchange and its chief executive officer. Since April 2020,
Mr. Zhu has served as an independent non-executive director of
Greentown China Holdings Limited (“Greentown China”), whose
shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 03900). Mr.
Zhu has more than 30 years of work experience in the futures
and banking industries, and is familiar with corporate financial
accounting systems. During the time when he served as the
president of SPDB, he was responsible for overseeing the affairs
of the core business lines, including finance and financial markets,
and was the ultimate responsible person for SPDB’s financial
statements as presented to the public. In addition, Mr. Zhu has
been serving as a member of the audit committee of Greentown
China, and hence has a deep understanding of the financial
accounting system of a Hong Kong-listed company.

Wang Jun, aged 67, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 19 December 2019. Mr. Wang is primarily
responsible for supervising and providing independent judgement
to the Board. Mr. Wang obtained a master’'s degree of economics
in investment economics from Dongbei University of Finance and
Economics in July 1996. He was qualified as a senior economist of
the Dalian Branch of China Construction Bank in December 1992.
Mr. Wang served as the chairman of CCB Life Insurance Company
Limited from July 2011 to May 2013. Prior to joining CCB Life
Insurance Company Limited, Mr. Wang successively served as the
president of the Dalian Branch, Shandong Branch, Liaoning Branch
and Beijing Branch of China Construction Bank.
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Ms. Shen Han, aged 47, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company since 31 October
2023. She is mainly responsible for supervising and providing
independent judgment to the Board. Ms. Shen is a professor and
doctoral supervisor at Fudan University, China. Her academic
research focuses on local branding, digital innovation of cultural
heritage and destination marketing and management. She
received a bachelor’s degree in economics at Fudan University,
China; a master's degree in management at the University of
Nottingham, United Kingdom; and a doctorate in business
administration at the Chinese Academy of Social Sciences, China.
She currently serves as principal at various organizations, such as
executive deputy secretary-general of the International Tourism
Studies Association, “Flying Scholar” of Gansu Province, China
and member of the Tourism Geography Professional Committee
of the Geographical Society of China. Ms. Shen has published
over 100 papers in Chinese and English. She has also released
10 translated and compiled monographs, and won multiple
international awards. Ms. Shen has presided over 20 national
and provincial-level projects. She also served as editor-in-chief,
guest editor-in-chief, and editorial board member of 8 academic
journals. In addition, Ms. Shen also served as committee expert of
multiple municipal and provincial think tanks in China.
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Chen Guohui, aged 68, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 25 January 2017. He retired as an
independent non-executive Director on 9 June 2023. Before his
retirement, Mr. Chen was mainly responsible for supervising and
providing independent judgment to the Board. He is a professor
and a doctoral supervisor of the School of Accounting of Dongbei
University of Finance and Economics of China. He is entitled to
the special government allowances of the State Council of China.
Prof. Chen has been working in Dongbei University of Finance
and Economics for more than 30 years since he started his
career in 1982. He was the deputy director of the Department of
Accounting of Dongbei University of Finance and Economics from
1988 to 1995, and the director of the Dean’s Office of the same
school from 1995 to 2001. From 2001 to 2013, he successively
served as the secretary and the dean of Kingbridge Business
College of Dongbei University of Finance & Economics. From
2013 to December 2019, he was the principal of Dalian University
of Finance and Economics. Prof. Chen has long been principally
engaged in the teaching and administration of accounting and
made a series of achievements in teaching and scientific research.
He has published more than 100 academic essays on journals
such as Accounting Research, Research on Financial and Economic
Issues, and Finance & Accounting and has published 4 master
works. He also published certain textbooks, led and completed
certain research programs at the provincial level, and participated
in and completed three major programs including National
Natural Science Foundation of China and National Social Science
Foundation of China as a main participant. In recent years, he
won certain provincial prizes and was awarded as the outstanding
educator for several times. In 2003, Basic Accountancy, a course
launched by Prof. Chen, was recognised as the first batch of
national essential courses by the Ministry of Education of China,
and became a model for a number of universities and colleges in
China.
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Zhang Meng, aged 59, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 25 January 2017. She retired as an
independent non-executive Director on 9 June 2023. Before her
retirement, Prof. Zhang was mainly responsible for supervising
and providing independent judgment to the Board. Prof. Zhang
is a doctor, a professor and a doctoral supervisor of economics,
and the dean of the Research Institute of Tourism Management of
the Southwestern University of Finance and Economics of China.
She currently acts as a member of the Consultative Committee
for the Tourism Management Profession under the Ministry
of Education of China, an academic and technology leader of
Sichuan Province of China. Prof. Zhang obtained a bachelor of
science degree from the Physics Faculty of Southwest China
Normal University in 1986 and obtained a master’s degree and a
doctor’s degree in economics from the School of Economics (the
Faculty of Economics) of the Southwestern University of Finance
and Economics of China in 1997 and 2005 respectively. From
1998 to present, she has been principally engaged in the teaching
and research of tourism management and has produced a series
of influential research results in fields such as the competitiveness
of the regional tourism industry, the behaviours of tourism
consumers and the intercultural comparison of tourism, thereby
winning wide recognition in the domestic academic industry.
Currently, she has completed certain scientific researches such as
a (general) programme of National Natural Science Foundation of
China, a project of the Humanities and Social Sciences Planning
Fund under the Ministry of Education of China, a project of the
Soft Science Fund of the Department of Science of Sichuan of
China and a project of the Fund of Philosophy and Social Sciences
of Sichuan of China. Prof. Zhang is devoted to the construction
of platform for high-level decision-making consultation of tourism
management, including being responsible for the construction
of tourism research bases such as universities and colleges in
Sichuan of China and Sichuan Provincial Department of Culture
and Tourism and their respective teams. She has issued certain
research reports for governmental departments and enterprises
such as the tourism bureaus in the cities in Sichuan of China and
has been actively providing policy recommendations and decision-
making consultations for local governments and enterprises.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT SREEE
The senior management is responsible for the day-to-day SAEEEBEATNEKHNAEEERE -

o
=
management of the business. The following table sets out certain TRENERSREEENE TER

information concerning the senior management:

Name Age Position/Title

HE Fie B BT

Li Xin 51 Chief Financial Officer

0T BEMKE

Wang Liming 56 Senior Vice President

FRE = BB

Fang Hongfeng 46 Vice President

7t ig EIEEESY

Li Changxia 43 Vice President and President of Haichang Cultural Tourism Institute
E8 Bl s & Rk &

Liu Fei 48 Vice President

2R Bl

48 HAICHANG OCEAN PARK HOLDINGS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2023



EERSHNEEE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Li Xin, aged 51, has served as the financial controller since
April 2013, and was appointed as the chief financial officer
in November 2015. He is primarily responsible for financial
management. Mr. Li obtained a bachelor's degree in industrial
economics from Dongbei University of Finance and Economics (5
B 4E R E) in Dalian in July 1995. He also obtained a master’s
degree in law from Jilin University (F#AKZ) in Jilin in July 2003.

Mr. Li has over 20 years of experience in finance and taxation.
Mr. Li served as an officer in the first investigation bureau of
Dalian Municipal local Taxation Bureau between August 1995
and August 2002, where he was responsible for investigation
and examination works. In June 2002, Mr. Li became the general
manager of the planning and finance department of Haichang
Group Co. His responsibilities included financial management
system development, budget formation, asset management,
investment and financial reporting and management. In March
2010, Mr. Li was appointed as the general manager of the
planning and finance department of Haichang Corporation
Development, where he also started to serve as the chief financial
officer in December 2010. In April 2013, he was appointed as the
chief financial officer and the general manager of the planning
and finance department of Haichang China.

Mr. Wang Limin, aged 56, has been appointed as the Company’s
senior vice president since 24 May 2023, responsible for the
Group's affairs on investment management, capital operation and
investor relations. Mr. Wang has over 20 years of management
experience in different sectors including private equity and
investment management. Before joining the Group, Mr. Wang
successively served as senior vice president of Prologis China,
general manager of Hongxin Capital Co., Ltd. (IZEABRR
@]), a subsidiary of Zhongzhi Enterprise Group (FRIEZEE), vice
president of Dongbai Group ((REEME) and vice president of
Full Truck Alliance (HE£E]). Mr. Wang graduated from Harbin
Engineering University in 1990 and received his MBA degree from
Schulich School of Business, York University in Canada in 2003.

Mr. Fang Hongfeng, aged 46, has been appointed as the
Company’s vice president since 5 November 2021. He is in charge
of the cultural tourism management company and the digital
development department and responsible for the communication
with the government for project expansion and existing projects.
Previously, Mr. Fang joined Trip.com Group Limited (NASDAQ
stock symbol: TCOM) in 2005, and served as the sales director,
general manager of branch office and general manager of
business department. Mr. Fang enrolled in Peking University in
1996 with a major in computer software.
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Li Changxia, aged 43, has been appointed as the vice president
with effect from August 2022, and concurrently serves as the
president of Haichang Cultural Tourism Institute. She is mainly
responsible for the reconstruction and upgrading of existing
projects, research and development and design for new projects
and IP innovative products, engineering construction, and facilities
operation and maintenance management of the Company. She
is also in charge of the management of the cost procurement
department of the Group.

Ms. Li received a bachelor’'s degree in economic geography from
the Urban and Regional Economics Department of East China
Normal University in 2003, and subsequently obtained a master’s
degree in human geography from the Urban and Regional
Planning Department of Peking University in 2006. She is a special
expert of the Institute for Theme Park Studies in China. She
won the ASLA International Award in 2015, the AECOM Annual
Design Award in 2009, the Youth Award of the Global Academic
Conference of Chinese Geographers and 2023 ITIA China Tourism
Investment Ten Outstanding Young Persons Award. She has
published 13 professional papers on the core journals in China,
and jointly published the 2019 and 2024 editions of an essay
book titled “Forefront of Theme Park Innovation”.

Ms. Li joined the Company in February 2016 as the director of
the Institute of Cultural Tourism Studies and has been appointed
as the senior director of the product centre with effect from
November 2016. She has also served as a joint general manager
of Haichang Cultural Tourism Business Unit since 2019. Ms. Li has
over 10 years of work experience in one of the world's top-class
planning and design consultancy companies, in which she has
participated in and led dozens of urban planning and tourism
development planning consultancy projects. She is proficient at
market analysis and evaluation on economic feasibility, function
and operating status positioning, product design, profitability
of integrated tourist resort and theme park development
projects of different scales, and has accumulated abundant team
management experience.
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Liu Fei, aged 48, has been appointed as the vice president since
December 2022 and is fully in charge of the human resources
administration, operation standards for theme parks, cultural
performances, safety supervision and service quality management
of the Group. Ms. Liu Fei joined Haichang Group in 2006 and
served as the office director of Haichang Group and has been
the general manager of Dalian Haichang Discoveryland Theme
Park Co. Ltd. since 2016. She is also the vice president of the
digital culture and entertainment segment of China Culture and
Entertainment Industry Association (FREIS/LIRZ47TE R E), a
member of the Special Committee of China National Tourism
Vocational Education Permanent Committee (& Bk 82 5
B3RS R 8E) and an expert in the Cultural Tourism Integration
Expert Database of Liaoning Province ((EE A N IR@A HKE). Ms.
Liu Fei received her bachelor’'s degree in journalism from Dalian
Polytechnic University in 1999 and enrolled in the Tsinghua MBA
program (EZE = A& T E RE T HHE) in May 2006.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. So Lai Shan was appointed as the Company Secretary and
the authorised representative of the Company with effect from 2
November 2022.

Ms. So is currently a manager of corporate services of Vistra
Corporate Services (HK) Limited. Ms. So has over ten years of
experience in the corporate services industry. She is an associate
member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and
The Chartered Governance Institute in United Kingdom.
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The Directors are pleased to present their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in development and operation of
theme parks in the PRC.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023
are set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements in
this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A business review of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 and a discussion on the Group's future business
development are provided in the Chairman’s Statement on pages
6 to 9 and the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages
10 to 32 of this annual report. The financial risk management
objectives and policies of the Group are set out in note 40 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

An analysis of the Group’s financial performance during the
reporting period using financial key performance indicators is
provided in the Five Years’ Financial Summary on page 5 of this
annual report. A discussion on the Company’s compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations is set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 74 to 109 of this annual report.

The discussions referred to above form part of this Directors’
Report.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page
120 of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend payment of any dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).
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FIVE YEARS' FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out in the section
headed “Five Years' Financial Summary” in this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the percentage of
purchases attributable to the five largest operational suppliers
combined and the percentage of revenue from sales of goods or
rendering of services attributable to the five largest customers
combined are both less than 30%.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out
in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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RESERVES

Details of movement in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity of this annual
report and in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements in
this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December
2023, calculated under the Companies law, amounted to
RMB2,929,804,000 representing share premium and capital
reserves of RMB3,064,506,000, setting off by accumulated losses
of RMB134,702,000.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as
at 31 December 2023 are set out in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report.

DONATION

Details of the charitable and other donations made by the Group
are set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

PURCHASES, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2023.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors in office during the financial year and up to the
date of this annual report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Qu Naijie (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
Qu Cheng

Li Kehui' (Senior Vice President (Person-In-Charge))

Zhang Jianbin? (Executive President)

Non-executive Directors
Wang Xuguang

Yuan Bing

Wu Tongtong?

Li Hao*

Independent non-executive Directors
Zhu Yuchen®

Wang Jun

Shen Han®

Chen Guohui’

Zhang Meng’

! appointed on 17 November 2023
2 resigned on 17 November 2023
3 appointed on 3 July 2023

4 resigned on 3 July 2023

° appointed on 9 June 2023

6 appointed on 31 October 2023

7 retired on 9 June 2023

In accordance with article 16.18 of the Articles of Association,
one-third of the Directors for the time being (or if their number is
not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than
one-third) will retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company and shall be eligible to
offer themselves for re-election. Mr. Qu Naijie, Mr. Li Kehui, Mr.
Wu Tongtong, Mr. Wang Jun and Ms. Shen Han will retire at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held
on 28 June 2024.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of
the Group are set out on pages 33 to 51 of this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received the annual confirmation of each of the
independent non-executive Directors of his or her independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). The
Company considers all of the independent non-executive Directors
to be independent in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.

SERVICE CONTRACTS OF DIRECTORS

None of the Directors has any unexpired service contracts which
is not determinable by the Company or its subsidiaries within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The remuneration of the Directors was determined with reference
to his/her experience, qualifications, duties and responsibilities
in the Company, Details of the emoluments of the Directors
and the five highest paid individuals are set out in note 9 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Company, or its subsidiaries, fellow
subsidiaries or its parent companies were a party and in which
a Director or his/her connected entities had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, Mr. Qu Cheng and Zegiao
Holdings Limited (formerly known as Haichang Group Limited)
(collectively, the “Controlling Shareholders”) or any of its
subsidiaries do not have any contract of significance (i) between
the Company, or one of its subsidiary companies; or (ii) for the
provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December
2023.

DIRECTORS'
BUSINESS

Save as described in the Prospectus and this annual report, during

INTERESTS IN COMPETING

the year ended 31 December 2023, none of the Directors or
their respective associates had engaged in or had any interest
in any business which competes or is likely to compete with the
businesses of the Group and which is required to be disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provide that every Director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him or
her as a Director in defending any proceedings, whether civil or
criminal, in which judgment is given in his or her favour, or in
which he or she is acquitted, and against any loss in respect of his
or her personal liability for the payment of any sum primarily due
from the Company.

The Company has arranged liability insurance for the Directors
and senior management of the Company to protect them from
any possible litigations.
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DIRECTORS RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the
year ended 31 December 2023 was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement that would enable the
Directors or chief executives or any of their spouse or children
under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of Shares or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the
Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations, within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO, which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests and short positions which they are
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or
(b) were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
recorded in the register referred to therein; or (c) were required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of listed
Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules (the “Model

Code"), were as follows:
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Approximate
Percentage of
Total Issued Shares

(Note 2)
HERITRAG
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of Interest Number of Shares BB
EENA B, EmHlg R EE Btk (FigE2)
Mr. Qu Cheng (Note 1) Founder of a discretionary trust 3,837,231,048 (L) 47.29%

S A (FIsET) 2REFEAIIAA
Beneficial owner 24,332,592 (L) 0.30%

EmlEAA

Mr. Wang Xuguang Beneficial owner 20,780,000 (L) 0.25%

FrEYEE BEEERA

(L)  denotes a long position in the Shares
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Notes:

1. According to the latest disclosure of interest form of Mr. Qu Cheng
filed on 16 December 2022:

Zeqgiao Holdings Limited holds 3,837,231,048 Shares. Zegiao
Holdings Limited is wholly owned by Zeqiao International (BVI)
Limited, which is in turn wholly owned by Cantrust (Far East)
Limited, the trustee of Generation Qu Trust, which is a discretionary
trust set up by Mr. Qu Cheng as settlor for the benefit of himself
and his family. Therefore, as at 31 December 2023, Mr. Qu Cheng
is deemed to be interested in 3,837,231,048 Shares held by Zegiao
Holdings Limited, representing approximately 47.29% of the total
issued share capital of the Company.

2. This percentage has been computed based on 8,114,002,000 Shares
in issue as at 31 December 2023.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of
the Company or its associated corporations, within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO, which (a) were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO), or (b) were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to therein, or (c) were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company conditionally adopted a share option scheme by
the written resolutions of the shareholders of the Company on
23 February 2014 (the "Share Option Scheme”). Pursuant
to the Share Option Scheme, the Directors may, at its absolute
discretion, invite any eligible person, including any (a) employee;
(b) non-executive directors (including independent non-executive
directors); (c) supplier of goods or services; (d) customer; (e)
person or entity that provides research, development or other
technological support; (f) shareholder; (g) advisor or consultant;
(h) other group or classes of participants who have contributed
or may contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or
other business arrangement to the development and growth, to
take up options to subscribe for Shares subject to the terms and
conditions of the Share Option Scheme. The purpose of the Share
Option Scheme is to grant options to selected participants as
incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Company.

The total number of the Shares which may be allotted and issued
upon the exercise of all options (excluding, for this purpose,
options which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Company) to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option scheme of the Company must not in aggregate
exceed 2% of the Shares in issue on the date of the Listing,
being 80,000,000 Shares (the “General Scheme Limit”). On
8 November 2022, the Company conducted a share subdivision
to subdivide every one (1) existing issued and unissued Shares of
US$0.0001 each in the share capital of the Company into two
(2) Subdivided Shares of US$0.00005 each in the share capital
of the Company. Upon completion of the share subdivision, the
total number of Shares which may be allotted and issued upon
the exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme shall not in aggregate exceed 160,000,000 Shares.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, details of the  REZE2023F 128318 ILFE - BA#E

movements in the share options under the Share Option Scheme ST2IIE NEBRENEE BN

are as follows:

Outstanding Outstanding
as at as at
1 January 31 December Exercise
2023 Granted Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed 2023 price

Category and #2023 during during during during 12023 per Share Exercise

names of grantees 1818 the year the year the year the year 12A318 SRKHG  Date of grant  period

ARAERIRSE HRTE ERRL ERfTE EREH ERXN HRTE B RHEH byid

Directors

EZ

Zhang Jianbin - 3,980,000 - - - - HK$1.67 11 April 2023 10 years

=40 1678 203F 10F
4A1H

Wang Xuguang - 3,980,000 - - - - HK$1.67 11 April 2023 10 years

Ik 16781 203F 10%
4A1H

Chief financial officer

S

Li Xin - 3,600,000 - - - - HK$1.67 11 April 2023 10 years

/) 1678 203F 0%
4A1A

Other employees

AftER

Employees of the Group - 148,440,000 - - - - HK$1.67 11 April 2023 10 years

AEEEE 1678 203F 10%
4A11H

Total - - -

3t
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Note:

In relation to the share options granted on 11 April 2023:

()

(i)

(iii)

the closing price of the Shares on the trading day immediately
preceding the date of grant (i.e. 6 April 2023) is HK$1.63;

the number of options granted to the grantees is based on the
positions, job tenures and performance appraisal results of the
grantees. The Group has in place a standardised performance
appraisal system for its employees to comprehensively evaluate their
performance and contribution to the Group. Such performance
appraisal takes into account a number of qualitative and quantitative
indicators including productivity, quality, efficiency and/or trainings.
Based on their appraisal results, the grantees receive different levels
of ratings which affect the number of options granted to each
individual grantee;

the share options shall vest to the grantees in the following manner:
(a) 30% of the options shall be vested on the first anniversary of the
date of grant; (b) 30% of the options shall be vested on the second
anniversary of the date of grant; and (c) 40% of the options shall
be vested on the third anniversary of the date of grant; and

the share options were not accepted by the grantees and were
deemed to have been irrevocably declined pursuant to the rules of
the Share Option Scheme. As such, there was no outstanding share
option as at 31 December 2023, and the Group did not reflect the
fair value of the options in its consolidated financial statements for
the twelve months ended 31 December 2023.
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The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be issued
upon the exercise of the options granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company
(including both exercised or outstanding options) to each grantee
in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share
capital of the Company for the time being (the “Individual
Limit”). Any further grant of options in excess of the Individual
limit in any 12-month period up to and including the date of such
further grant must be separately approved by the shareholders
in general meeting of the Company with such grantee and his/
her close associates (or his/her associates if he/she is a connected
person) abstaining from voting.

The subscription price for the Shares Option Scheme shall be a
price determined by the Directors, but shall not be less than the
highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheet for trade in one or more board
lots of the Shares on the date of the offer for the grant, which
must be a business day; (ii) the average closing price of Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of the offer for the
grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of
10 years commencing on the date on which the Share Option
Scheme is adopted. As at the date of this annual report, the Share
Option Scheme has expired.

An option may be accepted by a participant within 21 days from
the date of the offer of grant of the option. An option may
be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme at any time during a period to be determined and notified
by the Directors to each grantee, which period may commence
from the date of the offer for the grant of options is made, but
shall end in any event not later than 10 years from the date of
grant of the option subject to the provisions for early termination
thereof. Unless otherwise determined by the Directors and stated
in the offer for the grant of options to a grantee, there is no
minimum period required under the Share Option Scheme for
the holding of an option before it can be exercised. A nominal
consideration of HK$1.00 is payable on acceptance of the grant
of an option.
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The number of options available for grant under the scheme
mandate at the beginning and the end of the year was
160,000,000.

The number of Shares that may be issued in respect of share
options granted under the Share Option Scheme during the
year was 160,000,000, representing 1.97% of the weighted
average number of Shares class in issue for the same period of
8,104,201,502.

As at the date of this annual report, the Share Option Scheme has
expired. Accordingly, no further option may be granted under the
Share Option Scheme.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted the share award scheme on 5 January
2022 (the “"Share Award Scheme”). The purposes of the Share
Award Scheme are (i) to recognise the contributions by the
Selected Participants; (ii) to offer suitable incentives to attract and
retain the talented Selected Participants who may be beneficial to
the growth and development of the Group; and (i) to align the
interests of the Selected Participants directly to the Shareholders
through the ownership of the Shares, dividends and other
distributions paid on the Shares and/or the increase in the value
of the Shares. Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated
5 January 2022 for further details. Unless otherwise defined,
capitalised terms used herein shall have the same meaning as
those defined in the announcement.

Any individual who is an employee, officer, director or consultant
of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries shall be entitled to
participate in the Share Award Scheme, except for any individual
who is resident in a place where the grant, acceptance or
vesting of an award pursuant to the Share Award Scheme is
not permitted under the laws and regulations of such place or
where, in the view of the Board, compliance with applicable laws
and regulations in such place makes it necessary or expedient to
exclude such individual. In determining the Selected Participants,
the Board shall take into consideration matters including, but
without limitation, the present and expected contribution of the
relevant Selected Participants to the Group.
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Subject to terms and conditions of the Scheme and the
requirements of the Listing Rules, the Board may, from time
to time at its absolute discretion, select any Eligible Person to
participate in the Scheme as a Selected Participant, make an
offer to the Selected Participants and grant the Award Shares
to such Selected Participants which are to be satisfied by (i) the
new Shares to be subscribed by the Trustee under the Company's
available general mandate on the relevant Grant Date or under a
specific mandate approved or to be approved by the Shareholders;
or (ii) the existing Shares received by the Trustee from any
Shareholder or purchased by the Trustee in the open market
(either on-market or off-market) as directed by the Board.

Any new Shares to be subscribed by the Trustee under the Scheme
will be issued under the available general mandate in effect on
the Grant Date. Only when the number of the new Shares to be
subscribed exceeds the available general mandate will the Board
seek a specific mandate to be approved by the Shareholders to
cover those new Shares that fall outside of the available general
mandate. As such, the new Shares to satisfy any Awards will
be issued under the available general mandate approved by the
Shareholders in effect at the time of the relevant Award, and/or a
specific mandate approved or to be approved by the Shareholders
for the relevant Award.

The Share Award Scheme does not specify a minimum vesting
period, or a period within which an award may be exercised
by the grantee. The Board may from time to time while the
Scheme is in force and subject to all applicable laws, determine
such vesting criteria and conditions or periods for the Awards
to be vested. All of such vesting criteria and conditions (if any)
and periods (including the Vesting Date) shall be set out in the
relevant Award Letter issued to each Selected Participant.
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The Company shall not make any further grant of award which
will result in the number of Shares granted under the Share
Award Scheme exceeding 10% of the total number of issued
Shares as at the adoption date, i.e. 400,000,000 Shares (the
“Scheme Limit"). Upon completion of the share subdivision
conducted by the Company on 8 November 2022, the total
number of Shares which may be granted under the Scheme Limit
shall not in aggregate exceed 800,000,000 Shares, representing
approximately 9.86% of the total issued Shares as at the date
of this report. Such maximum number is not a limit set for
yearly basis but the maximum number of the Shares that may be
awarded throughout the award period. The maximum number of
the Shares which may be awarded to a Selected Participant in the
12-month period up to each Grant Date shall not exceed one per
cent of the total number of issued Shares on the relevant Grant
Date.

The Share Award Scheme shall terminate on the earlier of: (i) the
expiry of the Award Period; and (ii) such date of early termination
as determined by the Board provided that such termination shall
not affect any subsisting rights of any Selected Participant under
the Scheme.

During the year 2023 and up to the date of this report, no award
share has been granted to any Selected Participants pursuant to
the Share Award Scheme. As at the date of this annual report, the
Trustee holds 9,910,000 Shares purchased on-market which are
available for grant under the Share Award Scheme, representing
approximately 0.12% of the total issued Shares.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no equity-linked agreement
was entered into by or subsisted in the Company, and there was
no provision to enter into any agreement which will or may result
in the Company issuing shares during or subsisted at the end of
the year ended 31 December 2023.
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PLACING OF NEW SHARES UNDER GENERAL
MANDATE

On 2 June 2022, the Company and China International Capital
Corporation Hong Kong Securities Limited (the “Placing
Manager”) entered into a placing agreement, pursuant to which,
the Placing Manager agreed to procure a placee, Capital Research
Global Investors (the “Placee”) to subscribe for an aggregate of
57,001,000 Shares at a placing price of HK$5.50 per Share. Based
on the closing price of HK$6.92 per Share as quoted on the Stock
Exchange as at the date of the placing agreement, the market
value of the placing Shares was HK$394,446,920. The placing has
completed on 10 June 2022, and an aggregate of 57,001,000
Shares were allotted and issued to the Placee.

The gross and net proceeds (after deduction of all related
costs, commission and expenses) raised from the placing are
approximately HK$313.51 million and HK$309.79 million,
respectively. The net placing price was approximately HK$5.43
per placing Share. As at 31 December 2023, details of intended
application of net proceeds are set out as follows:
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Actual usage

of the net
proceeds
Utilised net for the year
proceeds ended Utilised net
upto 31 December proceeds up to
Approximate  Planned use 31 December 2023 31 December
% of total net  of actual net 2022 HE202F 2023
proceeds proceeds HZ2022% 12B318 Lt BZ2023% Proceeds
HEHE BRAE 12A318 FEER  12A318E unused
BRAEN HEFEN BBRKE Gl BAKE KA

BrEt THRR REFE  AENEFE HEFE A
HKD'million  HKD'million ~ HKD'million  HKD'million  HKD'million
BEER EEEx HEER EEEx HEER

Development and construction of a planned 30 92.94 92.94 - 92.94 -
large-scale marine cultural theme park of
the Company in Zhengzhou

FERRAAARENRANAREE YL

Further expansion in the asset-light management 30 92.94 23.19 69.75 92.94 -
output business

E-SRREGEERRLEHR

Working capital of the Group 40 123.92 123.92 - 123.92 -

REENEEES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company had  REZE2023F 12 A31HILEE » AQF]
used the proceeds according to the intentions previously disclosed BRI AINHEA2022F6 A2BHA
in the announcement dated 2 June 2022. EHREBENREBRAMEHIE -
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS" INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, so far as was known to the Directors
or chief executive of the Company, the following persons (not
being a Director or chief executive of the Company) had interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO:
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Approximate
Percentage of

Total Issued
Shares (Note 3)
HERTR®E
Name Nature of Interest Number of Shares BEMBL
“28 ERME iy 4= B (HES)
Cantrust (Far East) Limited (Note 1) Trustee 3,837,231,048 (L) 47.29%
Cantrust (Far East) Limited (F&£1) ZEA
Zegiao Holdings Limited (formerly known as Beneficial owner 3,837,231,048 (L) 47.29%
Haichang Group Limited) (Note 1)
ERERBERAR (AIREESEARAF) (HF1) EaEAA
Zeqgiao International (BVI) Limited (Note 1) Interest in controlled 3,837,231,048 (L) 47.29%
corporations
Zeqiao International (BVI) Limited (PFf3E1) RN o
ORIX Corporation (Note 1) (Note 2) Interest in a controlled 1,186,768,000 (L) 14.63%
corporation
BTkt (k) (BsE2) ST
ORIX (China) Investment Interest in a controlled 786,768,000 (L) 9.70%
Company Limited (Note 2) corporation
BAOL (RE)KREBRRA (MF2) SRTNE L
Mountain Tai Apollo Investment Beneficial owner 786,768,000 (L) 9.70%
Limited (Note 2)
RIUKREREBRAR (K:F2) EnlAA
ORIX Asia Capital Limited (Note 2) Beneficial owner 400,000,000 (L) 4.93%
BOTTMNERBRAR (MFF2) E=EBA

(L)  denotes a long position in the Shares

L REEROEFE
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Notes:

1. Zeqiao Holdings Limited is wholly owned by Zegiao International
(BVI) Limited, which is in turn wholly owned by Cantrust (Far East)
Limited, the trustee of Generation Qu Trust, which is a discretionary
trust set up by Mr. Qu Cheng as settlor for the benefit of himself
and his family.

2. The number of Shares disclosed was based on the latest disclosure
of interest form filed on 10 November 2022 (the date of relevant
event be 10 November 2022) received from ORIX Corporation.
According to the filed notice:

(@) Mountain Tai Apollo Investment Limited holds 786,768,000
Shares. Mountain Tai Apollo Investment Limited is wholly —
owned by ORIX (China) Investment Company Limited, which
is in turn wholly-owned by ORIX Corporation.

(b)  ORIX Asia Capital Limited holds 400,000,000 Shares and is
wholly owned by ORIX Corporation.

Accordingly, ORIX Corporation is deemed to be interested in the
786,768,000 Shares held by Mountain Tai Apollo Investment Limited
and the 400,000,000 Shares held by ORIX Asia Capital Limited.

3. This percentage has been computed based on 8,114,002,000 Shares
in issue as at 31 December 2023.

Other than as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the
Directors had not been notified by any person (not being the
Directors or chief executive of the Company) who had interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded
in the register required to be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the
SFO.
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION FROM THE
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

On 27 February 2014, Mr. Qu Naijie and Zegiao Holdings Limited
(formerly known as Haichang Group Limited), entered into a deed
of non-competition (the “Original Deed of Non-competition”)
in favour of the Company in order to mitigate any potential
conflict of interest with the Group. Details of the Original
Deed of Non-competition were disclosed in the prospectus
(the "Prospectus”) of the Company dated 28 February 2014
under the section headed “Relationship with our Controlling
Shareholders”.

On 14 January 2020, upon becoming the controlling shareholders
of the Group, Mr. Qu Cheng, Zeqgiao Holdings Limited and Speedy
Journey Investment Limited (the “Controlling Shareholders”)
entered into a deed of non-competition (together with
the Original Deed of Non-competition, the “Deeds of
Non-competition”) in favour of the Company, pursuant to which
the Controlling Shareholders shall not, and shall procure his/its
close associates and/or the persons and companies controlled
by him/it, not to, among other things, carry on, participate in,
acquire or hold any right or interest or otherwise be interested,
involved or engaged in or connected with, directly or indirectly,
any business which is in any respect in competition with or similar
to or is likely to be in competition with, or provide support in
any form to persons or entities other than the Group to engage
in business that constitutes or may constitute direct or indirect
competition with, the business in which any member of the Group
is engaged or is otherwise involved in its principal business from
time to time.

An independent board committee of the Company (the
"Independent Board Committee”) consisting exclusively of
independent non-executive Directors was set up to monitor the
execution and the performance of obligations of the Deeds of
Non-competition by the Controlling Shareholders and Mr. Qu
Naijie. The Independent Board Committee has reviewed the
status of compliance, and none of the Controlling Shareholders
and Mr. Qu Naijie, nor any of its subsidiaries or associates were
found by the Group contravening the relevant non-competition
undertakings during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

A summary of the related party transactions entered into by the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2023 is contained in
note 37 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report. The Directors consider that those related party transactions
did not fall under the definition of “connected transactions”
or “continuing connected transactions” (as the case may be) in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules which are required to comply
with any of the reporting, announcement or independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company's securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands that would
oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available and within the
knowledge of the Directors, during the year ended 31 December
2023 and up to the date of this annual report, the Company had
maintained sufficient public float as required under the Listing
Rules.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

A summary of the major events in relation to the Company that
have occurred since the balance sheet date are set out in note 42
to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee
comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Zhu Yuchen, Mr. Wang Jun and Ms. Shen Han. Mr. Zhu Yuchen
was the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee has reviewed together with the Directors
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2023.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2023 have been audited by Ernst &
Young, the auditor of the Company.

During the preceding three years, there has been no change in
the Company's auditor.

On behalf of the Board
Mr. Qu Naijie
Executive Director, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

26 March 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance to safeguard the interests of Shareholders
and to enhance corporate value and accountability. The
Company has adopted the code provisions in Part 2 of Corporate
Governance Code (the "CG Code"”) contained in Appendix C1 to
the Listing Rules as its own code of corporate governance.

As at the date of this annual report, the Company is in deviation
from the following code provisions of the CG Code:

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

As required by code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate
and performed by different individuals. Mr. Qu Naijie acts as
the chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of
the Company. The Company considers that it is appropriate
to deviate from the code provision as taking the roles of both
chairman and chief executive by the same individual helps
enhance the efficiency of the formulation and implementation of
the Company’s strategies and allow the Group to grasp business
opportunities in an efficient and timely manner. The Company
is of the view that under the supervision of the Board and the
independent non-executive Directors, a balancing mechanism
exists so that the interests of the Shareholders are adequately and
fairly represented.

The chairman of the Board and chief executive officer of the
Company is responsible for overall strategic planning and
overseeing the general corporate, financial and compliance
affairs of the Group, and the strategic decision making and the
management of the Group.

The key corporate governance principles and practices of the
Company are outlined later in this annual report.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group,
oversees the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors business
and performance. The Board has delegated the authority and
responsibility for day-to-day management and operation of the
Group to the senior management of the Group.
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To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the
Board has established five Board committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee, the Risk Management and Corporate Governance
Committee and the Independent Board Committee (together, the
“Board Committees”). The Board has delegated to the Board
Committees responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of
reference.

Board composition

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprised
nine members, consisted of three executive Directors, three
non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors. Information of the Directors during the year and as at
the date of this annual report is set out in the following table.

REBARARAEENRE D  EFE
EXRVABEEZESE  IERZER
g -¥FHEZEe RRZET- RRE
BRERERZEGMNBUEFEZES
(i [EEZBE])  EFECRES
ZEERBRRSTEREREMIN 2B

= ©°

EEEEM

RAFHRBEY EFehNLEKEA
K BR-FZNTESE  —RIFNTE
EN=Z2BIUFRPITESE - TRHIF
AERAFHREMEEEHNER -

Name of Director

ExpS

Other Position/Title
HanRiy B4

Date of first
appointment
BREZEAH

Date of last
re-election as Director

ROIEERAESEANY

Executive Directors #11T &%

Qu Naijie

#7578

Qu Cheng
Hi2

Li Kehui

2 T i

Zhang Jianbin (resigned on
17 November 2023)

REN, (782023 4F
11 B17 BEHT)

Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer

T ERITIHARE

Authorised Representative

wERE

Senior Vice President
(Person-In-Charge)
SR BE (EFITE)

Executive President

HITHE

21 November 2011

2011511 B21H

25 May 2016
201645 H25H

17 November 2023

202311 A817H

5 January 2022

202241 H5H

10 June 2021

20216 A10H

10 June 2022
2022F6 A10H

Not applicable

i

10 June 2022

202256 H10H

2023 EHE BESTLABERERAT 75



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT {¥ &4 &

Name of Director Other Position/Title

Date of first
appointment

Date of last
re-election as Director

BEENS HanRE Y B4 HXEZEHEH RIEEEERAEEAH
Non-executive Directors #TEE

Wang Xuguang 19 July 2012 9 June 2023

FBH 201297 A19H 20236 A9H

Wu Tongtong
R

Yuan Bing

EE

Li Hao (resigned on
3 July 2023)
& (FA2023F7 A3HEHT)

Independent Non-executive Directors B EHITESE

Zhu Yuchen
KER

Wang Jun
¥

Shen Han
DDA

Chen Guohui (retired on
9 June 2023)
FREIHE (7A202346 A9HRMT)

Zhang Meng (retired on
9 June 2023)
2 (R2023F6 A9HRME)
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3 July 2023
2023%7H3H

24 August 2012
201258 H24H

24 August 2012

20128 A24H

9 June 2023
2023F6 A9H

19 December 2019
2019412 A19H

31 October 2023
20234 10A31H

25 January 2017

201741 A25H

25 January 2017

201741 A25H

Not applicable
iE A

9 June 2023
2023F6 A9H

30 June 2020

20206 A30H

9 June 2023
2023F6 A9H

10 June 2022
2022F6 A10H

Not applicable
NiE A

10 June 2021

20216 A10H

10 June 2021

202156 H10H
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The biographical information of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management” on pages
33 to 51 of this annual report. The relationships between the

members of the Board are also disclosed under that section.

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of
valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism to
the Board for its efficient and effective functioning. Independent
non-executive Directors are invited to serve on the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee, the Risk Management and Corporate Governance
Committee and the Independent Board Committee.

INDUCTION AND CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

The Directors have been provided with the relevant training to
ensure that they have a proper understanding of the business and
operations of the Group and that they are fully aware of their
responsibilities and obligations as a director of a listed company
as well as the compliance practice under the Listing Rules. The
Company from time to time updates and provides written training
materials to the Directors, and organises seminars on the latest
development of the Listing Rules, applicable laws, rules and
regulations relating to directors’ duties and responsibilities. The
Directors may request the Company, pursuant to the policy for
Directors to seek independent professional advice, to provide
independent professional advice at the expense of the Company
to discharge their respective duties to the Company.
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RIBFEFRENTE - EFENIA2023F
12ABMBR/RUENFERTEXR %
BELBEEREMEEHESAREIN

According to records provided by the Directors, a summary
of training received by the Directors relating to the business,
directors’ duties and responsibilities and regulatory updates during

the year ended 31 December 2023 is as follows:

FCERINT -

Attending seminars/

conferences/forums Reading
HEWHESE materials
Name of Director EEng a8 wiE REE R
Executive Directors HITES
Qu Naijie # O 7R 4 4
Qu Cheng H iz v/ v
Li Kehui ESTE v v/
Zhang Jianbin (resigned on SR (720234 v v/
17 November 2023) 11 817 BEHE)
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Wang Xuguang FhE¥ v v
Wu Tongtong R AR v v/
Yuan Bing RE 4 v
Li Hao (resigned on 3 (FR20234 v v
3 July 2023) 7A38&IT)
Independent Non-executive Directors BIUFHTES
Zhu Yuchen KER v/ v
Wang Jun =% v v
Shen Han DD 4 v/
Chen Guohui BREUIE (722023 4F v v
(retired on 9 June 2023) 6 A9HEM)
Zhang Meng RE (R20234F 4 4
(retired on 9 June 2023) 6 A9 HEM)
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS - TERM OF
APPOINTMENT

None of the non-executive Directors are appointed for a specific
term of longer than three years. None of the Directors has any
unexpired service contracts which is not determinable by the
Company or its subsidiaries within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rules 3.11 and 3.23 of the Listing Rules, the Company
should appoint an independent non-executive Director and a
member of the Audit Committee within three months after failing
to meet the requirements under Rules 3.10(1), 3.10A and 3.21 of
the Listing Rules. The Company was in short of one independent
non-executive Director and Audit Committee member immediately
after the annual general meeting held on 9 June 2023. As the
Company was unable to appoint an additional independent non-
executive Director before 8 September 2023, the Company had
therefore applied to the Stock Exchange for a waiver from strict
compliance with Rules 3.10(1), 3.10A, 3.21 and 3.27A of the
Listing Rules.

On 22 September 2023, the Stock Exchange granted to the
Company a waiver from strict compliance with Rules 3.10, 3.10A,
3.21 and 3.27A of the Listing Rules until 31 October 2023. On 31
October 2023, Ms. Shen Han was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company as well as a member of
both the Nomination Committee and the Audit Committee. Since
then, the Company has complied with Rules 3.10(1), 3.10A, 3.21
and 3.27A of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 December
2023, the Company was in compliance with the requirements
of Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors
with at least one independent non-executive Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company was also
in compliance with the requirement of Rule 3.10A of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of independent non-executive
directors representing at least one-third of the Board.
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The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive Directors on his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the
Company considers each of them to be independent.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE AGREEMENTS

None of the Directors who is proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has any service agreement
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

The rules and procedures governing the appointment, retirement,
re-election and removal of Directors are set out in the Articles
of Association. The Nomination Committee is responsible for
reviewing the Board structure, size and composition and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors.

NOMINATION, APPOINTMENT, RETIREMENT
AND RE-ELECTION

In accordance with the Articles of Association, at least one-third
of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not three
or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to, but not less
than, one-third) shall retire from office by rotation and shall be
eligible for re-election and re-appointment at every annual general
meeting provided that each Director shall be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years and any new Director
appointed to fill a causal vacancy or as an addition to the Board
shall submit himself/herself for re-election by Shareholders at the
next general meeting after appointment.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Board intends to hold Board meetings regularly at least
four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals which are
normally scheduled in the fourth quarter of the preceding year.
Notices of not less than fourteen days will be given for all regular
Board meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity
to attend and include matters in the agenda for regular Board
meetings. The Board will also hold meeting on other occasions
when a board-level decision on a particular matter is required.
Reasonable notice will generally be given.
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Details of Directors’ attendance at Board meetings, Board

Committee meetings and two general meetings held during the

year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in the table below:

=53
(=P7=] %

EENEZE2023F12 A31 B IFEE 81T
MEESSH EBEFLECTLINMAX

BRERAGH L ECERNT

Number of meetings attended/eligible to attend

bR/ AERLRERNE
Corporate
Governance
and Risk  Independent

Audit Remuneration Nomination ~ Management Board
Board Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee General
Name of Directors ESfg Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
BRERR
B HH R% bEER

EZ6EF ZEE83 ZBE83 ZEEER ZEe8%  BuES REAE
Executive Directors #i7Ez
Qu Naijie B m - - 5/5 - - i
Qu Cheng fig m - - - - - i
Li Kehu' FHE! - - - - - - -
Zhang Jianbin? RE /6 - - - - - i
Non-executive Directors FuiEs
Wang Xuguang Tk m - 0 - - - N
Wu Tongtong® R 33 - - - - - -
Li Hao* & 33 - - - - - N
Yuan Bing RE n - - - 0N - i
Independent Non-executive Directors ~ BUFH{TES
Zhu Yuchen® FIRS 4 22 44 - [l N -
Chen Guohui® FREg° ElEi i 0 - i Wi i
Wang Jun ig i 33 55 55 - 33 n
Shen Han’ ALY 17 111 - N - - -
Zhang Meng® FE 33 i - 0N i 0N i
! appointed on 17 November 2023 ! R2023F 1M A17BEZF

2 resigned on 17 November 2023
3 appointed on 3 July 2023

4 resigned on 3 July 2023

> appointed on 9 June 2023

6 retired on 9 June 2023

U appointed on 31 October 2023
8 retired on 9 June 2023

2 72023F 11 17 BEHE

3 R2023F7A3AEELF

4 202347 A3BEHT

5 MR2023F6 A9REEF

6 #2023F6 A9REM

7 2023410831 BERT
8 #2023F6 A9REM
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of
conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company confirmed that the
Directors had complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2023.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters of the
Company, including: approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions (in particular those
that may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and
operational matters. Directors could have recourse to independent
professional advice in performing their duties at the Company’s
expense and are encouraged to access and to consult with the
Company’s senior management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the
Group are delegated to the senior management. The delegated
functions and responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the
Board. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any
significant transactions entered into by the management.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board recognises that corporate governance should be the
collective responsibility of the Directors. During the year ended 31
December 2023, the Board delegated the corporate governance
duties to the Board Committees as disclosed under the following
sections.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 23 February
2014. The Nomination Committee comprises the chairman of
the Board and two independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Qu Naijie (Chairman), Mr. Wang Jun and Ms. Shen Han.
The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to make
recommendations to our Board on the appointment and removal
of Directors.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, 5 meetings of the
Nomination Committee were held and the attendance record of
each member is shown in the table presented above.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include the
following:

° to review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and to make
recommendation on any proposed changes to the Board
due to the implementation of the corporate strategies of the
Company;

o to identify individual who has the suitable qualifications to
become a Director and to nominate such person to act as
a Director or to provide recommendation to the Board in
relation to this;

o to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;

o to make recommendation to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and the succession plan
of Directors (particularly, the chairman of the Board and
the President of the Group/chief executive officer of the
Company); and

o to review the implementation and effectiveness of the board
diversity policy and the director nomination policy and to
disclose such policy or a summary of such in the corporate
governance report.

The written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company believes that the increasing diversity at the Board
level is one of the essential elements in supporting the attainment
of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development.
Therefore, the Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the
"Board Diversity Policy”) in accordance with the requirement
set out in the CG Code. Diversity of Board members can be
achieved through consideration of a number of factors, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural background and ethnicity,
in addition to educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments
will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered
against appropriate criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

The following chart shows the diversity profile of the Board as at
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The Board targets to maintain at least the current level of female
representation. The Board will continue to seek opportunities
to increase the proportion of female members over time as and
when suitable candidates are identified. The Board is mindful of
the objectives for the factors set out above and will ensure that
any successors to the Board shall follow the gender diversity
policy. The Board will also take into consideration of the gender
diversity when assessing the candidates of the senior management
of the Company.

Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring the diversity of
the Board members, monitoring the implementation of the Board
Diversity Policy and reviewing the Board Diversity Policy from time
to time to ensure its continued effectiveness. The Company will
disclose in corporate governance report about the implementation
of the Board Diversity Policy on an annual basis.

EMPLOYEE DIVERSITY

Among all employees of the Company (including senior
management), male employees accounts for 56.43% while female
employees accounts for 43.57%. The Company considers the
gender ratio (male to female) among its employees is within a
reasonable scope. The overall gender diversity of the Group is
of balance, and the Group will continue to sustain the gender
diversity among its employees.

For the details and relevant data of gender ratio and measures
taken to improve gender diversity, please refer to the disclosure in
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

INDEPENDENCE OF THE BOARD

The Company acknowledges the independence of the Board
is critical to a sound corporate governance. The Company has
established effective mechanisms to support the independence of
the Board and ensure independent views and input are available
to the Board. The Board will review such mechanisms from time to
time. The Board believes the following mechanisms are practicable
and effective:

o The current compositions of the Board (one-third of the
members are independent non-executive Directors) and
the Audit Committee (all members are independent non-
executive Directors) meet the independence requirements
under the Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee and
the Audit Committee are chaired by independent non-
executive Directors.
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The independence of each of independent non-executive
Directors shall be evaluated on an annual basis after the
appointment of such Director. Independent non-executive
Directors are required to submit a written confirmation to
the Company to confirm the independence of themselves
and their respective immediate family members and their
compliance with the requirements set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules.

The remuneration of independent non-executive Directors is
also subject to a regular review to maintain competitiveness
and commensurate with their responsibilities and workload.

When a motion or transaction is under the consideration of
the Board at a Board meeting, each of Directors shall report
his/her direct or indirect interests (if any) in the transaction,
and shall abstain from voting as and when appropriate. If
required, external independent professional advises shall
be available to all Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors). Each of independent non-executive
Directors shall consistently demonstrate firm commitment
and capability of sufficient time commitment to perform the
duties as a Board member.

The Company has also established channels through
formal and informal methods to allow independent non-
executive Directors to express their opinions publicly or, as
circumstance requires, confidentially.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) which sets out the criteria and process in selecting
candidate(s) for possible inclusion in the Board. The Nomination
Policy could assist the Company to achieve board diversity in the
Company and enhance the effectiveness of the Board and its
corporate governance standard.

The Nomination Policy sets out the criteria in evaluation and
selection of any candidate for directorship of the Company,
including but not limited to, his/her qualifications, experience,
skill, diversity aspects under the Board Diversity Policy, potential
contributions to the Board, ability to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as a member of the Board, and in case of the
nomination of independent non-executive Directors, meeting the
independence requirements with reference to the guidelines set
out in the Listing Rules.

In addition, the nomination processes with regard to the
appointment of new Director and the re-election of Director at the
general meeting of the Company are set out in the Nomination
Policy. Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-
elect a candidate as Director at the general meeting, relevant
information of the candidate will be disclosed in the circular to
the shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying the
notice of the relevant general meeting in accordance with the
Listing Rules and/or applicable laws and regulations.

The Nomination Committee may use any process it deems
appropriate for the purpose of evaluating candidates including
personal interviews, background checks, written submission by
the candidates and third party references.

The Nomination Committee will conduct regular review
of the Nomination Policy and, where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Nomination Policy to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy and
business needs.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 23 February
2014. The Remuneration Committee comprises two independent
non-executive Directors and one non-executive Director, namely
Mr. Wang Jun (Chairman), Mr. Zhu Yuchen and Mr. Wang
Xuguang.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, 5 meetings of the
Remuneration Committee were held, to review the remuneration
policy and structure of the Company, and the attendance record
of each member is shown in the table presented above. The
Remuneration Committee reviewed and made recommendation
to the Board on the grant of share options pursuant to the
Share Option Scheme during the financial year ended 31
December 2023. When considering the grant of share options,
the Remuneration Committee has evaluated the remuneration
of the grantees of market comparables and the value granted
to the grantees. After taking into account such factors, the
Remuneration Committee made recommendation to the Board for
approval on the proposed grant of share options to the grantees
to compliment the grantees for their contribution and efforts to
the Group, which is in line with the purpose of the Share Option
Scheme.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include the
following:

o to consult the chairman and/or chief executive officer for the
remuneration proposals for other executive Directors and
senior management. The Remuneration Committee should
have access to independent professional advice if necessary;

o to make recommendation to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for remuneration of all Directors and
senior management (including grant of share options to
employees pursuant to the Share Option Scheme and
award of shares to the employees pursuant to the Share
Award Scheme) and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing the remuneration
policy;

o to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes
as set out in Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules;
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to review and approve the remuneration proposals for senior
management with reference to the corporate goals and
objectives established by the Board;

to determine, when the Board delegates its responsibilities,
the remuneration packages for a particular executive Director
and senior management, including non-pecuniary benefits,
pension rights and amount of compensation (including
compensation payable for loss or termination of office or
appointment);

to make recommendation to the Board on the remuneration
of the non-executive Directors;

to consider the salaries paid by and the time commitment
and responsibilities requested by companies of similar nature
and the employment criteria for other positions of the
Group;

to review and approve the compensation payable to
the executive Directors and senior management for loss
or termination of office or appointment such that it is
consistent with the contractual terms or is otherwise fair,
reasonable and not excessive;

to review and approve the compensation arrangements in
relation to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct
such that they are consistent with the contractual terms or
are otherwise reasonable and appropriate; and

to ensure that no Director or any of his associates shall be
involved in deciding his own remuneration.
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The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

DIRECTOR REMUNERATION POLICY

Director’s remuneration package includes annual director’s fee
and the entitlement to the share options pursuant to the rules
under the Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company from
time to time. Such remuneration was determined based on
the recommendation from the Remuneration Committee with
reference to the qualifications, industry experience, position and
performance of each of the Directors and the prevailing market
conditions.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 23 February 2014. The
Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Zhu Yuchen (Chairman), Mr. Wang Jun and
Ms. Shen Han. The chairman of the Audit Committee possesses
the appropriate professional qualifications.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, 3 meetings of the
Audit Committee were held, to review interim and annual
financial results and reports, consider significant issues on the
financial reporting and compliance procedures, internal control
and risk management systems, and appoint external auditor.
The attendance record of each member is shown in the table
presented above.

HAICHANG OCEAN PARK HOLDINGS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2023

#r B
SN

eSS
NI

eME %%%ITFW“%
GIEERES

EEHMEER
EETNERFEESRES  NAER
1 7K I A B BR A B B A A 81 RO AR Al
BESBRE - HEFHaFHZEal
LEZEFNEE  TEER  BUK
RIVASRITIREE R ©

%TZ%%@E’\2014¢2H23 HAKIL © %-
BEEBERE R BURITESE

BIRRERSEE(EF) Eif‘ﬁ%&dﬂ
BMEL - BEZZEEIFEABEBEER
Big -

HZE2023F12A31HIEFE - BEZEB
SRITINGH  UEHTPHRFETH
XERWME - %Fﬁfﬁﬁﬂﬂiﬁiﬁé\%ﬁ
BF  AEEZEMEREERFNEKR
E=H - WEEINEBZEED - FKHEHH
BRSHIERERETR -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT {¥ &4 %

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include:

Relationship with the external auditor

to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor, and
to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement
of the external auditor, and to deal with any issues of its
resignation or dismissal,

to review and monitor the independence and objectivity
of the external auditor and the effectiveness of the audit
process in accordance with applicable standards. The Audit
Committee shall discuss with the external auditor the nature
and scope of the audit and reporting obligations before the
audit process commences;

to monitor the compliance of the Company’s policy on the
engagement of the external auditor for the performance of
non-audit services and the hiring of employees or former
employees of the external auditor;

to act as the key representative body for overseeing the
relationship between the Company and the external auditor;

Financial information for public disclosure

to monitor the completeness of the Company’s interim
and annual reports and financial statements, and review
significant financial reporting judgments contained in the
reports and statements before recommending them to the
Board for approval, with particular emphasis on:

J any changes in the accounting policies and practice of
the Group;

o major judgmental areas (including those in the
representation letter from the Company to the external
auditor);

o significant account adjustments resulting from the
audit process;
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o the going concern assumptions and any qualifications;

o compliance with accounting and auditing standards;

o compliance with the Listing Rules and legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting;

to consider any significant or unusual items that are, or
should be, reflected in the reports and financial statements
and give due consideration to any matters and reservations
that have been raised by the staff of the Company who
are responsible for the accounting and financial reporting
functions, the chief compliance officer of the Group and
internal and external auditors;

Monitoring of the financial reporting system and
internal control procedures

to review the Company’s financial control, internal control
and risk management systems;

to discuss the internal control system with the management
to ensure that the management has performed its duty to
establish an effective internal control system. Such discussion
should include the adequacy of resources, employees’
qualifications and experience in accounting and financial
reporting functions, and training programmes for employees
and its budget;

to consider major investigation findings on internal
control matters and the management’s response to these
findings, either on its own initiative or at the request of the
management;

to ensure co-ordination between the internal and external
auditors, that the internal audit function is adequately
resourced and has appropriate standing within the Company
and to review and monitor its effectiveness (including the
internal audit plans and procedures),
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to review the Group's financial and accounting policies and
practice;

to review the external auditor’s letter to the management,
any material queries raised by the auditor to the
management with respect to accounting records, financial
accounts or control systems and the management'’s response
to such queries;

to ensure that the Board shall provide a timely response
to the issues raised in the external auditor’s letter to the
management;

to review arrangements that the employees can use, in
confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties in
financial reporting, internal control or other matters;

Corporate governance functions

to monitor the Company’s corporate governance and to
report to the Board on the Company’s compliance with the
CG Code;

to develop and review the Company's policies and practice
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practice
on compliance with the legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
business ethics for the directors and employees of the
Company; and

General

to consider other matters, as defined by the Board.

The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are

available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the

Company.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Risk Management and Corporate Governance Committee
was established on 23 February 2014. The Risk Management and
Corporate Governance Committee comprises one non-executive
Director and two independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Yuan Bing (Chairman), Mr. Zhu Yuchen and Ms. Shen Han.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, 2 meetings of the Risk
Management and Corporate Governance Committee were held
in 2023, to review the risk management policies and standards,
compliance reports and risk assessment reports and to review the
compliance of the CG Code by the Company. The attendance
record of each member is shown in the table presented above.

The primary duties of the Risk Management and Corporate
Governance Committee include, but are not limited to, the
following:

o to review the Company’s risk management policies and
standards, as well as the fundamental concepts and scope of
compliance management;

o to review and provide comments on the overall target and
basic policy of the compliance and risk management;

o to supervise and monitor the development of risk and
compliance management system of the Company;

o to formulate the Company’s corporate governance policies
and conventional rules, to monitor its implementation and
to make recommendations to the Board;

o to review and provide comment on the organisational
structure and responsibilities of the Company’s compliance
and risk management;

o to review the Company’'s compliance reports and risk
assessment reports that need to be reviewed by the
Board, and to make proposals on the improvement of the
Company's compliance and risk management;

HAICHANG OCEAN PARK HOLDINGS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2023

EREERTXEREES

EEEERTEEREZEGN20145F2
A23HAMY - RBREBRMTEEARZE
CEE—BIERITEETNMB B LI
TEE DRAREEE(EE)  5F
REERILELZ L -

HE2023F12 A31HILFE  ARERE
REEEREBSN2023FRIT2XE
FOURTEREERENMZE - 55
HERBBF GRS WEERNAFE
STEEERTAMNER SKENLRE
HEERERER -

REREEMEREAZTEENEIEZRE
BIHEARRATI@E

s EFEARQTRAREERETEHKLER
ARERERNERBSFMEE

o EHANEBEMNRREEMEEE
12 EABRITIREER ¢

s REVEEBEAQFRBEELAR
EIEHIE AR

e HEARAMNEEREABELE

B BEREERERN LAEESE
R

s FERARTAMEELEREEN
MBRENEBAETIRHER

s HFEREZLFHNARMEME
REFFGRELETES  LRETE
ARR]ARIERE AR



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT {¥ &4 %

o to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management;

o to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
conventional rules regarding compliance with laws and
regulatory rules as well as with its implementation;

° to formulate, review and monitor the Professional Practice
Code and Compliance Manual (if applicable) of the
employees and Directors;

o to monitor the Company’s compliance with the CG Code,
together with the disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report;

o to monitor the effective implementation of the risk
and compliance management by the management of
the Company and to evaluate the performance of the
responsible senior management;

o to evaluate and opine on the risk of major decision making
and solutions to the major risks of the Company that need
to be reviewed by the Board; and

o other matters as authorised by the Board.
The written terms of reference of the Risk Management and

Corporate Governance Committee are available on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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INDEPENDENT BOARD COMMITTEE

The Independent Board Committee was established on 23
February 2014. The Independent Board Committee comprises all
the independent non-executive Director, namely Mr. Wang Jun
(Chairman), Mr. Zhu Yuchen and Ms. Shen Han.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, 3 meetings of the
Independent Board Committee were held in 2023, to review the
compliance and enforcement of the Deeds of non-competition by
the Controlling Shareholders and Mr. Qu Naijie. The attendance
record of each member is shown in the table presented above.

The primary duties of the Independent Board Committee include:

General undertakings

o According to the Deeds of Non-competition, the Controlling
Shareholders and Mr. Qu Naijie have, jointly and severally,
undertaken to the Company that, among others, they would
not, and that their close associates or associated companies
controlled by them would not directly or indirectly carry on,
participate, or be interested or engaged in or acquire or
hold any business or theme-park related projects in the PRC
which is or may be in competition with the existing business
of the Group.

o The Independent Board Committee shall annually review and

confirm the status of compliance of the above undertakings
in the annual reports.
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Undertakings in relation to the development of properties

When Zegiao Holdings Limited (formerly known as Haichang
Group Limited) and Mr. Qu Naijie, in accordance with the
Original Deed of Non-competition, refer to the Group
any opportunity to develop, operate, participate and/
or otherwise hold any right or interest in any business
relating to any properties (the “New Opportunity”), the
Independent Board Committee shall consider the New
Opportunity in accordance with the terms of the Original
Deed of Non-competition.

If the Independent Board Committee considers that the
pursuit of the New Opportunity would be in the best
interests of the Group, the Independent Board Committee
shall consent to the pursuit of the New Opportunity by the
Group.

If the Independent Board Committee is of the view that
the pursuit of the New Opportunity by Zegiao Holdings
Limited and Mr. Qu Naijie will not constitute potential
competition with the business of the Group or pursuit of the
New Opportunity is not in the interests of our Group, the
Independent Board Committee shall consent to the pursuit
of the New Opportunity by Zegiao Holdings Limited and Mr.
Qu Naijie and it shall have the power to impose conditions
and restrictions on the development of the properties by
Zeqgiao Holdings Limited and Mr. Qu Naijie in order to
prevent any form of potential competition.

The Independent Board Committee shall disclose the
consideration factors and its conclusion in relation to the
New Opportunity in the annual report or interim report of
the Company.
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Undertakings in relation to the sale schedules of
residential properties

According to the Original Deed of Non-competition, in
any city or region where the Group has developed any
serviced apartment projects for sale, Zegiao Holdings
Limited, Mr. Qu Naijie, their subsidiaries or associates shall,
in the event that they have plans to launch the sale of any
residential projects in the same city or region (the “Sale of
notify the Group the detailed
sale terms and all relevant information in writing and the

Residential Properties”),

Independent Board Committee shall have the right to veto
the Sale of Residential Properties if it considers that the Sale
of Residential Properties would compete against the sale
schedule of any projects of the Group.

If the Group decides to launch its sale of serviced apartment
projects in the relevant city or region, the Group shall notify
Zegiao Holdings Limited and Mr. Qu Naijie in writing and
Zegiao Holdings Limited, Mr. Qu Naijie or their subsidiaries
or associates can only launch the Sale of Residential
Properties after a time gap of six months (the “Time Gap”)
from the date on which the Group launches its sale of
serviced apartment projects in the same city or region.

If the Independent Board Committee is of the view that a
longer period of time is necessary for the Group to complete
the sale of a significant portion of its serviced apartments
before Zegiao Holdings Limited, Mr. Qu Naijie or their
subsidiaries or associates launch the Sale of Residential
Properties, the Independent Board Committee shall have the
power to extend the Time Gap.

The Independent Board Committee shall disclose the
consideration and its conclusion in relation to the above in
the annual report or interim report of the Company.
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Option to purchase and/or operate and manage
excluded business

According to the Original Deed of Non-competition, if the
Independent Board Committee considers that the properties
developed, operated or owned by Zegiao Holdings Limited,
Mr. Qu Naijie or their subsidiaries or associates (the
“Excluded Business”) or any part of their new businesses
will constitute competition against the Group, the Group
shall be entitled to (1) an option to purchase any equity
interests, assets or other interests which forms part of such
business and/or (2) an exclusive right to operate and manage
such business.

The Independent Board Committee shall review, consider
and decide whether the Group should exercise the option to
purchase and/or operate and manage the Excluded Business
or the new business.

If the Independent Board Committee decides to exercise the
option, it shall have the power to impose conditions and/or
restrictions in order to ensure that the exercise of the option
is in line with the Group’s business strategy and business
model.

The Independent Board Committee shall disclose the
consideration and its conclusion to exercise or not to
exercise the above rights in the annual report or interim
report of the Company.
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Corporate Governance Functions

For corporate governance, the Independent Board Committee
shall, on an annual basis:

o review the compliance with and enforcement of the Deeds
of Non-competition by the Controlling Shareholders and Mr.
Qu Naijie. The Independent Board Committee shall disclose
the results of its review in the annual report of the Company
or by way of announcement to the public; and

o review all of its decisions made pursuant the Deeds of
Non-competition in such year. The Independent Board
Committee shall disclose its decisions and the basis for
them in the annual report of the Company or by way of
announcement to the public.

The written terms of reference of the Independent Board
Committee are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

The Group does not tolerate any form of bribery, whether direct
or indirect, by, or of, its Directors, officers, employees, agents or
consultants or any persons or companies acting for it or on its
behalf. The Company adopts the anti-corruption policy to assist
employees in recognising circumstance which may lead to or
give the appearance of being involved in corruption or unethical
business conduct, so as to avoid such conduct which is clearly
prohibited, and to promptly seek guidance where necessary.

We will review the anti-corruption policy on a regular basis

and report any sentenced cases to the legal and compliance
department of the Company.
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WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Company expects and encourages employees of the Group
and those who deal with the Group (e.g. suppliers, customers,
creditors and debtors) to report to the Company, in confidence,
any suspected impropriety, misconduct or malpractice concerning
the Group. The Company adopted the whistleblowing policy to
provide reporting channels and guidance on reporting possible
improprieties and reassurance to whistleblowers of the protection
that the Group will extend to them in the formal system.

We will review the whistleblowing policy on a regular basis
and report any suspected cases to the legal and compliance
department of the Company.

CORPORATE CULTURE

The Board firmly believes that corporate culture underpins
the development of the Group and is beneficial to business
development, economic success and sustainable growth of the
Group in the long run. A robust culture empowers the Company’s
long-term and sustainable performance and demonstrates the
Company’s assumption of the role of a responsible enterprise
citizen. The Company adheres to its goal, vision and mission,
cultivating an active and progressive culture.

Our goal is to become the most valuable company in the cultural
tourism industry in China and hope to create an amusement park
filled with “dream, love, joy”, which can continue to satisfy the
increasing demand for high-quality tourism and leisure products
for consumers.
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The Board established and promoted our corporate culture,
expecting and requiring all employees to enhance corporate
culture. Every new employee shall participate in orientation
training and training programmes to better understand the our
corporate culture, structure and policies, learn relevant laws and
regulations and enhance their quality awareness. In addition, the
Company will invite external experts to provide trainings for our
management from time to time so as to improve their knowledge
and management skills.

The Board believes the Group's corporate culture is in line with
our goal, value and strategies.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023, in
accordance with the basis of preparation set out in note 2.2
and the significant accounting policies set out in note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Under code provision D.1.3 of the CG Code, where the Directors
are aware of material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the issuer’s ability to continue
as a going concern, they should be clearly and prominently
disclosed and discussed at length in the Corporate Governance
Report.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation
and information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out
an informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements,
which are put to the Board for approval.

HAICHANG OCEAN PARK HOLDINGS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2023

E=SFERERAEX  HEY R
KEREEMABLRE - 2EMESR
B2 MARIE R IF G & - AEE L4
BREEX  #BRBE  2EHEE
ERER O RERFZREER - It
S RRRE TR EFINBER B
MEEEABRHEEI - MRS RE
Z FAR AN S B IR ABE ©

EFERARAKRENERIEERE -
BESLBMRE 5 -

EERFEP KRR U ERR
Qax

EENE  HEABRERBAF®RE Y
BRI F2.2ME MR REE R HES
FTEMERNSETBOR - REHZE20234F
12 A31 BIEFEM A B EmE °

REBEEEERTRMTARXED. 1.3
G- MEZNBEEATHAREMHHIF
MR EREVEETAFEL LN
N EFRECEELRRETEERE
BEMFATRIESETABRREE -

EEECREFERHUENEELR
B FEESRUIEETEESMHEZ
RRRFBRFAETHEZFE -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT {¥ &4 %

The Company provides all members of the Board with monthly
updates on the Company’s performance, positions and prospects.

DIRECTORS'’ LIABILITY INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect
of legal action against its Directors. The insurance covers them
against costs, charges, expenses and liabilities incurred arising out
of the corporate activities.

The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the
internal control system of the Company and considers that the
internal control system is effective and adequate.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The fee charged by the Group’s external auditor in respect of
all audit and non-audit services to the Group during the year is
summarised as below:
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2023 2022

Services rendered 2R ER%E 2023 F 20224
Audit services: EET R 5,830,000 5,730,000
Non-audit services: FEFIRTE ¢ 244,000 200,000
Total @t 6,074,000 5,930,000
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. So Lai Shan, the Company Secretary and authorised
representative of the Company, is responsible for advising the
Board on corporate governance matters and ensuring that Board
policy and procedures and applicable laws, rules and regulations
were followed.

In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Ms. So Lai
Shan has participated in relevant professional training for not less
than 15 hours during the year ended 31 December 2023. The
Company engages an external professional company secretarial
services provider to provide compliance and full range of company
secretarial services to the Company. Mr. Li Jun, senior director of
enterprise development centre, is the primary point of contact at
the Company for the Company Secretary.

REMUNERATION OF THE SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Details of the remuneration of Directors and the five highest
paid employees required to be disclosed under Appendix D2 to
the Listing Rules have been set out in note 9 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”). Any declaration and payment of dividends shall be
determined at the sole discretion of the Board and subject to all
applicable requirements (including without limitation restrictions
on dividend declaration and payment) under the Companies Act
of Cayman Islands and the Articles of Association.
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In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall take into
account, inter alia:

o the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

o the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity and the
relevant financial covenants;

o the Group’s expected working capital requirements and
future expansion plans;

o general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group's
business and other internal or external factors that may have
an impact on the business or financial performance and
position of the Company; and

o any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves
the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/
or modify the Dividend Policy at any time, and the Dividend Policy
shall in no way constitute a legally binding commitment by the
Company in respect of its future dividend and/or the obligation
of the Company to declare a dividend at any time or from time to
time.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders and investors is essential for enhancing investor
relations and understanding of the Group's business, performance
and strategies. The Company also recognises the importance of
timely and non-selective disclosure of information, which will
enable Shareholders and investors to make informed investment
decisions.

To promote effective communication with its Shareholders
and encourage their participation in general meetings, and to
promote effective communication with investors, the Company
has established a Shareholders’ communication policy and
maintains a website at www.haichangoceanpark.com, where up-
to-date information on the Company’s business operations and
developments are available. The Company has also set up an IR
email address at investor@haichangoceanpark.com to collect and
answer Shareholders’ and investors’ enquiries and questions.

The Company held the annual general meeting (the “2023 AGM")
on 9 June 2023. All resolutions proposed at the 2023 AGM have
been approved. Please refer to the poll results announcement of
the Company dated 9 June 2023 for details.

Taking into account a number of communication channels at
the general meetings held during the year and the attendance
of the Shareholders, the Board believes that our Shareholders’
communication policy has been duly implemented during 2023
and is effective.
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SHAREHOLDER COMMUNICATION POLICY

The Company is committed to providing the Shareholders of the
Company with balanced and understandable information about
the Company and has adopted a Shareholders’ communication
policy, the summary of which is set out below:

o corporate communication is published on the Stock
Exchange’s website and the Company’'s own website in a
timely manner as required by the Listing Rules;

o the Company shall publish announcements (on inside
information, corporate actions and transactions etc.)
and other documents (e.g. Memorandum and Articles of
Association) on the Stock Exchange's website in a timely
manner in accordance with the Listing Rules;

o any information or documents of the Company posted on
the Stock Exchange’s website will also be published on the
Company's website;

o the annual general meeting and other general meetings of
the Company are primary forum for communication between
the Company and its Shareholders where the shareholders
are provided with relevant information on the resolutions(s)
proposed at a general meeting in a timely manner in
accordance with the Listing Rules. The information provided
shall be reasonably necessary to enable the Shareholders to
make an informed decision on the proposed resolution(s);

o the Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general
meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at the
meetings for and on their behalf if they are unable to attend
the meetings; and

o written enquiries from the shareholders about corporate
governance or other matters to be put to the Board and the
Company will be dealt with by the Board.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT

The Company intends to avoid bundling of resolutions at general
meetings such that a separate resolution shall be proposed for
each substantially separate issue at general meetings.

All resolutions put forward at Shareholders’ meetings will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results
will be posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange in a timely manner after each Shareholders’ meeting.

CONVENING OF EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETING AND PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS

In accordance with the Articles of Association, one or more
Shareholders of the Company may convene an extraordinary
general meeting provided that they deposit a written requisition
at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong and such
requisitioning Shareholders hold as at the date of deposit of
such requisition not less than 10% of the paid up capital of the
Company which carries voting rights at general meetings of the
Company.

Shareholders may put forward proposals for consideration at a
general meeting in accordance with the Companies law of the
Cayman Islands and the Articles of Association.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the
procedures are available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

PUTTING FORWARD ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company at
the Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong. The
Company will respond to all enquiries in a timely and proper
basis.
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CONTACT DETAILS

Email: investor@haichangoceanpark.com

Postal address: Room 804, 8/F., K11 Atelier, Victoria Dockside, 18
Salisbury Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Amendments to the Memorandum and Articles of Association
relating to the inclusion of certain provisions pursuant to
Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules which took effect on 1 January
2022 and applicable laws of the Cayman Islands were approved
by shareholders of the Company at the 2023 AGM. The latest
version of the Articles of Association is available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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EY:

To the shareholders of Haichang Ocean Park Holdings Ltd.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Haichang Ocean Park Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 120 to 307, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting

policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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EY:

To the shareholders of Haichang Ocean Park Holdings Ltd.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”) issued by the International
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (the “IAASB”). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of
the Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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EY:

To the shareholders of Haichang Ocean Park Holdings Ltd.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
Sstatements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
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EY:

To the shareholders of Haichang Ocean Park Holdings Ltd.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB RS

BEESFLAEAERARQIAZTRR
(REEHELMA L ERL )

Key audit matter

AREELER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BRELEREFLTHNERTLE

Y&  BERREGAREFEEERE

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

The Group is an operator of theme parks in the
People’s Republic of China and has a material
operational asset base which may be vulnerable
to impairment when the performance is below
expectations. It is normal that the tourism industry
suffers losses during the first couple of years since
the commencement of operations. The carrying
values of these assets are reviewed annually by
management for indicators of impairment. For assets
where such indicators exist, management performs
detailed impairment tests based on assumptions
including revenue forecasts, gross and operating
margins and the discount rates, which involve
significant judgement.
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Our audit procedures included, among others, the
evaluation of the Group’s policies and procedures
to identify impairment indicators for underperforming
theme parks, and the review of management’s
impairment testing of those underperforming theme
parks with impairment indicators. Besides, we
assessed the assumptions used by management
including the discount rates and long-term growth
rates with reference to those of the Group’s other
operating parks and industry peers. We compared
cash flow forecasts to internal budgets and long-
term strategic plans that were approved by senior
management as well as the historical trend analysis.
We assessed the reasonableness of the projected
sales growth by analysing the accuracy of historical
forecasts and their consistency with other information
such as the expected life of each theme park and the
market in which it is located.
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To the shareholders of Haichang Ocean Park Holdings Ltd. BEESFAREREREATZRE

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

(REEHESLMA L ERL )

Key audit matter

BREELER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEELEREFLPNERLE

The impairment testing was important to our audit
due to the significance of the carrying amount of the
assets for operation (69.49% of the total assets as
at 31 December 2023) and the judgement involved
in determining key assumptions such as future
sales growth, profit margins and discount rates, in
particular for theme parks with an aggregate carrying
amount of RMB6,654,690,000 as at 31 December
2023 which incurred losses.

ENLELAERABMNERNE (KR2028F12HA31H14
BMEENG.49%) REEEARRHEF LR - FEX
EFBREEFZRDBBPITS ROHE - R ERR
HESNEZIEEEEAN  LHRZE  1K20283F12 A
31 HERME 2 E A AR6,654,690,000 7T H) = 78 A B %
1SEE -

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 4 and 12
to the consolidated financial statements.
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EY:

To the shareholders of Haichang Ocean Park Holdings Ltd.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OTHER INFORMATION
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other

INCLUDED IN THE

information. The other information comprises the Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 10 to 32, which we obtained
prior to the date of this audit report, and the other sections of the
Annual Report not including the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon, which are expected to be made
available after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.
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EY:

To the shareholders of Haichang Ocean Park Holdings Ltd.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’'s report that includes our opinion. Our report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise

professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:
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To the shareholders of Haichang Ocean Park Holdings Ltd. BEEEFABRIEREREATZRE

(REEHELMA L ERL )

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.
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To the shareholders of Haichang Ocean Park Holdings Ltd.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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EY:

To the shareholders of Haichang Ocean Park Holdings Ltd.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ng Cheung.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

26 March 2024

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB RS

BEESFLAEAERARQIAZTRR
(REEHELMA L ERL )

HHEEZZESRBNEED BF

EMLERNTA G BRI FZ LN
REBRER G BEREZENR - KRIPE
BRIERTBHAAFARBELEFEARE
BEBNBRAT  BEERARBUTF

RAAERHNITRERGBBEEL
MARNEM NEETEERER TAEK
B AREESEREAENRE DALt
EEIH -

ABIZBMRENEZREABAR
R

RXE AN ST
HE BT
BE

20243 A26H

2023 ERE BEFELEERERAT

119



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

PN = 32
Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31BIEFE

2023 2022
2023 F 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Kzt AR¥EFIT AREFTT
REVENUE WA 6 1,816,842 792,988
Cost of sales SHE KA (1,359,387) (1,071,716)
Gross profit/(loss) EX (8) 457,455 (278,728)
Other income and gains E b Ug A K Uz 6 306,497 181,525
Selling and distribution expenses HE R D HERAX (139,222) (85,029)
Administrative expenses THEA (469,794) (606,375)
Reversal of impairment losses/ TRMEENEENRERSE
(impairment losses) on financial and BB/ CRfERIE) F5
contract assets, net 7 8,091 (76,362)
Other expenses Hh#EmH (26,551) (238,556)
Finance costs U I 8 (322,580) (314,864)
LOSS BEFORE TAX BRELATE 1B 7 (186,104)  (1,418,389)
Income tax credit FrS B e 10 4,197 9,531
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FREE (181,907)  (1,408,858)
Attributable to: BN
Owners of the parent ISYNEIEZZEPN (197,259) (1,395,911)
Non-controlling interests FEE AR 15,352 (12,947)
(181,907)  (1,408,858)
LOSS PER SHARE BAREBERESEA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EBEERER
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 11
Basic and diluted EAR K #E
— Loss for the year (RMB cents) - FREER(ARES) (2.43) (17.31)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

SfftEERER

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31BIEFE

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB 000
AREFT AREFIT
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FRER (181,907)  (1,408,858)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS Hit2EEE
Other comprehensive loss that REEHE SN EEER
may be reclassified to profit or loss FE M2 EEE
in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of MEBINETEHIE X 58
foreign operations (51,601) (278,431)
Gains on revaluation of property, W - BB RESEES K
plant and machinery 29,665 -
Income tax effect Frigine & (7,416) -
22,249 -
Net other comprehensive loss RPZHBIEF > BERE
that may be reclassified to profit HEMEZEEERTHE
or loss in subsequent periods (29,352) (278,431)
Other comprehensive income that will not AEIEEIMEASEHHBAEER
be reclassified to profit or loss in B E D 2
subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of MEBINETSRIME X =258
foreign operations 56,013 266,765
Net other comprehensive income that RAHIAHBEETISEF I EEER
will not be reclassified to profit or HY B fth 2 T W 25 B
loss in subsequent periods 56,013 266,765
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ FRHEMZEKE (&R)
(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX  (HIER#HE) 26,661 (11,666)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR FRZ2HEEEHAE
THE YEAR (155,246) (1,420,524)
Attributable to: HER
Owners of the parent AR A 170,598  (1,407,577)
Non-controlling interests IR 15,352 (12,947)
(155,246) (1,420,524)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

B OF B B4R 0 R

31 December 2023
2023412 A31H

31 December

31 December

2023 2022
2023 % 20224
128318 12 A31H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
it AR¥FT ARETFTL
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB REE 12 6,523,087 5,166,069
Investment properties HEME 13 257,349 122,477
Right-of-use assets CREEE 14(a) 1,484,515 1,476,716
Intangible assets myEE 15 22,140 11,683
Financial assets at fair value through FRBEREAAEEYE
profit or loss MR FEE 16 36,915 54,900
Deferred tax assets RETRIBEE 17 34,136 14,263
Long-term prepayments, REATER U
receivables and deposits JEWIFRIE Rtz & 23, 37(b) 146,630 217,648
Properties under development BERPYIE 20 299,849 299,789
Total non-current assets FRBEEHTE 8,804,621 7,363,545
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Completed properties held for sale BELHERNE AR ME 19 22,498 22,498
Inventories FE 21 54,137 31,743
Biological assets EMEE 24 7,005 6,980
Trade receivables B 5 WA 22 46,209 47,597
Prepayments and other receivables TEAS 5RIE & E At e U 508 23 395,687 990,898
Investment properties classified DEAFELE
as held for sale WiTE Y 13 374,897 387,836
Financial assets at fair value through FRBERRAREENE
profit or loss M &R E E 16 109,514 110,120
Pledged deposits [REEER 25 5,912 5,075
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY 25 1,702,264 1,244,633
Total current assets FRBEEHALE 2,718,123 2,847,380
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Trade payables B SR 26 735,561 649,989
Other payables and accruals HiEAZIEREEA 27 681,465 444,302
Advances from customers DYEES=E-T 28 11,349 10,847
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings ETRIRTT M EAMER 29 1,403,535 1,461,220
Lease liabilities HEARE 29 35,087 25,833
Government grants IEg e 30 13,678 15,329
Tax payable FE R TE 10 34,827 33,459
Total current liabilities REBEAEHE 2,915,502 2,640,979
continued/--
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

B OB AR R R
31 December 2023
2023F 12 A31H

31 December 31 December

2023 2022
20235 20224
12H31H 128311
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
k3 AR TT ARETTT
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS HE (8 EEFE (197,379) 206,401
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRBEE
LIABILITIES 8,607,242 7,569,946
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FERBEE
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings T EIRTT R EMEFR 29 4,739,333 3,687,947
Lease liabilities HEaE 29 121,017 92,730
Long-term payables 3=} AN E/ 26, 27 771,141 666,761
Government grants B R 30 390,844 403,152
Deferred tax liabilities RERIBAE 17 66,545 43,029
Total non-current liabilities FRBEBERE 6,088,880 4,893,619
Net assets EEFHE 2,518,362 2,676,327
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners of the parent &2 F# B A E(L#EZE
Share capital [N 31 2,489 2,489
Reserves s 32 2,413,541 2,621,268
2,416,030 2,623,757
Non-controlling interests FEPERR RS 102,332 52,570
Total equity R 2,518,362 2,676,327
Qu Naijie Li Kehui
i PEEN ZEHE
Director Director
EE EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

EOtEREE R
Year ended 31 December 2023
B ZE2023F12 A31 A ILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

SATERAEL
Retained
Asset Exchange profits/ Non-
Share Share Capital ~ revaluation  Statutory  fluctuation  (accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve  resenves reserve [osses) Total  interests equity
HE B REEH/
kx  ROEE ARRE  ERBE  RERE  R9EG (ZHER) G orehEs g
AMBO00  RMBOOO  AMBOOD  AMBO00  AMBUOOD AWBO00 RMBOG0  RMBOOO  AMBOOO  AMB000
NCETT AEETT ANEETT ARETT AEKTT AGEFL  ARETT ARETT ARKTT ARETR
(Note 31) (note 328)) (note 32b))
(Hits1) (Wit32m) (Wt3on)
At 1 January 2022 1202251818 2451 2363685 731576 37,105 172,370 13,229 44649 3,766,912 63,557 3,830,469
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - - (139911) (1,395911)  (12.947) (1,408,858)
Other comprehensive loss ~ FMEH2EEE :
for the year:
Exchange differences REBNERN
on translation of EizE
foreign operations - - - - - (11,666) - (11,666) (11,666)
Total comprehensive loss ~ FR2ABELE
for the year - - - - - (11,666)  (1,395911) (1.407,577)  (12.947) (1,420524)
Issue of shares Fhkdn 3% 267,554 - - - - - 759 - 759
Share issue expenses  RDEARX - (3,170) - - - - - (3,170) - 3,170)
Capital injection by a —2FIERER
non-controling equity RANTE
holder - - - - - - - - 1960 1,960
Transfer to statutory BETITRE
reserves - - - - 645 - (645) - - -
At 31 December 2022 12022512531R 2489 2628069 731576 37,106 173015 1563 (950,060) 2,623,757 52510 2,676,327
continued/- -
B/ ..
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
APERBBE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BAARENEL
Asset Exchange Non-
Share  Treasury Share Capital revaluation  Statutory  fluctuation Accumulated controlling Total
capital shares  premium  reserve  reserve  reserves  reserve losses Total interests equity
i EX
B&  ERR  ROEE  EARE  EMRE  HERR  REEE  RHER gt FEREE  gRs
RMBOI  RMBU0O  RMBYU0O  RMBUOO  RMBUG)  RMBU0O  RMBYU00  RMBU0O  RMBU0  RMBUM  RMBU0
ARETE ABEFE AREFT ARETn ARETn ABETT AREFL  ARETn  ABRETT  AREFE  AREFR
(Note 31) (note 32/a)) (note 32/b))
(izs1) (h32fa) (i)
At 1 January 2023 2003%1 1R 2489 - 2628069 731,576 405 173,015 1,563 (950,060) 2,628,757 52510 2,676,327
(Loss)/proft for the year ER(gR) /&7 - - - - - - - (fo7259)  (f97.289) 15382 (181907)
Other comprehensive income.~ EAEA2TRE
for the year:
Eichenge diferenceson ~ MEANFHAELZE
tranglation of foreign
operations - - - - - - 4412 - 4,412 - 4,412
Asset revaluation sulus,  EEBREER (HHE)
net of tax - - - - 20,249 - - - 2,49 - 2,49
Total comprehensive ENEfRE
ncomefloss)for theyear Uik /(BE) 8 - - - - 2M - 4412 (197.280) (17059 15382 (195,246)
Shares repurchased BERG - (1) - - - - - - (11 - (11
Capital inection by a —f5hiER
non-controling equiy holder ~ #%E A4 - - - - - - - - - M0 34410
Transfer to statutory reserves. - AT EERE - - - - - 13,621 - (1362 s 5 5
At 31 December 2023 2028 E12A31R 2489 (37,129 2628069 731576+ 59,354  186,6%6* 5075t (1,160.940) 2416030 102,332 2,518,362

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
RMB2,413,541,000 (2022: RMB2,621,268,000) in the consolidated

statement of financial position.

* WEREBREBEA MV BRARANEGS
I ARM2 413,541,000t (20224 :
AR#2,621,268,0007T) °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

EHBEETRER

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31BIEFE

2023 2022
2023 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Kz AR¥TFT ARETFT
CASH FLOWS FROM RETBHELENESRE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax: BrEiATEE (186,104) (1,418,389)
Adjustments for: A TR IEEH =
Depreciation of property, W% - BELREENE
plant and equipment 7,12 331,385 299,362
Impairment of property, plant and M - BERREAK
equipment and intangible assets B EERE 7 - 148,114
Amortisation of intangible assets BB EH 7,15 8,288 3,034
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 7 65,572 47,625
(Reversal of impairment)/provision TE CRERR),/ BERE
of impairment for inventories 7 (631) 626
Loss on disposal of items of property, plant HEME BERXEEE
and equipment, and intangible assets REREENER 7 1,183 3,864
Changes in fair value of investment properties ~ REDEANBEE 7,13 (48,648) 179,830
Changes in fair value of biological assets EMEEALEEES 7,24 (25) (273)
Government grants recognised B R BT 5 Ah 6,30 (58,870) (54,088)
(Gain)/loss on derecognition of leases RIEFERAERN (W), BB 7 (62) 130
Gain on modifications of financial liabilities CHABEETEIRIE
that do not result in derecognition BRI R e 6 (40,563) (56,090)
Impairment of trade receivables 2 5 e W B B 22 950 32,198
(Reversal of impairment)/provision of STATER FRE R E A R IR
impairment for financial assets included in RENCHEE
prepayments and other receivables (RERR),/ REREE 7 (9,041) 44,112
Impairment of completed properties BIERERNEZRMERE
held for sales 7 - 21,810
Impairment of contract assets, net EREERBEZHE 7 - 52
Finance costs BT 8 322,580 314,864
Foreign exchange losses/(gains) [ 5 EE (Yeas) 7 13,770 (17,818)
Interest income FBWA 6 (34,194) (19,453)
Dividend income from financial assets at BRBHERALEBETIR
fair value through profit or loss M€ B E E 2R B (35,548) =
Gain on disposal of an associate HER S ARG (48,000) =
Fair value losses of financial assets at fair BRBREALBEIIEN
value through profit or loss SREENDABESE 6,206 =
288,248 (470,490)
continued/:--
g/ ..
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

EHRERER
Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31BIEFE

2023 2022
20235 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Wi  AREFT  ARETT

Increase in properties under development
Increase in inventories
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables
Decrease in prepayments and other receivables
Decrease/(increase) in frozen or restricted

cash and bank balances
Increase/(decrease) in advances from

BRI (60) =
FEEM (21,763) (4,856)
2SR ER D /() 438 (12,744)
TR IR Je E Ath R U R IR A 251,833 261,263
WRESTRIFE R

RITREBRD /(3EM) 12,084 (14,885)

REEFPBEM,(RD)

customers 502 (6,057)
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables B S EMZIE L),/ 8 (166,801) 226,694
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and HMENREREGTER

accruals #m,/ Cad) 137,163 (3,892)
Receipt of government grants WS ER IR 47 B 30 36,144 36,326
Cash generated from operations RETEHEENERS 537,788 11,359
Interest received EUFH & 4,793 5,928
Interest paid ERpRSE (10,815) (4,370)
Tax refunded/(paid) BE /(B BE 1,792 (11,680)
Net cash flows from operating activities RETHEENBRERE 533,558 1,237
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHELRERE

ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property, plant BEWE BEKZHEEE

and equipment (1,319,874) (717,566)
Decrease/(increase) in long-term prepayments,  REIFEMNZIE « EUFIEK

receivables and deposits EemL /(5m) 21,181 (81,305)
Purchases of financial assets at fair BEEBRBRIEANER

value through profit or loss PR REE - (5,657)
Proceed from disposal of financial assets HEBBIERIEABETYIR

at fair value through profit or loss HE A ERSHIE 4,000 =
Additions to intangible assets MEELAE 15 (18,745) (4,437)
Interest received B UFH & 13,291 6,943
Dividend received from financial assets REEBEREAALEEYER

at fair value through profit or loss SREEZEWRE 35,548 =
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, HEWE  BERLEERE

plant and equipment, and intangible assets REREEREFIR 4,117 20,657
Additions to investment properties MBI EYE 13 - (830)
Refund/(payment) for an additional capital ERIEER T B ARSI

injection as a non-controlling equity holder EERR S (F5K) 365,000 (394,960)
Payment of earnest deposit for acquisition X fTUEEMEB AT E S

of subsidiaries - (99,800)
Increase in prepayment and TE A SR8 B E b Y SR IE 32 A0

other receivables - (130,240)
Proceeds from disposal of an associate HE— R RMERE 14,400 =

continued/--
=
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

EHRERER
Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31BIEEE

2023 2022
2023 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Kz AR¥TFT ARETFT
Refund of capital from investment in financial KEFRBERAAEBSED
assets at fair value through profit or loss TRHEEZERNRE 8,385 =
Receipt of government grants WS BRI 4 8,767 =
Tax paid on disposal of subsidiaries HEMRBARMNENHIE - (238,765)
Net cash flows used in investing activities REZBHFMAFRERE (863,930) (1,645,960)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING BRETHELRESRE
ACTIVITIES
New bank and other loans ILRITREMER 2,950,470 1,687,760
Repayment of bank and other loans EEBITREMER (1,907,543) (1,791,338)
Principal portion of lease payments MENFNAESE D 34(b) (31,059) (17,941)
Increase in pledged deposits B IR F RN (837) (75)
Proceeds from issue of shares BT FT1SFRIE - 267,592
Share issue expenses BRHEITHS = (3,170)
Capital injection by a non-controlling —ZIEREREAEANTE
equity holder 34,410 1,960
Increase/(decrease) in other payables Hib et srmEgm,/ Ond) 100,000 (136,000)
Interest paid ERAE (335,996) (347,127)
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing BMETHELE (FA)
activities MERESRE 809,445 (338,339)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND R&RRE&ZENF
CASH EQUIVALENTS i,/ (RD) 479,073 (1,983,062)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year E¥IMIE S RIREEED 1,225,695 3,202,605
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net % ek (9,358) 6,152
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRNAESRREZEY
AT END OF YEAR 25 1,695,410 1,225,695
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND RERAESEENEHRIN
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances H e RIRTTHER 25 1,702,264 1,244,633
Cash and cash equivalents as stated BT AR LR R BT A
in the statement of financial position ReME2EEYD 25 1,702,264 1,244,633
Frozen or restricted cash and bank balances WOR AR HI3R € R IRTT A 64 25 (6,854) (18,938)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated REREXRPHIEN
in the statement of cash flows BERBESEEY 25 1,695,410 1,225,695
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Haichang Ocean Park Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) is a
limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
on 21 November 2011. The registered address of the
Company is P.O. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1104, Cayman Islands.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group was
involved in the following principal activities in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”):

o development, construction and operation of theme
parks

o property development

o investment

o hotel operation

o provision of consultancy and management services

1.

B EE SRR M At

31 December 2023
2023F12 A31H

NAREEER
BEBFABRERERAA ([A
AAEll) A—ER2011F11 A21 18
EREHESTMRINERE T
AF e ARARFEMMURZP.O,
Box 309, Ugland House, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman
Islands °

NEZE2023F12 831 B ILEE -
AEBEPEARLFE ([HE])
WHEUTEEER :

i

% - ZRNMEETERE

s MEER

o
/

JE &

(]
ﬁﬁ;:’{
ﬁﬁ{]

o  RHFEANMEERS
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

130

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at the

date of this report are as follows:

Place and date of

NEIREBER (&)

BENBERTNER
WA S A AR T EBHBA
AW :

Percentage of

registration  Issued ordinary share/  equity attributable
Name and business registered capital to the Company Principal activities
R34 BRTLER/ N4
£% EEBYRAH HRER EHEM TEER
Direct  Indirect
Ef i
BE(ME)ERAR PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB4,000,000,000 - 100% Investment holding
(‘Haichang China")*# 11 December 1996
B8 (FE) FRAR mE/RERE  ARE4,000,000,0007 = 100% RAZR
((BERE ) 199612118
BE(PE)REBRAT PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB190,000,000 - 100% Investment holding
(*Haichang China Investment”)* 23 November 2015
BE (RE) KEBRAR E/ FERY AR 190,000,000 - 100% RERR
(TBEHRERE])" 2015511 230
AEBEREERERAA PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB2,000,000,000 = 100% Investment holding
(“Dalian Tourism”)* 28 January 2010
ANEREREEEARAT wmE/RERE  ARE2,000,000,000 - 100% RAER
([ R#EHkE])* 201041 A 288
ABERERFARER AR PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB240,584,000 - 58.3% Park operation
(‘LHT")* 13 February 2001
ABERERELRERAR WE /HRENH AE#5240,584,00070 - 58.3% AEEE
(TREFRE]) 2001624138
EaRAEEREERAA PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB30,000,000 - 100%  Park and hotel operation
(*Yantai Park’)t 15 March 2005
EaRABBEREGRAR E/ FERY AE#30,000,00075 - 100% LERBEEE
((EanED* 2005634158
LA EmEFt RERAR PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB900,000,000 = 100% Park development
(“Shanghai Haichang”)* 19 July 2011 and hotel operation
RSB EHTE RER AR E /P ERY AR #900,000,0007 - 100% AEERRBESE
((LBBED: 201147 A198

HAICHANG OCEAN PARK HOLDINGS LTD.
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Place and date of

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023F 12 A31H

NEIREEER (&)

BENBLRNER (F)

Percentage of

registration  Issued ordinary share/  equity attributable
Name and business registered capital to the Company Principal activities
Ef R BRTZER/ NGt
£ EEHYRAH ZRER BREM TEER
Direct Indirect
Ef 58
AEBEERTETRAEARAR PRC/Chinese Mainland USD73,235,294 = 100%  Park and hotel operation,
(“Discoveryland”)* 28 May 2012 property development
and investment
REBERRINTRLEARLA e/ HRE R, 73,285,204 % 7T - 100% REREELE -
(T#RTHE]) 2012%5A28R NELRRRE
EERENILERERRERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB351,291,310 = 100% Park operation,
(“Chongaing Caribbean”)* 18 January 2012 property development
and investment
ERBEMILEREERARAR e/ HRE R, AR#351,291,3107 - 100% RAEEE - NERERLKE
(TEEmaE))" 2012%1A18A
SDRER NI ERERAR PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB589,600,000 = 100% Park development
(“Sanya Haichang Dream World"}* 24 December 2013 and operation
DRERNTRHERARDA e/ REA, AR #589,600,0007C - 100% PEERREE
(=2 8EBOTRH]) 2013512 248
HBBEREEAERAA PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 - 100% Tourism consulting,
(“Tourism Consulting”)* 29 June 2015 construction project
design and consulting
LEBERERARRAR e/ REA, AR10,000,0007 - 100% BN - BEER
(Mg AR D) 2015664291 Rt R

2023 EHE BEBFLABERERAT 131



132

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B R ER R M
31 December 2023
2023412 A31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.
(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Place and date of

RNEAIREEER (&)
BEMBARNER (F)

Percentage of

registration  Issued ordinary share/  equity attributable
Name and business registered capital to the Company Principal activities
ER BRATEER/ KRR
2% EXHARAH FRER EREA TEEK
Direct  Indirect
Ef ik
DEsEREF EMRRARDA PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB100,000,000 = 100% Import and export of
(“Shanghai Biotechnology”)* 30 May 2016 goods and technology,
and marine biotechnology
development
HEEE T ENHEERAR E /HRENH AE#100,000,00070 - 100% P R A
(I LBEMRE])! 2016654308 AR R I B
LBEBRERERRAA PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB170,000,000 - 100% Finance lease
(“Changhai Lease”)* 7 June 2016 business
LEEBRERERRAR E/ FERY AE#170,000,0007 - 100% BEREER
(I8BRE))" 201656A7H
BN EERETEARBRAR PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB700,000,000 = 100% Park development
(“Zhengzhou Park’)* 6 July 2016 and operation
g SRS EAEERAR E /P ER AE#700,000,0007 - 100% AEERLEE
[BNAR])* 201647 A6H
B GERF A RREREERAR PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB804,050,000 - 100% Park development
(“Zhengzhou Tourism”)* 20 June 2017 and operation
DN EEFFLARKEERARAR E /HRENH AE804,050,0007 - 100% AEERREE
(TEM L) 201746 A208
LEBEREEEARAR PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB5,068,492,000 - 100% Investment holding
(“Shanghai Tourism”}f 21 February 2019
HEEEREEEERAR wE/PERE  AR¥5,068,492,0007 - 100% RERR
([ Lk 201952218
FREREN LA EERAR PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB75,000,000 = 60% Investment holding
(*Haipeng Jiayue”)*** 1 December 2022
EEEREHLAEBRAR E /P ER AE#75,000,0007 - 60% RERR
(IR ]) 202212 A1 B
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

*

According to the articles of association of LHT, the profit
sharing ratios of LHT are not in proportion to its equity ratios
but are as defined in the articles of association. Pursuant to
the articles of association, the Group and the other equity
holder share the profits of LHT at a 6:4 ratio.

*k

Haichang China is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned
investment enterprise by Haichang Holdings (Hong Kong)
Limited under PRC law. As at 31 December 2023, the
registered capital of Haichang China amounted to RMB4,000
million, of which RMB323.25 million remained unpaid.

As at 31 December 2023, the registered capital of Haipeng
Jiayue amounted to RMB75 million, of which RMB40 million
remained unpaid.

s The subsidiaries are limited liability companies.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF PRESENTATION

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had net current
liabilities of RMB197,379,000. The directors consider
that the Group has taken various measures and will have
adequate funds available to enable it to operate as a going
concern, after taking into account the past operating
performance of the Group and the following:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B R ER R M
31 December 2023
2023F 12 A31H

NEIREEER (&)

BRENBEARNER (&)

© ORBRERENABERMA K
18 0 0 78 9 B b DI 30 SRR AR
ML PR - BENERERER
MRE  REABERMA - AL
B o i AR 61480 L 1
HRBRAOFIE -

*  BEFEABEZRKR (RS BR
ARRBEFBEEEEM A — MBI
ABELE - R2023F 12 A31
B BEFEMNZMELRAAAR
#4,000,000,0007TC ' Hh AR
323,250,0007C i KRR °

= jR2023F 12 A31 8 ' S AERAE
&R A ARK75,000,0007T * H
R AR #40,000,000 7T H AR S ©

# ZEMBRAAEREEAR -

ERIHHWREERAHAEEF
NEERERFERERAKEK
MOFEENARBIMBRR - &F
ERE - RHEMMBRRNFT
LRBARTLE

SRR

25 E%E
R2023%F12A31H @ A£EE R
BaEFEAEARK197,379,000
T BEERAASECHENZIER
I W AERANTTAESFER
ARFELE  ERERIAEER
THEERBA K TYEE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

2.1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION (continued)

(a)

all the Group’s parks have gradually returned to
normal operation and the revenue has been gradually
recovered;

subsequent to 31 December 2023, the Group
has been granted new bank and other loans of
RMB64,300,000, which are due after 31 December
2024 from certain banks;

the Group expects to be granted subsidies before
31 December 2024 for an aggregate amount of
RMB94,500,000 as agreed by local government to
support the Group’s park operation;

up to the date of this report, the Group has unused
bank and credit facilities of a total amount of
RMB2,163,000,000 valid until after 31 December
2024, of which RMB500,000,000 was granted by a
financial institute subsequent to 31 December 2023
and RMB1,000,000,000 was granted by a related
company;

the major shareholder and a director of the Company,
HF2(“Mr. Qu Cheng”), has agreed to provide
continuing financial support to the Group to meet its
debts and liabilities as and when they fall due for a
period of no less than 12 months from 31 December
2023; and

the Group continues to monitor capital expenditure
to balance and relieve cash resource to support park
operations and take action to tighten cost controls
over various operating expenses and is actively
seeking new investment and business opportunities
with an aim to attain profitable and positive cash flow
operations.

HAICHANG OCEAN PARK HOLDINGS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PRESENTATION (continued)

The directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s
cash flow forecast covering a period of twelve months from
the end of the reporting period ended 31 December 2023.
The directors are of the opinion that, taking into account
the above-mentioned plans and measures, the Group will
have sufficient working capital to finance its operations and
meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due in
the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the directors believe it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 on a
going concern basis.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) (which include all International Financial Reporting
Standards, International Accounting Standards (“IASs”)
and Interpretations) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for investment properties, investment properties
classified as held for sale, biological assets and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss which have been
measured at fair value. These financial statements are
presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

2.2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2023. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.
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2.2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control described
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-
controlling interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve;
and recognises the fair value of any investment retained
and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The
Group’s share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or
retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 23 =2 HERIBENE
AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised IFRSs AEEERAEETHEHRERFPENR
for the first time for the current year’s financial statements. AT 35T RIS 7T B BR 81 7% 3R
HAER o
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts BRI EELER  REESA
FATH
Amendments to IAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Bl &t AR iR A
IFRS Practice Statement 2 Policies F15% REIRR B
BRE%E H'J‘Eﬂ%
"ﬁt% 25k 2 (ER
Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting R AER| A A E S
Estimates 8*7}?2(/ i
Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Sl BB ZESR
Assets and Liabilities F125ZER] EEFEA B
arising from a Single BB
Transaction
Amendments to IAS 12 International Tax Reform — e AER B E —
Pillar Two Model Rules 122 BT XRZDERR
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2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

The nature and the impact of the new and revised IFRSs

that are applicable to the Group are described below:

Amendments to IAS 1 require entities to disclose their
material accounting policy information rather than
their significant accounting policies. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements. Amendments to IFRS Practice
Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements provide
non-mandatory guidance on how to apply the concept
of materiality to accounting policy disclosures. The
Group has disclosed the material accounting policy
information in note 3 to the financial statements.
The amendments did not have any impact on the
measurement, recognition or presentation of any items
in the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b) Amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in
accounting policies. Accounting estimates are defined
as monetary amounts in financial statements that are
subject to measurement uncertainty. The amendments
also clarify how entities use measurement techniques
and inputs to develop accounting estimates. Since
the Group’s approach and policy align with the
amendments, the amendments had no impact on the
Group’s financial statements.
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2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(©)

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction narrow
the scope of the initial recognition exception in IAS
12 so that it no longer applies to transactions that
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences, such as leases and decommissioning
obligations. Therefore, entities are required to
recognise a deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient
taxable profit is available) and a deferred tax liability for
temporary differences arising from these transactions.

Prior to the initial application of these amendments,
the Group applied the initial recognition exception
and did not recognise a deferred tax asset and a
deferred tax liability for temporary differences for
transactions related to leases. The Group has applied
the amendments on temporary differences related to
leases as at 1 January 2022.

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group
has determined the temporary differences arising from
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately,
which have been reflected in the reconciliation
disclosed in note 17 to the financial statements.
However, they did not have any material impact on
the overall deferred tax balances presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position as the
related deferred tax balances qualified for offsetting
under IAS 12.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

2.3 CHANGES

IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(d)

Amendments to IAS 12 /nternational Tax Reform
— Pillar Two Model Rules introduce a mandatory
temporary exception from the recognition and
disclosure of deferred taxes arising from the
implementation of the Pillar Two model rules published
by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development. The amendments also introduce
disclosure requirements for the affected entities to help
users of the financial statements better understand
the entities’ exposure to Pillar Two income taxes,
including the disclosure of current tax related to Pillar
Two income taxes separately in the periods when Pillar
Two legislation is effective and the disclosure of known
or reasonably estimable information of their exposure
to Pillar Two income taxes in periods in which the
legislation is enacted or substantively enacted but not
yet in effect. The Group has applied the amendments
retrospectively. Since the Group did not fall within the
scope of the Pillar Two model rules, the amendments
did not have any impact to the Group.
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241SSUED BUT NOT EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following revised IFRSs, that
have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial
statements. The Group intends to apply these revised
IFRSs, if applicable, when they become effective.

Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and IAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and

Leaseback’
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
(the “2020 Amendments)' Current or Non-current
Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities

with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)’

Amendments to IAS 7 Supplier Finance
and IFRS 7 Arrangements'
Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025

2 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to
be applicable to the Group is described below.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

241SSUED BUT NOT EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and
in IAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture.
The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or
loss resulting from a downstream transaction when the
sale or contribution of assets constitutes a business. For
a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to
IFRS 10 and IAS 28 was removed by the IASB. However,
the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising
in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-
lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss
that relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale
and leaseback transactions entered into after the date of
initial application of IFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019). Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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241SSUED BUT NOT EFFECTIVE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including
what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that a
right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can be settled
in its own equity instruments, and that only if a conversion
option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as an
equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact
its classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify
that, among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must comply
on or before the reporting date affect the classification of
that liability as current or non-current. Additional disclosures
are required for non-current liabilities that are subject to the
entity complying with future covenants within 12 months
after the reporting period. The amendments shall be applied
retrospectively with early application permitted. An entity
that applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to apply
simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The
Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments
and whether existing loan agreements may require revision.
Based on a preliminary assessment, the amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

241SSUED BUT NOT EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 clarify the characteristics
of supplier finance arrangements and require additional
disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure
requirements in the amendments are intended to assist
users of financial statements in understanding the effects
of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities,
cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. Earlier application
of the amendments is permitted. The amendments provide
certain transition reliefs regarding comparative information,
quantitative information as at the beginning of the annual
reporting period and interim disclosures. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 21 specify how an entity shall
assess whether a currency is exchangeable into another
currency and how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate
at a measurement date when exchangeability is lacking.
The amendments require disclosures of information that
enable users of financial statements to understand the
impact of a currency not being exchangeable. Earlier
application is permitted. When applying the amendments,
an entity cannot restate comparative information. Any
cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments shall
be recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained profits or to the cumulative amount of translation
differences accumulated in a separate component of
equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long-term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it has significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control
or joint control over those policies.

The Group’s investment in an associate is stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses. The Group’s share of the post-
acquisition results and other comprehensive income of the
associate is included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and consolidated other comprehensive income,
respectively. In addition, when there has been a change
recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised
gains and losses resulting from transactions between the
Group and its associate are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s investment in the associate, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the
assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of
the associate is included as part of the Group’s investment
in the associate.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investment in an associate (continued)

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the
Group measures and recognises any retained investment at
its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of
the associate upon loss of significant influence and the fair
value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal
is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held for
sale, it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each
business combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or
at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Business combinations (continued)

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets includes an
input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.
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2023412 A31H

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, investment
properties classified as held for sale, equity investments
and biological assets at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market
for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or
liability. The principal or the most advantageous market
must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset
or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly
or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, investment properties and
investment properties classified as held for sale), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating
unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a
corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated
to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the
smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment
loss is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the
period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is
accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting
policy for that revalued asset.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BAREIRAR P RE

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Related parties (continued)

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)

(vii)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third-party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. When an item of property, plant
and equipment is classified as held for sale or when it is
part of a disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not
depreciated and is accounted for in accordance with IFRS
5, as further explained in the accounting policy for “Non-
current assets and disposal groups held for sale”. The cost
of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for
its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.
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2023412 A31H

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

2.5% to 5.0%
Building improvements 5.0%
Machinery 10.0% to 20.0%
10.0% to 25.0%
20.0% to 33.0%

2.5% to 33.3%

Theme parks and other buildings

Motor vehicles
Office equipment and furniture
Live animals

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.

HAICHANG OCEAN PARK HOLDINGS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2023

ERGFBEK (B)

ME - BERRBUARFTE
(%)

FEDETINEME  BFEERE
T8 B mfh AT AT fE A F B A B ROA M
HERAZEFIREE - BULER
ZEBEFERIE

FRERELABEREMETFT 25%%£5.0%
BFEE 5.0%
Gt 10.0%Z20.0%
bt 10.0% £ 25.0%
MABTZEREM  20.0%=33.0%
TEEBNY 2.5%%=33.3%

W% - BERREEBRASE D
MAERFRAR - AIZIE B /YK
AEEBEAESRESID » MB
MOBBULFENE - BKELRE
B8 mE Rt FIREE - A EMA
FHNTEE  WAFZRRNFHE -

BRERERNERBLIONYE
BEMREBEREREEXFAHBE
EREEE TS ELEAREND
R IFHER - RRIEEREEEF
IR R PR AV B B Sk AR WA K
BiE - DHERFRBEFHREGH
BERMEMNZHE -



MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. It is reclassified
to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including right-of-use assets) held to earn rental income
and/or for capital appreciation. Such properties are
measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the
end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the statement of profit
or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.
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31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investment properties (continued)

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties or inventories, the deemed cost of a property
for subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of
change in use. If a property occupied by the Group as an
owner-occupied property becomes an investment property,
the Group accounts for such property in accordance with
the policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment
and depreciation” for owned property and/or accounts for
such property in accordance with the policy stated under
“Right-of-use assets” for property held as a right-of-use
asset up to the date of change in use, and any difference
at that date between the carrying amount and the fair
value of the property is accounted for as a revaluation in
accordance with the policy stated under “Property, plant
and equipment and depreciation” above. For a transfer from
completed properties held for sale to investment properties,
any difference between the fair value of the property at that
date and its previous carrying amount is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their
carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a
sales transaction rather than through continuing use. For this
to be the case, the asset must be available for immediate
sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are
usual and customary for the sale of such assets and its sale
must be highly probable.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Non-current assets held for sale (continued)

Non-current assets (other than investment properties and
financial assets) classified as held for sale are measured at
the lower of their carrying amounts and fair values less costs
to sell.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least
at each financial year end.
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2023412 A31H

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Intangible assets (continued)
Software and copyright

Software and copyright are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives of 5 to 10 years.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains
a lease component and non-lease component(s), the Group
adopts the practical expedient not to separate non-lease
component(s) and to account for the lease component
and the associated non-lease component(s) (e.g., property
management services for leases of properties) as a single
lease component.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)
(a)  Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-
use assets are measured at cost, less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received. Where
applicable, the cost of a right-of-use asset also
includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove
the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset
or the site on which it is located. Right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful
lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land
HE L
Buildings

BF

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group
by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects
the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is
calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023F 12 A31H

3. EXRGFHX (&)

HE ()

EEBEREBA (H)

@ EAEEE
EHEEENEER KB H
(AMEREERHERER)
FER - BB ERAAR R
SHTEREMBEREE -

B ERAREENKABER
P26 A Bk 2 AT R E
BE EEENTBEERXAN
REXNOEEFRIBENSEE
MEEEMEREEERSE - £F
RIERT - EREEEMNKA
TERmFHLRBREREES
EEAEEEXEAES A
BRI o (EREEE L E R
ERHE RN EEMN G A&
REH (AREERE)EN
™

40 to 50 years
40E504F

2 to 10 years
2E104F

HEEEENHERENEEN
RBREEBERER - A
RERE B R EREITE - A
REEMAETAIERFENTE
e -

2023 ERE BEFELEERERAT

161



162

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(@)

®)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

When the right-of-use assets relate to interests in
leasehold land held as properties under development
and completed properties held for sale, they are
subsequently measured at the lower of cost and net
realisable value in accordance with the Group’s policy
for “properties under development” and “completed
properties held for sale”. When a right-of-use asset
meets the definition of investment property, it is
included in investment properties. The corresponding
right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, and
subsequently measured at fair value, in accordance
with the Group’s policy for “investment properties”.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The
lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on
an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)
(b)  Lease liabilities (continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After
the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities
is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition,
the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured
if there is a modification, a change in the lease term,
a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index
or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are included in interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings.

(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option). It also
applies the recognition exemption for leases of low-
value assets to leases of office equipment and laptop
computers that are considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of its
leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each component on
a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is
accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms
and is included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss
due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised
over the lease term on the same basis as rental income.
Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in
which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee
are accounted for as finance leases.

At the commencement date, the cost of the leased asset
is capitalised at the present value of the lease payments
and related payments (including the initial direct costs),
and presented as a receivable at an amount equal to the
net investment in the lease. The finance income on the net
investment in the lease is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss so as to provide a constant periodic rate of
return over the lease terms.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Properties under development

Properties under development are intended to be held for
sale after completion.

Properties under development are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value and comprise land costs,
construction costs, borrowing costs, professional fees and
other costs directly attributable to such properties incurred
during the development period.

Properties under development are classified as current
assets unless the construction period of the relevant
property development project is expected to complete
beyond the normal operating cycle. On completion, the
properties are transferred to completed properties held for
sale.

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is
estimated by the directors based on the prevailing market
conditions. Cost is determined by an apportionment of the
total costs of land and buildings attributable to the unsold
properties. Any excess of cost over the net realisable value
of an individual item of completed properties for sale is
accounted for as a provision.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined under IFRS
15 in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group's business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are
held within a business model with the objective to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which
are not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace are recognised on the
trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on the equity investments are also recognised
as other income in the statement of profit or loss when the
right of payment has been established.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a
financial liability or non-financial host, is separated from
the host and accounted for as a separate derivative if the
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related
to the host; a separate instrument with the same terms
as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of
a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured at
fair value through profit or loss. Embedded derivatives are
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in the statement of profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs
if there is either a change in the terms of the contract that
significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be
required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of the
fair value through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing
a financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The
financial asset host together with the embedded derivative is
required to be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at
fair value through profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third-party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement.
In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations
that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to
repay.
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2023412 A31H

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference
between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include
cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit
losses that result from default events that are possible within
the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is
required for credit losses expected over the remaining life
of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort, including historical and
forward-looking information. The Group considers that
there has been a significant increase in credit risk when
contractual payments are more than 90 days past due.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 360 days past due. However,
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at amortised cost are subject
to impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement of
ECLs except for trade receivables and contract assets which
apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not
contain a significant financing component or when the
Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group
applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under
the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based
on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables and contract assets that contain a
significant financing component and lease receivables,
the Group chooses as its accounting policy to adopt the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies as
described above.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, trade payables, or other payables and
accruals as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and in the case of loans and borrowings, amounts due to
related companies and payables, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables, other
payables and accruals, amounts due to related companies
and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other
payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and
interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by
the Company or the Group (treasury shares) are recognised
directly in equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in
the statement of profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue
or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.

Biological assets

Biological assets represent marine animals. They are
measured on initial recognition and at the end of each
reporting period at their fair value less costs to sell. A gain
or loss arising on initial recognition of biological asset at fair
value less costs to sell and from a change in fair value less
costs to sell of a biological asset is included in profit or loss
for the period in which it arises.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis
and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods,
comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be
incurred to completion and disposal.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial
position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-
term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of generally
within three months that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value and held for the purpose of meeting short-term
cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, and short-term deposits as defined above,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can
be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be
reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate
asset, but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.
The expense relating to a provision is presented in the
statement of profit or loss net of any reimbursement.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in the statement of profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations
and practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and an associate,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

HAICHANG OCEAN PARK HOLDINGS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2023

ERGFBEK (B)

FriE%

FEHaENH REEHE - A
B KR AIMER MR B B HENFE
BIRBRRAS - R E RS
P E RS -

R REER BERBRERS
HIRE R ERCEMOTRE (K
BOE) - WEREAEBLLEHMER
RETHRERIES - HBHAA
B EBFT M B X R AR A REFI Y &

EHE -

R BREBOMS - BIEHRIAIA
BEANRENREERAGBHR
HEHEREZFANMEEREHE
[(FEE

B TIIERIN - BLAT A AR & B
ERERETERARE

s MEEREBBERBIFEHKE
HORZ S ERERNEE X
BENAE  BERXIHTH
2T R ER M K&
BATEEESHRERD LA
IHERZE &

o HRNEITEME QR Kk —E
ERAAEHENERRNE K=
B v i BE SR 3 Ol E A = HR
FBSFE - B A R AS R AT BET
RO TR ZHE



MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and an
associate, deferred tax assets are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of
the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2023412 A31H

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either
the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to
be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for
which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited
to a deferred income account and is released to the
statement of profit or loss over the expected useful life of
the relevant asset by equal annual instalments or deducted
from the carrying amount of the asset and released to the
statement of profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation
charge.

HAICHANG OCEAN PARK HOLDINGS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2023

ERGFBEK (B)

Frs®i (&)
EERURAE B R B BB E R R
RE MK B E BHHBE (B
%) RERERREREEREE
B EHMNBEH -

WiEEAREAREERZLAI®R
HIEITEVRER - SENEAT IR B A H
BB A EEE  BRERESR
ENMEEN TR B EERF — A5
SR —R M ERBA A BRI FRE
EEHNHH AR BEREEXRF
EREENFERBNTRERAA
BRHAENEHE - AIRBHER
HPEKRBRELEHRBRBBEREEN
EERKEE - I HECHBAEE
BRER B R BRI

IR 75 B

fief B & 3 A T 75 AT Y BR IR AT 4 G X
NEMAMS RS - ARARER
FER BT B - i BL BRI IR B
B - RIS ERAERL A AN SH R AR
FERIRI NG R et PR AR RS AU as o

AR EERR - AR EER
ANBREWARR - YR BRAEEMF
AERFEREER O HBERS
x> HAEEREENRILEER
PIrERXH ST ABRESER -



MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring
the goods or services to the customer. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception and
constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for
more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer and
the transfer of the promised goods or services is one year
or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in IFRS 15.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(a) Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the
point in time when control of the asset is transferred to
the customer, generally on delivery of the goods.

(b)  Ticket sales

Ticket sales are sales of tickets and rendering of
services in park for tourists. The revenue is recognised
when the relevant services are rendered and the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

()

(@)

(e)

Provision of consultancy, management and recreation
services

Revenue from the provision of design services is
recognised at the point in time when the service
is completed. Revenue from the provision of other
consultancy, management and recreation services is
recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-line
basis because the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

Provision of in-park recreation

Revenue from the provision of in-park recreation is
recognised when the relevant services are rendered
and the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

Hotel operation

Revenue from hotel operation is recognised when
the relevant services are rendered and the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group.
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2023412 A31H

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income in
the accounting period in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right
to receive payment has been established, it is probable
that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will
flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably.

Contract assets

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services
to a customer before being unconditionally entitled to the
consideration under the contract terms, a contract asset is
recognised for the earned consideration that is conditional.
Contract assets are subject to impairment assessment,
details of which are included in the accounting policies for
impairment of financial assets. They are reclassified to trade
receivables when the right to the consideration becomes
unconditional.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received
or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer
before the Group transfers the related goods or services.
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the
Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of
the related goods or services to the customer).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories,
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs
incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are capitalised
as an asset if all of the following criteria are met:

(@@ The costs relate directly to a contract or to an
anticipated contract that the entity can specifically
identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to
satisfy) performance obligations in the future.

(c) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to
the statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis that is
consistent with the transfer to the customer of the goods or
services to which the asset relates. Other contract costs are
expensed as incurred.

Other employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong Kong.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the statement
of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme.
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2023412 A31H

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Other employee benefits (continued)
Pension schemes (continued)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in Chinese Mainland are required to participate in a
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
certain percentages of the salaries of their employees to the
central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to
the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“RMB”). The Company’s functional currency is United
States dollars (“USD”). The Group’s presentation currency
is RMB because the Group’s principal operations are
carried out in Chinese Mainland. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured
using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded
using their respective functional currency rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement
or translation of monetary items are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when
the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on
change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on
the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating
to an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction
is the date on which the Group initially recognises the non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction
date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.

The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries are
currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the
end of the reporting period and their statements of profit
or loss are translated into RMB at the exchange rates
that approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve, except to the extent that the differences
are attributable to non-controlling interests. On disposal of
a foreign operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in
the statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of certain subsidiaries are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the
cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of certain
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated
into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for the
year.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in
the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:

(i) Property lease classification - Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property
leases on its investment property portfolio. The Group
has determined, based on an evaluation of the terms
and conditions of the arrangements, such as the lease
term not constituting a major part of the economic
life of the commercial property and the present value
of the minimum lease payments not amounting to
substantially all the fair value of the commercial
property, that it retains substantially all the significant
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of these
properties which are leased out and accounts for the
contracts as operating leases.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Judgements (continued)

(i)

Classification between investment properties and
owner-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies
as an investment property, and has developed criteria
in making that judgement. Investment property is a
property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a
property generates cash flows largely independently of
the other assets held by the Group. Some properties
comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for
capital appreciation and another portion that is held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services
or for administrative purposes. If these portions could
be sold separately (or leased out separately under a
finance lease), the Group accounts for the portions
separately. If the portions could not be sold separately,
the property is an investment property only if an
insignificant portion is held for use in the production
or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. Judgement is made on an individual
property basis to determine whether ancillary services
are so significant that a property does not qualify as
an investment property.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Judgements (continued)

(iii) Classification between investment properties and
properties held for sale

The Group develops properties held for sale and
properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital
appreciation. Judgement is made by management in
determining whether a property is designated as an
investment property or a property held for sale. The
Group considers its intention of holding the properties
at the early development stage of the related
properties. During the course of construction, the
related properties under construction are accounted
for as properties under development included in
current assets if the properties are intended for
sale after its completion, whereas, the properties
are accounted for as investment properties under
construction included in non-current assets and are
subject to revaluation at the reporting date if the
properties are intended to be held to earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation. Upon completion of the
properties, the properties held for sale are transferred
to completed properties held for sale and are stated
at the lower of cost and net realisable value, while
the properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital
appreciation are transferred to investment properties
and are subject to revaluation at each reporting date.
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2023412 A31H

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key

sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting

period, that have a significant risk of causing a material

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

within the next financial year, are described below.

(i)

(i)

Valuation of properties under development and
properties held for sale

Properties under development and properties
held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. The cost of each unit in each
phase of development is determined by appropriate
apportionment of the total costs of land and buildings
attributable to the properties. The estimated net
realisable value is the estimated selling price less
selling expenses and the estimated cost of completion
(if any), which are estimated based on the best
available information.

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”)

The Group is subject to income taxes in Chinese
Mainland. As a result of the fact that certain matters
relating to income taxes have not been confirmed by
the local tax bureau, objective estimate and judgement
based on currently enacted tax laws, regulations
and other related policies are required in determining
the provision for income taxes. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
originally recorded, the differences will impact the
income tax and tax provisions in the period in which
the differences realise.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the losses can be
utilised. Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that
can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future tax
planning strategies. Further details are contained in
note 17 to the financial statements.

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

In the absence of current prices in an active market
for similar properties, the Group considers information
from a variety of sources, including:

(@) current prices in an active market for properties
of a different nature, condition or location,
adjusted to reflect those differences;
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31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(iv) Estimation of fair value of investment properties

(continued)

(b)

recent prices of similar properties on less
active markets, with adjustments to reflect
any changes in economic conditions since the
date of the transactions that occurred at those
prices; and discounted cash flow projections
based on reliable estimates of future cash flows,
supported by the terms of any existing lease and
other contracts and (when possible) by external
evidence such as current market rents for similar
properties in the same location and condition,
and using discount rates that reflect current
market assessments of the uncertainty in the
amount and timing of the cash flows.

Further details, including the key assumptions used for

fair value measurements, are set out in note 13 to the

financial statements.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for property, plant and equipment
and they are tested for impairment when there are
indicators that the carrying amounts may not be
recoverable.

An impairment exists when the carrying value of an
asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs
of disposal and its value-in-use. The calculation of the
fair value less costs of disposal is based on available
data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market
prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash
flows from the asset or cash-generating unit based on
assumptions including revenue forecasts, gross and
operating margins and choose a suitable discount rate
in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows.
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31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(vi) Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables and contract assets

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate
ECLs for trade receivables and contract assets.
The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments that have
similar loss patterns (i.e., by customer type).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will
calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss
experience with forward-looking information. At each
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates
are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of
ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and
forecast economic conditions. The Group’s historical
credit loss experience and forecast of economic
conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future. The information
about the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables
is disclosed in note 22 to the financial statements,
respectively.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(viij) Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing
rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The
IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have
to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar
security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of
a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects
what the Group “would have to pay”, which requires
estimation when no observable rates are available
(such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into
financing transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted
to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for
example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s
functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR
using observable inputs (such as market interest rates)
when available and is required to make certain entity-
specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-
alone credit rating).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. EAREtHERMLE (8)
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued) A TRERE (&)

(viii) Fair value of financial assets (viii) ZBEEH L EE
The unlisted investments included in the financial FABBBERRAAEBEYEK
assets at fair value through profit or loss have been WERMEEAMNIELTIRE -
valued based on a market-based valuation technique TIREMISHEL A (FER
as detailed in note 40 to the financial statements. B RR M 5E40) 5HE - FHE
The valuation requires the Group to determine the ERAREEETALEANAR
comparable public companies (peers) and select the DR (EZE) MRIZEREE -
price multiple. In addition, the Group makes estimates BESN - REBEE R ET D
about the discount for illiquidity and size differences. PN EEERERHER - &
The Group classifies the fair value of these investments SEHUHERENAABED
as Level 3. Further details are included in note 16 to BEAE=L - E—FSFHBHEN
the financial statements. B MmEMIEE16 -
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised to

business units based on their products and services and

has three reportable operating segments as follows:

(a)

the park operation segment engages in the
development, construction and operation of theme
parks, development of commercial and rental
properties surrounding the theme parks, management
of the Group’s developed and operating properties
for rental income, hotel operation and the provision of
services to visitors;

the property development segment engages in
property development, construction and sales; and

the operation as a service segment engages in the
provision of consultancy, management and recreation
services such as the provision of technical support
service relating to an aquarium and the operation of a
small size playground.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss
before tax.

Segment assets exclude intangible assets, financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, trade receivables,
contract assets, prepayments and other receivables,
deferred tax assets, amounts due from related companies,
pledged deposits and cash and cash equivalents as these
assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities included mainly contract liabilities and
lease liabilities.

No geographical information is presented as over 99% of the
Group’s revenue from external customers is derived from its
operation in Chinese Mainland and over 99% of the Group’s
non-current assets are located in Chinese Mainland.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)
Operating segments

Year ended 31 December 2023

R EE £\ 3z
o= ==08 DB

BAFE IR AR RE

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

# (&)

B ZE2023F12HA31HLEFE

Park Operation Property
operation as a service  operations Total
NEEE EEHNRHK MELE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBMTFT ANRBEFT AREFT AREF7n
Segment revenue (note 6) AEWA (FitzE6)
Sales to external customers HETINDE P RBIA
and total revenue 1,687,376 129,466 - 1,816,842
Total segment revenue AW A L5 1,816,842
Segment results DERELE 444,096 13,359 - 457,455
Reconciliation: HiE -
Unallocated income and gains AOBMA Kz 306,497
Unallocated expenses APEHX (627,476)
Finance costs CUB TN (322,580)
Loss before tax B AT E R (186,104)
2023FERE BEELEEZERERAR

199



200

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5, &&Zo3Ek (8)

(continued)

Operating segments (continued) KeEDE (%)

Year ended 31 December 2023 (continued)

BZE2023F12A31 AL FE (&)

Park Operation Property
operation as a service  operations Total
AEEE EEURB E3-—4 st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARETT AREFT AREFT
Segment assets NEEE 8,710,123 222,061 322,347 9,254,531
Reconciliation: #iE
Corporate and other NEIREMASEEE
unallocated assets 2,268,213
Total assets BEE 11,522,744
Segment liabilities DEEE 226,687 171,481 398,168
Reconciliation: HiE
Corporate and other NEAREMARNEEEE
unallocated liabilities 8,606,214
Total liabilities BafE 9,004,382
Other segment information Hh o # &R
Reversal of impairment losses REERRERR
recognised in the statement BEBERRETE
of profit or loss, net (8,722) - - (8,722)
Depreciation and amortisation TEREHE
Unallocated AP 8,288
Segment DE 361,159 35,798 - 396,957
Capital expenditure* VNG
Unallocated RO 18,745
Segment DE 1,245,984 52,709 - 1,298,693
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OPERATING SEGMENT

(continued)

Operating segments (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2022

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023F 12 A31H

INFORMATION 5. &R&HIER (&)

HE2022F12 A1 HILFEE

Park Operation Property
operation  as a service operations Total
NEZE  ELERS NEEE st

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETT ARETT AREFT

Segment revenue (note 6) D EA (Fii5E6)
Sales to external customers HE TINDE P RERA

and total revenue 748,941 44,047 - 792,988
Total segment revenue DEMABEE 792,988
Segment results DEEE (285,602) 6,874 = (278,728)
Reconciliation: #E -
Unallocated income and gains RO BEWA KW 181,525
Unallocated expenses AR (1,006,322)
Finance costs IRRA (314,864)
Loss before tax PR ATE R (1,418,389)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. &R&HIEE (F)
(continued)

Operating segments (continued) KEDE (48)
Year ended 31 December 2022 (continued) BE2022F12 A1 B ILFE ()
Park Operation Property
operation  as a service operations Total
AEEE  BLIRE mELE st

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Segment assets DEEE 7,316,913 135,320 322,287 7,774,520
Reconciliation: Hi -
Corporate and other NEAREMRDEEE

unallocated assets 2,436,405
Total assets BEE 10,210,925
Segment liabilities DEEE 51,928 81,383 = 133,311
Reconciliation: #Hik -
Corporate and other NEREMRNEEE

unallocated liabilities 7,401,287
Total liabilities BaB 7,534,598
Other segment information Hith ) E &R
Impairment losses recognised RIER R R

in the statement of profit HEEEFE

or loss, net 225,102 - 21,810 246,912
Depreciation and amortisation e REH

Unallocated ADE 3,034

Segment k) 337,999 8,988 - 346,987
Capital expenditure* CNGE

Unallocated AR 4,437

Segment D Ep 787,884 11,817 = 799,701
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant * BARTBEREVE  BERRK

and equipment, investment properties, intangible assets, #H REWX BVEE (£HA%
right-of-use assets and long-term prepayments. BERRKEBEMNIE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B R ER R M
31 December 2023
2023%12 A31H

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. &&HIER (&)
(continued)
Information about major customers EREEEFHNER
No information about major customers is presented as WEZ2JEHEETERFHER R
no single customer from whom over 10% of the Group’s BT HEE P REE20234F
revenue was derived for the year ended 31 December 2023. 12 31 B IEFEEAREERARR
10% °
REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 6. WA - HA R &=
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WADTAT -
2023 2022
20234 20224
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
iofz3 AR¥TFT AREFT
Revenue from contracts with customers FEEFEAIMA 1,791,557 769,217
Revenue from other sources BB M FRHTEA
Gross rental income from investment REBEMFLEHRER
property operating leases: Hel AL 7
Variable lease payments that do not W IR FraBek il %
depend on an index or a rate e YAl S A E 3R 594 372
Other lease payments, HibBERK -
including fixed payments BIEEE 5K 24,691 23,399
Subtotal I 25,285 23,771
Total st 1,816,842 792,988
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(i)

Disaggregated revenue information

For the year ended 31 December 2023

6. WA~ Hlt AR Uz
(&)
REZFFSHHBA

(i) HETHEIUAEZH

HZE2023F12A31ALLEFE

Park Operation
Segments operation as a service Total
nE AEEE EEH MR @st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT AREFT
Types of goods or services EmRREESE
Tickets sales FIRIHE 902,753 - 902,753
Food and beverage sales RmMARmEE 247,577 - 247,577
Sale of merchandise EmHE 140,842 - 140,842
In-park recreation income AP =T PN 177,245 - 177,245
Income from hotel operations REEEZEBEHRA 193,674 - 193,674
Consultancy, management and B BEER
recreation income iz PN = 129,466 129,466
Total HEt 1,662,091 129,466 1,791,557
Geographical market hE TS
Chinese Mainland Bl A 1,662,091 129,466 1,791,557
Timing of revenue recognition YA KBRS
Goods transferred at a point R—ERIETERE R
in time 389,811 - 389,811
Services transferred over time R — B2 R RS 1,272,280 129,466 1,401,746
Total HEt 1,662,091 129,466 1,791,557
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6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B G ERR A

31 December 2023

2023F 12 A31H

6. WA~ Hlt AR Uz
(&)
RKEFEFPEHNNEA (&)

() BoHEHRAEZH (&)
BZE2022F12A31BLFE

Park Operation

Segments operation as a service Total
o HB NEZE  BEIRK st
RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB 000
ANRETFrT ANREFT AREFT
Types of goods or services ERSREESE
Tickets sales PFIRSHE 348,340 = 348,340
Food and beverage sales Rk AmEE 135,851 - 135,851
Sale of merchandise EmigE 55,916 = 55,916
In-park recreation income A i 24U B LT A 84,529 = 84,529
Income from hotel operations KBS & EMRA 100,534 - 100,534
Consultancy, management and 2l EER
recreation income PrELUT A = 44,047 44,047
Total “aEt 725,170 44,047 769,217
Geographical market i & T %
Chinese Mainland AR A 3B 725,170 44,047 769,217
Timing of revenue recognition R A KR
Goods transferred at a point in time R — AR E S 193,216 = 193,216
Services transferred over time R — B2 R RS 531,954 44,047 576,001
Total st 725,170 44,047 769,217
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 6.

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(continued)

WA~ HAth I A KU
(&)
REZFFSHHBA (&)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information (continued) () BZHHPRAEF (E)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue TRETRAREBBARR
recognised in the current reporting period that were FAREHABENESNEE
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of A ABTHEREBEOE T
the reporting period and recognised from performance MmERA WA LR :
obligations satisfied in previous periods:
2023 2022
2023F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FiT AREFTT
Revenue recognised that was included — A& HARI AR T A
in contract liabilities at the beginning BHEERND
of the reporting period: EEREA
Tickets sales FIEHE 51,993 129,424
Income from hotel operations REBIEZERHBRA 35 396
Consultancy, management B BER
and recreation income PN 1,475 3,503
Total st 53,503 133,323
(i) Performance obligations (i) BHELE

Information about the Group’s performance obligations

is summarised below:
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6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(ii) Performance obligations (continued)
Sales of merchandise

The performance obligation is satisfied upon
delivery of the goods and payment by the customer
simultaneously is normally required. There is no right
of return or volume rebate which gives rise to variable
consideration.

Ticket sales

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment in advance is
normally required, except for tickets sold through travel
agencies, where payment is generally due within 30 to
90 days from the delivery of tickets.

Provision of in-park recreation services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment by the customer
in advance before provision of services is normally
required.

Hotel operation

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment by the customer
in advance before provision of services is normally
required.

Provision of consultancy, management and recreation
services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time
as services are rendered and short-term advances
are normally required before rendering the services.
Management service contracts are for periods of one
year or less, and are billed based on the milestone
according to contract terms.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6.

B R ER R M
31 December 2023
2023F 12 A31H

WA~ Bt I A K U=
(%)
REZEFSHHBA (&)

(i) EXEE (&)
EmiH&
EXNEMmAEF —RERK
N - BimEEOEE - X
EEMESIHRENENER
SHRFEEFORER] o

PIZHE
BH B EREZE IR R
W —MRBTRENK - MR
BRITHEEPIERIN - A
R —BRARNPFIERIOE
Q0 H EHf -

FE R EIA 5 SR 7%

JB #) B EBE & 12 AR 75 B0 B )
R —REPANREHRRS
CIBEE AR

B EE

JB #) & 1 BE = He (AR TS A0 B
WE  —RE P AR RERS
EIRERANE /N

AT - BHERELIRE

JB #) B (EFE & 12 AR5 BV B )
e R A —ARATR
RHIRIE - BEEREA R
—FHAT - WIREE KRR
RERHESHARE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)
(ii) Performance obligations (continued)
Provision of consultancy, management and recreation
services (continued)
The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or
partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December are as follows:

WA~ HAth I A KU
(&)
REZFFSHHBA (&)

(i) BRIELE (&)
PR FE  BERABERE
(%)
M12A31BDEERTEA
BECRMERE S RME) #

RSERTREWNT :
2023 2022
20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETRT ARETT

Amounts expected to be TEHR S FE R A
recognised as revenue: IWAREEE
Within one year —F R

264,959 53,503

All the other amounts of transaction prices allocated
to the remaining performance obligations are expected
to be recognised as revenue within one year. The
amounts disclosed above do not include variable
consideration which is constrained.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023%12 A31H

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 6. WA » E#t g A K& W

(continued) (%)
Other income and gains Ha A R s
2023 2022
20234 20224
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

HiE ARE T ARETT

Other income HAKA
Government grants BT B 30 58,870 54,088
Interest income F B2 WA 34,194 19,453
Income from insurance claims RERBRERNUA 10,654 22,746
Dividend income from financial assets #Ei@iEIEAEE

at fair value through profit or loss PR SR A E

Z R EHA 35,548 -

Others H A, 30,021 29,148
Total other income HA A 4258 169,287 125,435
Gains &
Gain on modifications of financial CRBREEETEH

liabilities that do not result in H R,

derecognition BE f U 40,563 56,090
Fair value gains on investment WEMEQDEEWRE

properties 48,647 -
Gain on disposal of an associate HE—MEE QR Was 48,000 =
Total gains g 25 4B e 137,210 56,090
Total other income and gains E b Ug A MUz 4858 306,497 181,525
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

7. LOSS BEFORE TAX 7. BRBIAIEE
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/ REBMB TR EEBRIIE (5t
(crediting): A) AT EIBBER -
2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB000

it AREFT AEETFT

Cost of merchandise sold BEBmKA 79,845 33,913
Cost of services provided* TRt PR A Y A 1,278,891 1,035,708
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment* mE - BEREENE 12 331,385 299,362
Amortisation of intangible assets By EESN 15 8,288 3,034
Direct operating expenses (including repairs and REE S BARREMER
maintenance) arising on rental-earning EREERY
investment properties (BREERRE) 651 2,095
Impairment of financial and contract assets, net: SHEANEEREBFR
Impairment of trade receivables, net BHRKFEREFE 22 950 32,198
Impairment of contract assets, net BREERERE - 52
(Reversal of impairment)/provision of impairment for ST ATERT 5B R H s fElK
financial assets included in prepayments and HEREHMEE (RE
other receivables BE)/ RERE (9,041) 44,112
Total &5t (8,091) 76,362
Depreciation of right-of-use assets* EREEENE 65,572 47,625
Lease payments not included in the measurement of ~ FAAHE B EFEHH
lease liabilities MERK 14(c) 651 2,095
Auditor’s remuneration ZEEE & 5,830 5,730
Employee benefit expense*: EERMAZ" :
Wages and salaries TEKE® 377,756 258,112
Bonuses “ZI 16,149 48,658
Pension scheme contributions (defined RIRGT B (R
contribution scheme) TR 48,367 39,283
Total st 442,272 346,053
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B R ER R M
31 December 2023
2023%12 A31H

LOSS BEFORE TAX (continued) 7. BRBIATEE (8)
2023 2022
2023F 2022F
Notes RMB’000 RMB000
i3 ABETFT AREF
Gain on disposal of an associate & —FRE & A Al (48,000) =
Foreign exchange differences, net N ERFE 13,770 (17,818)
(Reversal of impairment)/provision of impairment for 7 & CalfE#EE )/ HifE
inventories Bl (631) 626
Impairment of property, plant and equipment and R
intangible assets NREREERE - 148,114
Impairment of completed properties held for sale BENENEEXMERE - 21,810
(Gain)/loss on derecognition of leases RIERREEN (k) BB 14 (62) 130
Changes in fair value of investment properties and REMERSEABELEN
investment properties classified as held for sale RBMEZANBEED 13 (48,648) 179,830
Changes in fair value of biological assets EMBERABEZD 24 25 273
Fair value losses of financial assets at fair value BREREAABETIEN
through profit or loss SREEZAABEESE 6,206 =
Rental income EEALON 6 (25,285) (23,771)
Interest income FEHA 6 (34,194) (19,453)
Dividend income from financial assets at fair value FBREREAABETIEN
through profit or loss TREEZRERA (35,548) =
Government grants recognised** B RRBS A 30 (58,870) (54,088)
Income from insurance claims RERBRENKA 6 (10,654) (22,746)
Loss on disposal of items of property, plant and HENE  BERZEAR
equipment, and intangible assets EFEAEHBNER 1,183 3,864
2023FEHRE BEBFEFAREREBRAT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

7. LOSS BEFORE TAX (continued) 7. BR¥AIEE (&)

* Certain amounts of the depreciation of property, plant and * ME - BELEE FHREEEN
equipment, the depreciation of right-of-use assets and the ENREBREFNHAINETEET
employee benefit expense are included in cost of services FTARBRBH A ZH -
provided.

**  Various government grants have been received for park * EMAEFEANMHAEZRNEE
construction and operation in Chinese Mainland. Government FERZERFME o HARRERA
grants received for which related expenditure has not yet 7 X B B Uk BX R AT 4 Bh st A B 7 AR
been undertaken are included in deferred income in the SRR E W A A o I ER I 2
statement of financial position. There are no unfulfilled BN RBITIRES S AREE -

conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. BFFEAA
An analysis of finance costs from continuing operations is as S ERE MBS A o AT
follows: T
2023 2022
2023%F 20224

RMB’000 RMB 000
AREFT ARETT

Interest on bank loans RITER M EMERAF S
and other loans 288,559 290,798
Interest on lease liabilities HEaENT R 9,026 4,370
Total interest expense on WIEEBESZANEBEIERN
financial liabilities not at fair B ENF SR A%E
value through profit or loss 297,585 295,168
Less: Interest capitalised B BARIEFE 27,453 4,556
Subtotal /INET 270,132 290,612
Other finance costs: E B A ¢
Increase in discounted amounts AEEBREMELESRMEE
of financial liabilities arising BEITIR S FEAY I N
from the passage of time 52,448 24,252
Total @zt 322,580 314,864
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for 2023
and 2022, disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)
Regulation, is as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023%12 A31H

9. EERTHAEMERE
EREFTNESHME

EE RITHRAEF R 20234F k2022
FHRMSRBBIMES LR
A ([ EMm#AA]) - BEAREGHIE
383(1)@) * (b) * (c) & (HER A (#
BRESM=ER) RAIE 2 TN
T~

2023 2022
2023 F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AREFT

Fees e 2,001 2,040
Other emoluments: Efe :
Salaries, allowances and e R EEYEA

benefits in kind 4,542 5,911
Retirement benefit scheme BRARAEFIET &R

contributions 104 73
Subtotal INEE 4,646 5,984
Total et 6,647 8,024

2023FEHE BEBIEABERERAF
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION (continued)

(a)

Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors
during the year were as follows:

EREHBESWHE
fri=}
(@) BIKHTES

FAXN FEILIFRTESH
BT

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FiT AREFT

Mr. Chen Guohui BRERE S £ 44 100
Mr. Zhang Meng RE S 44 100
Mr. Wang Jun FEEAE 100 100
Mr. Zhu Yuchen REREE 56 -
Ms. Shen Han LR ET 17 =
Total st 261 300

Mr. Chen Guohui retired as an independent non-
executive director of the Company with effect from 9
June 2023.

Mr. Zhang Meng retired as an independent non-
executive director of the Company with effect from 9
June 2023.

Mr. Zhu Yuchen was elected as an independent non-
executive director of the Company with effect from 9
June 2023.

Ms. Shen Han was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company with effect from 31
October 2023.

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year
(2022: Nil).
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 9.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION (continued)

(o) The chief executive, executive directors
and non-executive directors

B R ER R M
31 December 2023
2023%12 A31H

EERTUABHNERE
TR MEENM S
(ﬁ%)
(b) THAEH  HITESKHF
HITES

Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and benefits scheme Total

Fees inkind  contributions  remuneration
C H&BER RICEA
e ENEH HE 123 ame
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEBTFT AEETFT AEBFT AREFT
Year ended 31 December 2023 BZ2023F 1231 BILEE
Chief executive: THEE
Mr. Qu Naijie BIOALE 400 1,680 18 2,098
Executive directors; nIEE:
Mr. Qu Cheng HifkE 400 1,747 16 2,163
Mr. Zhang Jianbin REMEE 333 955 58 1,346
Mr. Li Kehui FHELE 67 160 12 239
Subtotal gt 800 2,862 86 3,748
Non-executive directors; FHTESE:
Mr. Wang Xuguang TErEE 180 - - 180
Mr. Yuan Bing RERE 180 - - 180
Mr. Li Hao FERE 20 - - 90
Mr. Wu Tongtong RffLE 90 - - 90
Subtotal gt 540 - - 540
Total @it 1,740 4,542 104 6,386
Year ended 31 December 2022 HZE202E12A31BILERE
Chief executive: THEE -
Mr. Qu Naijie ®IALE 400 3,142 - 3,542
Executive directors: BOES
Mr. Qu Cheng Hi2LE 400 1,722 16 2,138
Mr. Zhang Jianbin REHEE 400 1,047 57 1,504
Subtotal gt 800 2,769 73 3,642
Non-executive directors: FHTES
Mr. Wang Xuguang TR EE 180 - - 180
Mr. Yuan Bing RESAE 180 - - 180
Mr. Li Hao BNt 180 = = 180
Subtotal Nt 540 - - 540
Total @t 1,740 5911 73 7,724
2023FEHRE BEBFEFAREREBRAT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION (continued)

(o) The chief executive, executive directors

and non-executive directors (continued)

Mr. Li Hao resigned as a non-executive director of the
Company with effect from 3 July 2023.

Mr. Wu Tongtong was appointed as a non-executive
director of the Company with effect from 3 July 2023.

Mr. Zhang Jianbin resigned as an executive director of
the Company with effect from 17 November 2023.

Mr. Li Kehui was appointed as an executive director of
the Company with effect from 17 November 2023.

There was no arrangement under which a director
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
year.
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION (continued)

(c)

Five highest paid employees

The five highest paid employees during the year
included three directors (2022: three), details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 9(b) above. Details
of the remuneration for the year of the remaining two

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023F 12 A31H

HBHEME R A

9. EENTT
tReHFHNEENHE

(%)
() EEBSHMES
EREABEFMERRE=

ZEE (20226 : =4) ' #®
ERM e FIBH N XK T
9(b) ° LT (20224F : M

(2022: two) highest paid employees who are neither H)WIERNBEEINIEITH
a director nor chief executive of the Company are as B E &= B BNE B /Y F A B
follows: SEEIBEOT :
2023 2022
2023 % 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANEMFrT AREFTL
Salaries, allowances and e EBNEYER
benefits in kinds 2,432 1,705
Retirement benefit scheme RARE N TSR
contributions 86 124
Total Bt 2,518 1,829

The number of non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within
the following band is as follows:

WIEBFNFTHRARNRS
FNEENME N FATEE
BABIT :

Number of employees

EEAH
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4
HK$1,000,001 to 1,000,001 TR
HK$1,500,000 1,500,000 7T 2 1

2023 EHE BEBFLABERERAT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

10. INCOME TAX 10. FriS#t
Provision for PRC corporate income tax has been provided BE20283F12H31HILEFE * HF
at the applicable income tax rate of 25% for the year ended B EHBEEAEERF
31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: 25%) on the AR Y BT B A B &Y FE EE B i A LA
assessable profits of the Group’s subsidiaries in Chinese 25% (2022F12 A31H : 25%) Y
Mainland. EAFGEMREEDL -
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made in HRAMEEELHEREES S B ET
the financial statements as no assessable profit was derived Tiom A - B B BB RS T AR B
from Hong Kong during the years. TP IEL B -
Income tax in the consolidated statement of profit or loss REHEBRERANBFTEH A
represents:
2023 2022
20235 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT

Current — Chinese Mainland: BVER — AR B A
Charge for the year FATH 2,326 2,513
(Overprovision)/underprovision BEFE (BERE), BETE
in prior years (2,750) 10,489
(424) 13,002
Deferred tax (note 17) EIERIE (FEE17) (3,773) (22,533)
Total et (4,197) (9,531)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B R ER R M
31 December 2023
2023F 12 A31H

10. INCOME TAX (continued) 10. Fr8#% (48)
A reconciliation of the tax credit applicable to loss before EREER R &8 B & AIE
tax using the statutory tax rate to the tax expense at the BHRIER G EIZERHERTERN
effective rate is as follows: HIEBRAZMEHRAT
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB 000
AR¥ETT ARKEFT
Loss before tax BRE A& 18 (186,104) (1,418,389)
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 25% L ERR25% (20224 = 25%)
(2022: 25%) SERHIE (46,526) (354,597)
Effect of withholding tax at 5% on the REE P BIKTE A R A 2K EF
distributable profits of the Group's H15%TBINF H & &
PRC subsidiaries - (3,806)
Adjustments in respect of current tax of  FtiBAHIRIA ENERRY B R L ) SR
previous periods (2,750) 10,489
Effect of different tax rates PRBEHZE 8,007 18,699
Income not subject to tax BARBA (553) (105)
Expenses not deductible for tax BRI 6,120 5,280
Tax losses utilised from previous periods  {& FA £ BAF{ 1B /&5 48 (21,322) =
Tax losses not recognised KREROIAEE 39,695 257,908
Temporary difference not recognised RERNEREE 13,132 56,601
Tax credit at the Group’s effective rate ~ EASEEERHEFENTIBRE (4,197) (9,531)
2023FEHRE BEBFEFAREREBRAT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S RS AR B o

31 December 2023
2023412 A31H

10. INCOME TAX (continued)

Tax payables in the consolidated statement of financial
position represent:

10. PTE% (48)
R & OF B 75 AR O 3R R HY FE A B 1B
=2

31 December 31 December

2023 2022
2023 F 20224
12H31H 12 831H
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ABR®TF T

PRC corporate income tax A B 1b S FTIS AR

34,827 33,459

11. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT
The calculation of the basic loss per share amount for the
year is based on the loss attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent, and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 8,104,147,056 (2022: 8,063,334,444) in
issue during the year.
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11. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT (continued)

The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023%12 A31H

M. BRAEEREFAEAR
EERERE ()

BREXAEESBHREATEE

| A

on: R
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥E TR AREFr
Loss B
Loss attributable to ordinary REsTEBRERBR B
equity holders of the parent, TR A AEIGEE
used in the basic loss per share
calculation (197,259) (1,395,911)
Number of shares
EnE 4=
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Shares B’
Weighted average number of ordinary REFHEGRERER
shares in issue during the year FAHE BT BRD
used in the basic loss per MEFHE

share calculation

8,104,147,056 8,063,334,444

There were no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during the
year ended 31 December 2023 and therefore the amount of diluted
loss per share was the same as the basic loss per share amount.

B E2023F12 A1 B ILFEIWED 1T
MEAEFEINEBE  FAitEk#gEs
B RESRENEESEMER -

2023 EHE BEBFLABERERAT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

12. 1% - BERRE

Theme parks Office
and other Building Motor  equipment Live  Construction
buildings  improvements  Machinery vehicles and furniture animals  in process Total
TELER WAZ
L4 £ e RE  REREAR B34 RIE Eh
RMB 100 RMBOI  RMBUI  RMBUR0  RMBUGO  RMBYUOO  RMBYVOO  RMBYO
AGEFT AGEFE  AGETE  ARBTT  AREFR  ARETT  AREFR AREFE
Cost A
At 1 January 2022 R0 E1R1A 4,705,406 269981 1,600893 2,720 309,437 438,587 436378 7818402
Addtions 5 6,240 = 10923 38 15,978 1,253 613,19 647,952
Transfer from investment ERaRENz (H3)
properties (note 1) 101,338 - - - - - - 101,338
Translers L} 112,188 - 4,08 (764) o - (1478) -
Disposals il 2,33) - (12571) (47 (19,818) (6,663) - (43,759)
At 31 December 2022 and RN0E1ANAR
1 January 2023 NBE1A1R 4922842 269981 1,603331 26,842 434874 8312171 84786 8583933
Addtions S5 3965 9,707 24,691 4,841 46,24 2163 1626721 1,787,323
Revaluation surplus Bt R% 29,665 - - - - - - 29,665
Transfer to investment SRERENZ
properties (note 13) (Hzt1a) (147469) - - - - - - (147483
Transfers & 1,437,361 - 493951 - 69,093 - (2,000,405) -
Disposals il (15,909) - (3,148 (1,792) (4,976) (4112 - (29,987)
At 31 December 2023 2023512818 6,230,461 219688 2,118,825 29,801 545,236 448,318 521,102 10,173,521
Accumulated depreciation 2l
At 1 January 2022 10251418 (883,973 (31,183) (899,48) (22,970) (246,138) (105,630) - (2189.292)
Depreciation for the year ERifE (109,952) (3,023 (99,860) () (66,874) (16,880) - (299,362)
Disposals il 233 - 11,085 46 1568 4178 - 19,602
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12. PROPERTY,

(continued)

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023%12 A31H

12. 1% - BB K&t (&)

Theme parks Office
and other Building Motor  equipment Live  Construction
buildings  improvements  Machinery vehicles  and furniture animals ~ in process Total
TELER HE
BT BTEE 8 RE RERER  BtEM ERIR it
RMB 100 RMBOI  RMBUI  RMBURO  RMBUGO  RMBYUOO  RMBYUOO  RMBUOD
AEEFT AREFE  ABEFE  ARETL  AREFR ARETL ARETR AREF
At 31 December 2022 and 120225 12R31AR
1 January 2023 023%1A1H (991,590 (34,206) (988,213 (23.297) (311,454) (120,232) - (2469062
Depreciation for the year EnfE (116,804 (5771 (1177%) 12 (64,420) (15,043 - (33139
Disposals & 1,701 - 1,128 1,689 4,699 312 - 12,337
Transfer to investment BEERANE (HH3)
properties (note 13) 7,302 - - - - - - 7,302
At 31 December 2023 1202312431 A (1,099,301) (49,977)  (1,104,885) (22,320) (371,175) (133,050) - (2,780,79)
Impairment W
At 31 December 2022 and RN2E12ABR
1 January 2023 NB3F1A1A (783,525 2517) (94,085) 2,176) (12.499) (3,287) (50,744) (948,812
Transfer to investment BREERENE (FH3)
properties (note 13) 66,876 - - - - - - 66,876
Disposals ik 12299 - - - 1 - - 12300
Transfers g2 2,387) - - - - - 2387 -
At 31 December 2023 72023% 12431 A (706,737) (2,517) (94,065) (2,176) (12,497) (3,287) (48,357) (869,636)
Net carrying amount RERE
At 31 December 2023 702312431 A 4,424,333 201,194 919,875 5,305 161,564 311,981 a5 6,523,087
At 31 December 2022 1002%12R318 314,721 233,258 520,093 1,369 110922 307,758 844042 5,166,069
2023 EHE BEHEABZERERAF 223
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)

The Group’s parcels of land in Chinese Mainland where the
hotel buildings, parks and other buildings are situated are
held under medium-term leases.

Included in the property, plant and equipment were certain
buildings with a carrying value of RMB2,146,727,000, of
which the property certificates have not been obtained as at
31 December 2023.

At 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s theme
parks, other buildings and machinery with net carrying
amounts of approximately RMB2,336,823,000 (2022:
RMB1,053,871,000) were pledged to secure general bank
and other facilities granted to the Group (note 29).

HAICHANG OCEAN PARK HOLDINGS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2023

12. 1% - BB K&t (&)

AEERTHEAMNBEENE A
B KEMETHENZ R hiZ$
HIHERS -

M BELAKERREA TER
BEABARE2146,727,000 THIHE
F 0 R2023%F12A31H * %%
FHRARNEGEER °

R2023F12 A31H ' AEBEEKRM®
SFEXN A AR2,336,823,0007T
(2022% : AR¥1,053,871,000
T)METEELER  HEF R
RHRETHER  URGBSASEERY
—MRITREAMREE (F17E29) -



13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023%12 A31H

13. REWZ#E

Investment
properties
Investment classified as
properties held for sale
PEREE
RENE HENRENE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT AREFT
At 31 December 2022 and M2022612 A31B &

1 January 2023 2023%1H18 122,477 387,836 510,313
Transfer from property, plant and BRENE  BELE

equipment (note 12) (FftsE12) 73,285 - 73,285
Net gain/(loss) from fair value AREEARNFNE

adjustments (note 7) (&) (E7) 61,587 (12,939) 48,648
At 31 December 2023 12023F12A318 257,349 374,897 632,246
At 31 December 2021 and M20214612 318 &

1 January 2022 2022%1A18 802,800 - 802,800
Additions PN 830 - 830
Transfer to property, plant and BREENE BER

equipment (note 12) F A (HEE12) (101,338) - (101,338)
Transfer to right-of-use assets (note 14) BREGAERE (FZ14) (12,149) - (12,149)
Net loss from fair value adjustments AABEAEN

(note 7) EER (ET7) (179,830) - (179,830)
Reclassification to investment properties BNHBENEARKIE

classified as held for sale HEMRENE (387,836) 387,836 =
At 31 December 2022 R2022F12 A31H 122,477 387,836 510,313

2023FEEH/E FEHELEERERAT 225
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The Group’s investment properties are all commercial
properties in Chinese Mainland. The directors of the
Company have determined that all the investment
properties are commercial properties, based on the nature,
characteristics and risks of each property.

The Group’s investment properties were revalued on
31 December 2023 based on valuations performed by
Cushman & Wakefield Limited — Beijing Branch (“CWK?”), an
independent firm of professionally qualified valuers, using
the income approach. Bi-annually, the Group’s property
manager and the chief financial officer decide to appoint
which external valuer to be responsible for the external
valuations of the Group’s properties. Selection criteria
include market knowledge, reputation, independence and
whether professional standards are maintained. The fair
value represents the amount of market value at which the
assets could be exchanged between a knowledgeable,
willing buyer and a knowledgeable, willing seller in an arm’s
length transaction at the date of valuation. The Group’s
property manager and the chief financial officer have
discussions with the valuer on the valuation assumptions
and valuation results twice a year when the valuation is
performed for interim and annual financial reporting.

The investment properties are leased to third parties under
operating leases, the summary details of which are included
in note 14 to the financial statements.

The Group’s investment properties classified as held for
sale of RMB203,850,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2022:
RMB244,800,000) were pledged to secure bank loans
granted to the Group (note 29).
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13. wEY= (&)

AEBNREMEEH /AN HE
MR EAYE - RARERCH#
EERBEMENMLEE  HEKR
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AEENKEMENR2023F12 4
S1ARBHERITAERAR — kR
21T (BERT]) (A—REXESE
BB HERTT) AR ERE
MEEMER  AEENYELSE
K B 75 48 B SR T R EESNER A E R &
EHAEENYFETINBEE
BEMR  WmEEABEMSHMN
#HoBE CBIUELERAKREAEE
ZEE AABEENHEERBA
BNEERINEEEHF CEER
THEENRZTHEEEFNME
TR ANEBEMYELE R KE
EeRRPBREENERELETT
mER - BEEEMNREERS

HELER  SFMNX -

REMFERBRKEHELHETE=
7 A EFBENTBREN T
14 o

R2023F12A31H @ AEE»
HABELENKREMEARR
203,850,0007T (20224 : AR¥E
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023F 12 A31H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 13. REMZE (1)
Investment properties of approximately RMB257,349,000 M2023F 12 A1 BH AR
(2022: RMB122,477,000) as at 31 December 2023 are 257,349,0007C (20224 : AR¥E
located in Chinese Mainland under medium-term leases. 122,477,0007T) B & ¥ 2 TH L i

RE A RIER MEOFE -

Included in the investment properties and investment REMELRDEABIELHENER
properties classified as held for sale were certain EMELRERETEERED R A
buildings with carrying values of RMB138,321,000 and AR % 138,321,000t X A R#&
RMB140,056,000 respectively, of which the property 140,056,000 TTHI1EF » 12023 4F
certificates have not been obtained as at 31 December 12A318 ' ZFBFRAREEE
2023. 7o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B R ER R M
31 December 2023
2023412 A31H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 13. REWE (&)

Fair value hierarchy NRAEBESHK
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement TRIAREEREMENLRAE
B 2SR -

hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties:

Fair value measurement
as at 31 December 2023 using
ERNT £ER2023%E12A311

ETNARBETE
Quoted

prices Significant Significant

in active observable  unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

RIEBNS EATEE EATUEE

HHE BAHE BABE
(5—%) (B=4) (B=8) @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFT ARHFT AREFT

Recurring fair value measurement for: &M N (BEE
Commercial properties ik IES - - 632,246 632,246
Fair value measurement
as at 31 December 2022 using
ERATRIER20224612 4311
ETNARBEE
Quoted

prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

RGBT BEAABE  EATABER

WRE BARR BARUR
(B—%) (5=8) (=) @t
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000
AREFT AREF AREFT AREF

Recurring fair value measurement for: &AL EEE :

Commercial properties BREYE - - 510,313 510,313

RER F—R/ENE_BRARBE
SrESAzETEER  IEER
HEEE =N (20224 « #) o

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 (2022: Nil).

228 HAICHANG OCEAN PARK HOLDINGS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2023



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023F 12 A31H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 3. REW= (i)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) NREBEEZER(E)
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within PHEEANBESFSLE=ZTANNQ
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: AEETEREER

31 December 31 December

2023 2022
2023 % 20224
12H31H 12 431 H
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

Carrying amount at 1 January ®1 A1 BREREE 122,477 802,800
Additions b7 - 830
Transfer from property, HEAYE HER

plant and equipment (note 12) ol (EE12) 73,285 =
Transfer to property, HEEME  BER

plant and equipment (note 12) =i (FiaE12) = (101,338)
Transfer to right-of-use RSP RAEEE

assets (note 14) (FzE14) - (12,149)
Reclassification to investment BENOBEIBARIELE

properties classified as held RESE= S

for sale - (387,836)
Net gain/(loss) from fair value REBEmAPHlE (EAX)

adjustments recognised in gains/ Tﬂﬁ% AN EERARE

(other expenses) in profit or loss &=,/ (BE) 38 61,587 (179,830)
Carrying amount at 31 December K12 A31 BREEHEE 257,349 122,477
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 13. BEWE (1)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) AREBEZHR ()
Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the UWTAKRENMEGLERMANGES
key inputs to the valuation of investment properties: EREBBAZBIBEZME -
Valuation Significant Range or
technique unobservable inputs weighted average
fHER*E BERTUEHRHEAYE EESNEFITE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Commercial properties Income method Market monthly rental
(RMB/sqg.m. or RMB/space) 36-88 34-154
iR ES W ASE misEARE (AR
FHKIARET HEE)
Term yield 4.5%-6.0% 4.5%-6.0%
AR e as ==
Market yield 5.0%-6.5% 5.0%-6.5%
R EE:S
Under the income method, fair value is estimated using BIEBEWAE  AABEDNRAER
assumptions regarding the benefits and liabilities of EESTHNAAEREKREEBENR
ownership over the asset’s life including an exit or terminal FETHEF (BREBRLEEIZHE
value. This method involves the projection of a series of B) c R EH R EE RN — &
cash flows on a property interest. A market-derived discount REESREMTEN - MIHFTENR
rate is applied to the projected cash flow in order to REBFANREARES RENEREL
establish the present value of the income stream associated HEERBANBARKIRE

with the asset.
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13.

14.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The duration of the cash flows and the specific timing of
inflows and outflows are determined by events such as rent
reviews, lease renewal and related reletting, redevelopment
or refurbishment. The appropriate duration is driven by
market behaviour that is a characteristic of the class of
property. The periodic cash flow is estimated as income
less non-recoverable expenses, collection losses, lease
incentives, maintenance costs, agent and commission costs
and other operating and management expenses. The series
of periodic net operating income, along with an estimate of
the terminal value anticipated at the end of the projection
period, is then discounted.

A significant increase (decrease) in the market monthly rental
in isolation would result in a significant increase (decrease)
in the fair value of the investment properties. A significant
increase (decrease) in the discount rate in isolation would
result in a significant decrease (increase) in the fair value of
the investment properties.

LEASES
The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of land,
buildings and other equipment used in its operations. Lump
sum payments were made upfront to acquire the leased
land from the owners with lease periods of 40 to 50 years,
and no ongoing payments will be made under the terms of
these land leases. Leases of buildings generally have lease
terms between 2 and 10 years. Other equipment generally
has lease terms of 12 months or less and/or is individually of
low value. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning
and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13.

14.

B R ER R M
31 December 2023
2023F 12 A31H

REW= (&)
D[ABESHR(E)
RenEnHERREKRABNR
HENEBRHEDAFENES R
A MMEREREREE B
B ERMHRTE - BENFERRE
XmBTR (BYERRO— @R
H)FE  THRERSRELEAH
BRAREKER - WikEXL HE
RE) - HEER RKENESER
REMSEMERERMGHE - 2 —
BERFHRERAEE - ER AR
RBAPRER 2 KmEEMATS
| HERE-

TS AT S & EEARE N O
L) B BEENEN DA BEARE
00 ()  FR K EBAEL
(RD) S EBRE ML DA BE
KD (10) °

HE

AEBEREBEA
AEERZEREEEERN L
- BFREMRETAEHEAS
# o AEBERN—FBHIARE
BAKEEE L HERR4I0E
504 @ RIBEMF T HEEMN KRR
BASREXNKE - BTHED
HEM—MRB2E10F « HithikB
MEEH-—RAB1I2EAIA TR
HEHBEEERE - —KRME A&
B AAAASEEAIALTEZE LD
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

14. LEASES (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

14. HE (5&)
REBEREBA ()

(a) Right-of-use assets (a) EAREZE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use AEEFAEEENREER
assets and the movements during the year are as FRNEEFHAT :
follows:
Leasehold
Buildings land Total
EF HELH st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETFT ARETFT
As at 1 January 2022 202261 A1 H 51,710 1,396,518 1,448,228
Additions IR 88,414 - 88,414
Transfer from investment BREERENE

properties (note 13) (Ffi3E13) = 12,149 12,149
Depreciation charge WERZ 21,311) (38,359) (59,670)
Revision of a lease term arising AR —BHEN A THE

from a change in the HiIR 1 37 &

non-cancellable period of a lease EETHE! (12,405) - (12,405)
As at 31 December 2022 and 2022612 H31B &

1 January 2023 2023%F1A1H 106,408 1,370,308 1,476,716
Additions B 75,430 13,647 89,077
Depreciation charge WERZ (38,751) (38,383) (77,134)
Revision of a lease term arising AR—BREN TR

from a change in the MR R EE

non-cancellable period of a lease PABUERTEE 1 (4,144) - (4,144)
As at 31 December 2023 $2023%12 A31H 138,943 1,345,572 1,484,515
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14. LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(a) Right-of-use assets (continued)

(b)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14,

Certain of the Group’s right-of-use assets with a
carrying value of RMB1,228,254,000 were pledged
to secure bank loans granted to the Group at 31
December 2023 (2022: RMB825,641,000) (note 29).

Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included under

interest-bearing bank and other borrowings) and the

movements during the year are as follows:

B R ER R M
31 December 2023
2023F 12 A31H

ME (&)

AEBEAEEA ()

(a) EHEZE (&)
R2023%F12A31H &
EEETEEEARARY
1,228,254,0007T (20224 :
AR¥825,641,0007T) M{E
AEEEDSRASEERAIR
FTER T AR (BI5E29) ©

(b) HEEME
HEAE(MAGERITRA
ttERIET) MREE R F R
ZET

31 December 31 December

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
12H31H 12 H31H
RMB’000 RMB 000
AR¥TFT AREFT
Carrying amount at 1 January A1 A1 BEREREE 118,563 60,365
New leases FIZHE 72,806 88,414
Accretion of interest recognised F R
during the year F B3 0 9,026 4,370
Payments (NES (40,085) (22,311)
Revision of a lease term arising AR —IBEHEEN T
from a change in the BEIHIR H3R 28
non-cancellable period of a lease LAB(E 5T & A (4,206) (12,275)
Carrying amount at 31 December K12 A31 BREREE 156,104 118,563
Analysed into: DA
Current portion MENEB D 35,087 25,833
Non-current portion SERENE o 121,017 92,730

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in

note 40 to the financial statements.

MEBBNRIBOT R %R
KIS0 TR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

14. LEASES (continued) 14.

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to
leases are as follows:

ME (&)

REBERAEA ()

(c) MNERTHEREEBEFENT
AT ¢

2023 2022

2023 F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AREFT

Interest on lease liabilities HERENS 9,026 4,370
Depreciation charge of EREEENTERX

right-of-use assets 65,572 59,670
Expense relating to short-term HEHHEERENRY

leases (included in cost of sales (GTASHER AR

and administrative expenses) THRERA) 651 2,095
Total amount recognised in profit or loss P IEZE A FER K 4258 75,249 66,135

(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note
34(c) to the financial statements.

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 13)
consisting of commercial properties in Chinese Mainland
under operating lease arrangements. The terms of the
leases generally require the tenants to pay security deposits
and provide for periodic rent adjustments according to the
then prevailing market conditions. Rental income recognised
by the Group during the year was RMB25,285,000 (2022:
RMB23,711,000), details of which are included in note 6 to
the financial statements.
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14. LEASES (continued)
The Group as a lessor (continued)

At 31 December 2023, the undiscounted lease payments

receivable by the Group in future periods under non-

cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B R ER R M
31 December 2023
2023F 12 A31H

14. HE (&)

AEEEBHBAA (B)
MR2023F12 A31H » A5 EIRE
HEMAFPZHNTAFHECENE
A SR 2R HA i B U 0 SR 4T R A & A5 3K
WF

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMFIT AREFT

Within one year —F R 7,582 13,723
After one year but within two years —FEREMEAN 6,813 11,176
After two years but within three years MEREB=FKX 4,738 9,312
After three years but within four years —FEBEFEA 3,574 6,173
After four years but within five years MERERFRN 2,112 5,597
After five years hFE 437 2,681
Total st 25,256 48,662
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15. B EE
Intangible assets comprise computer software and copyright BEEEREAFERERASER
with useful lives of 5 to 10 years. The movements in 10FMEMEFERRE - BFEE
intangible assets are analysed as follows: BEBOHTAT -
2023 2022
2023 % 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT

Software and copyright B R R
At 1 January: M1A1E
Cost PR 43,784 39,347
Accumulated amortisation 2iEHH (30,360) (26,962)
Impairment A (1,741) =
Net carrying amount IREDFE 11,683 12,385
Cost at 1 January, net of A1 A1 BERIKA
accumulated amortisation and impairment ks 2 #H KORE 11,683 12,385
Additions BR 18,745 4,437
Amortisation provided during the year NS (8,288) (3,034)
Impairment during the year FRRE = (1,741)
Disposal s - (364)
At 31 December, net of Mm12H318 -
accumulated amortisation and impairment ks 25 # KO E 22,140 11,683
At 31 December: K12H318 :
Cost B R 62,529 43,784
Accumulated amortisation 2R (38,648) (30,360)
Impairment BIE (1,741) (1,741)
Net carrying amount IREDFE 22,140 11,683
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16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023F 12 A31H

31 December

31 December

2023 2022
2023% 20224
12A31H 12H318
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®F AREFT
Financial assets at fair value ERBREANEERE
through profit or loss RN EE
Current B
Bank structured product, at fair value RITEBUER BAAEE - 4,000
Unlisted investments, at fair value FEMERE  BANEE 109,514 106,120
Total st 109,514 110,120

31 December

31 December

2023 2022
2023 20224
12A31H 12A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREF ARKFr
Non-current FETED
Unlisted investments, at fair value FEETRE AN EE 36,915 54,900

The above investments at 31 December 2023 were
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss as the Group has not elected to recognise the fair value
gain or loss through other comprehensive income.

S 51A -

2023 EHE BEBFLABERERAT

LA 202312 A31 BHRIRE D
BAEEBEREANEAENENS
MEE  RARASEWERIZE
BEMEEREERALEBERE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

The Group held a 9% equity interest in an unlisted company,
RAPEEBEE AR AR (“Zhongjie Property”) in Chinese
Mainland. The principal business of Zhongjie Property is the
development and sale of properties.

The Group invested in an unlisted unit trust fund. The
management of the Company considers to dispose of the
investment and classifies it as a current asset.

The Group held a 2.45% equity interest in an unlisted
company, NKiEBERIREXERAER AR (“Jiayue Property
Development”) in Chinese Mainland. The principal business
of Jiayue Property Development is the development and
management of properties.

The Group held a 10% equity interest in K& 18E XL BHZ AR
MAMR AR (“Betop Culture Technology”), a company listed
on the New Over-the-Counter Market in Chinese Mainland.
The principal business of Betop Culture Technology is the
provision of comprehensive solutions for high-tech cultural
tourism projects. The directors of the Company considers to
dispose of the investment and classified it as current asset.

The Group held a 5% equity interest in an unlisted company,
EEBMREEER AR (“Gangchang Property”) in Chinese
Mainland. The principal business of Gangchang Property is
the development and management of properties.

The Group held a 19.5% equity interest in an unlisted
company, EBEEREZERBRAAE (“Yuchang
Corporation Development”) in Chinese Mainland. The
principal business of Yuchang is the development and
management of properties.
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16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

The Group previously held a 20% equity interest in an
associate, KA ELEGF AEBRAF (“Changsha Park”)
which is an unlisted company in Chinese Mainland. The
principal business of Changsha Park is the operation of an
aquarium. During the year, the Group partially disposed
of the equity interest in this associate. At 31 December
2023, the Group held 8% equity interest and classified this
investment as a financial instrument through profit or loss.
The directors of the Company considers to further dispose
of the remaining equity interest in this investment and
classified it as current assets.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B R ER R M
31 December 2023
2023%12 A31H
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B R ER R M
31 December 2023
2023412 A31H

17. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets are as

17. EIERIBEE BfF

follows:
Deferred tax liabilities ELEMIEEE
Fair value
adjustments Temporary
of financial differences
assets at fair resulting from
value through  Withholding Interest  Rental income  Right-of-use fair value
profit or loss tax capitalised recognised assets changes Total
FBRLRE
MAEESIRM AMEE
SHEEN SHELN
MEERR B8 ERLAS EEIEEHA fEREEE  ERtEE @t
RMB000 RMB000 RMB’000 RMB 000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
AREFE  ARETR AREFR AREFT ABETE  AREFT  ARETR
Asat 31 December 2021
2021 12A31H 2,107 4,429 1,819 350 = 71,726 81,081
Effect of adoption of BB @51 ER
amendments to [AS ~ E125% 2318
12 (note 2.3(c)) 72 (hF2.30) - - - - 12,028 - 12,028
At 1 January 2022 R202%1R18
(restated) (@ &%) 2,707 4,429 1819 350 12,928 71,726 93,959
(Credited)/charged RERET
to the statement (TA)/ 1k
of profit or loss (mE5)
(restated) (note 10) (HE10) - (4,429) - 1,629 13,674 (23,39) (12,522)
Asat31December  H2022%
2022 and 12318k
1 January 2023 2023%F1A1H
(restated) (&5 2,707 - 1819 1,979 26,602 48,330 81437
Charged to the RERRH
statement of profit or 418 (f&£10)
loss (note 10) 2,945 - - 661 8,134 12,141 23,881
Recognised inother ~ MEMZENE
comprehensive B
income - - - - - 7416 7416
Gross deferred tax 202312431
liabiltes as at 31 MEERA
December 2023 BfEEE 5,652 - 1,819 2,640 34,736 67,887 112,734
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023%12 A31H

17. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES 17.EEMHEEE &6 (&)
(continued)

Deferred tax assets BEERIBEE
Losses
available for Impairment
offsetting of financial Accruals
against future Lease  Government  and contract and other
taxable profits liabilities grants assets payables Total
At RNEH
ARERH EHRAH EH&RR
vl HELE EGiteES BENE  AfEAE @it

RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
ARETR AERTR AERTR AERTT ARRTR ARETR

As at 31 December 2021 00014128318 - - 2719 4523 22490 29,73
Effect of adoption of AR e EYE 1%

amendments to IAS 12 Zié?}ﬁﬁ?ﬁ%

fnote 2.3() (Fiz23()) - 12,998 - : - 12,998
AT January 2022 (restated) 202251 A1 (251 - 12,08 2,719 1523 2 490 12,660

Credited/(charged) to the RERFRIA /(%)
statement of profit or loss (& =3)) (HH10)
(restated) (note 10) 3,331 13,674 (2,190) (789) (4,015) 10,011

As at 31 December 2022 and ~ R2022F12R318 K

f Janvary 2023 festated)  2023%1A 1R (4E3) 3331 26,60 529 3734 18,475 52,671
Credited/{charged) to the RERFPA /()

statement of profit or loss (FE10)

(note 10) 20,236 8,134 (529) 955 (1,142) 217,654

Gross deferred tax assets as at 12023512 531 B#)
31 December 2023 ERREEELS 23,567 34,736 - 4,689 17,333 80,325
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

—_|=

17. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES 17.EEfHEEE &6 (&)
(continued)

Deferred tax assets (continued) RIEMIEEE (8&)

For the purpose of the financial statement presentation, RHBHMEOZ2INAAME - HT
certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset. BEERIBEERBED THEE - N
The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of T AR ERE B & A EBR
the Group for financial reporting purposes: EFRTBERIER R DT

31 December 31 December

2023 2022

2023%F 20224
12H31H 12 A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT AEETFT

Net deferred tax assets recognised RE FFBEMAETA

in the consolidated statement of B R

financial position FRERIBEEE 34,136 14,263
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised REFIHEARREA

in the consolidated statement of B R

financial position FRERIER B (66,545) (43,029)

(32,409) (28,766)
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17. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES
(continued)

Deferred tax assets (continued)

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
the following items:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B R ER R M
31 December 2023
2023F 12 A31H

EEBIEEE 8E (E)
BEHIBEE (8)
TERATSERRELEHIEE
B

31 December 31 December

2023 2022
2023 20224
12H31H 12A318
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TFT AE®TT

Tax losses HiIiaEa 1,610,491 2,786,556
Deductible temporary differences AR E R R 1,240,526 1,187,998
2,851,017 3,974,554

In accordance with the Hong Kong laws and regulations,
tax losses arising in Hong Kong are available indefinitely for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in
which the losses arose. In accordance with the PRC laws
and regulations, tax losses arising in Chinese Mainland
could be carried forward for a period of five years to offset
against future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets have not
been recognised in respect of the above items as it is not
considered probable that taxable profits will be available
against which the above item can be utilised.

BREBEBEBNEERRER  REBE
ARHIEEEAERASENAR
HEHE X BEMNA RN R R EZRR
A o AREBEREAERRER R
hEAMEENFEBENAER
ium%ﬁ%%ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂom

TR B E] BE A FE R Bl w7 7] (R &
ﬁHLALIﬁ B - WIS EIE B
RIELEHIBEE °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

17.

18.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES
(continued)

Deferred tax assets (continued)

The Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Chinese
Mainland in respect of earnings generated from 1 January
2008. The applicable rate is 5% for the Group.

Pursuant to a resolution of the board of directors of the
Company, the Group’s subsidiaries will not distribute
earnings derived up to 31 December 2013. The aggregate
amount of temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland for which
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled
approximately RMB44,572,000 as at 31 December 2023
(2022: RMB44,572,000).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of the Group’s assets pledged for the Group’s bank
and other borrowings are included in note 29 to the financial
statements.
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19. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR
SALE

The Group’s properties held for sale are situated in the
PRC. All the properties held for sale are stated at the lower
of cost or net realisable value.

20. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19.

20.

B R ER R M
31 December 2023
2023%12 A31H

FEHENE B RYE

AEEFIERENMRUNFE -
PTERIEL SN RIRK A KA &
BEENBIEETIR

BRPYIE
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
2023 20224
12A31H 12A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® TR AE®TT

Carrying amount at 1 January ®1A1ERNEREE 299,789 299,789
Additions N 60 =
Carrying amount at 31 December W12 A31 HREREE 299,849 299,789
Less: Non-current portion B FEREIER D 299,849 299,789
Current portion mENEB D - =

The properties under development are located in Chinese
Mainland with lease terms of 40 years.

ERPYEMRPBEAND  HEH
BA0E o

2023FEHE BEBIEABERERAF
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

21.

22.

INVENTORIES 21. 78

31 December 31 December
2023 2022
2023F 20224
12A31H 12 A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARETFr
Merchandise Gl 54,975 33,212
Provision for impairment BB R (838) (1,469)
Net carrying amount R FE 54,137 31,743

TRADE RECEIVABLES g 5 BWFIE
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
2023 20224
12A31H 12 A31H
RMB’000 RMB 000
ARBEFTT AREFT
Trade receivables H 5 WA 99,831 103,878
Less: Provision for doubtful debts B REREAE 53,622 56,281
Net carrying amount BREFE 46,209 47,597

The Group’s trading terms with its institutional customers
and tenants are mainly on credit. The credit period is
generally one month, extending up to three months for
major customers. Each customer has a maximum credit
limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables and has a credit control department
to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by senior management. At 31 December 2023, the
Group had certain concentrations of credit risk as 34.14%
(2022: 34.76%) of the Group’s trade receivables were due
from one of the Group’s debtors. Trade receivables are non-
interest-bearing.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B R ER R M
31 December 2023
2023%12 A31H

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 22. B S EWFIE (&)
An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of BORBABEBRRMEARENESR
the reporting period, based on the invoice date, net of loss BHIREBEBENRR ST
allowance, is as follows: T
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
2023 20224
12A31H 12 A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFT AREFT
Within 90 days 90H N 27,299 9,436
Over 90 days and within one year @0 H R1FA 1,339 6,534
Over one year BiE1F 17,571 31,627
Total st 46,209 47,597
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of 2P REWRIBREREERENE
trade receivables are as follows: O
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
2023 2022
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETFTT
At beginning of year REH] 56,281 44,499
Impairment losses, net BB R R 950 32,198
Amount written off as uncollectible B s A E R 2 58 (3,609) (20,416)
At end of year RER 53,622 56,281
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The increase in the loss allowance was due to the following
significant changes in the gross carrying amount:

(i) Increase in the loss allowance of RMB950,000 (2022:
RMB32,198,000) as a result of the allowance provided
for certain trade receivables; and

(i) Decrease in the loss allowance of RMB3,609,000
(2022: RMB20,416,000) as a result of the write-off of
certain trade receivables.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on ageing for groupings of
various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e.,
by customer type). The calculation reflects the probability-
weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable
and supportable information that is available at the reporting
date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.
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22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision
matrix:

As at 31 December 2023

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023F 12 A31H

22. BE5RWFIE (&)
BT 87 7 4R L £ PR 6 B R A
B 5 MR AR R A
K

M2023F12H31H

Ageing
R e
Over
90 days
Within and within Over
90 days one year one year Total
EiE90H &
90H R 1R BB st
Expected credit loss rate ~ TEAME BB B X 9.28% 76.61% 72.55% 53.71%
Gross carrying amount IREARE
(RMB’000) (ARETIT) 30,090 5,724 64,017 99,831
Expected credit losses FEHEEEE
(RMB’000) (AREETIT) 2,791 4,385 46,446 53,622
As at 31 December 2022 MR2022F12 A31H
Ageing
AREe
Over
90 days
Within and within Over
90 days one year one year Total
#3890 H &
90H A 1R HiE1F e
Expected credit loss rate ~ FAERZEEEXR 8.22% 34.49% 80.22% 54.18%
Gross carrying amount IRMEEE
(RMB’000) (AREBTIT) 26,665 17,173 60,040 103,878
Expected credit losses TEH (=B &8
(RMB’000) (AREFT) 2,191 5923 48,167 56,281
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

23. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 23 fJAaffzm@EgEMEkEE
RECEIVABLES

31 December 31 December

2023 2022
2023 20224
12A31RH 12A81H
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT AE®TT

Prepayments for constructions e S EUNE O E 76,544 126,381
Land prepayment T IBAFRIB 63,700 63,700
Prepaid expenses A 77,104 66,525
Earnest deposit for acquisition of WHENBARHES
subsidiaries 101,875 100,000
Deductible or refundable value added tax  A] $1 3k AJ iR [E] S (E i 88,946 24,486
Receivable for proceeds from disposal of — EUH &1 —RE#E QR
an equity interest in an associate % ¥ FT 1S 5K I8 33,600 =
Deposit for an additional capital injection — {E/&JEIERAEZEIFH A
as a non-controlling equity holder BINFEMIES 44,813 395,000
Custodian deposits for Company’s shares AR ml#EEIBERRD E B
to be repurchased RES - 35,787
Other deposits and receivables* E e MR FRIE 93,917 436,360
Due from related companies e NI R 3,347 10,877
583,846 1,259,116
Less: Non-current portion B FEmENE S 146,630 217,648
Total 4@t 437,216 1,041,468
Provision for impairment BB (41,529) (50,570)
Net carrying amount IREVFE 395,687 990,898
* The amount includes construction guarantee funds, bidding * ZABEOFEEBERERIEEEAN
deposits and cash deposits relating to project construction ERRES  BRERSRBESER
works which are refundable after constructions, and other (BERBEAIREREBERE) A RE
miscellaneous receivables. th 3R T8 FE U FRIR ©
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23. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER

RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Expected credit losses are estimated by applying a loss
rate approach with reference to the historical loss record of
the Group. The loss rate is adjusted to reflect the current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions, as
appropriate. The loss rate applied as at 31 December 2023
ranged from 9% to 100% (2022: 8% to 88%).

The balance of prepayments as at 31 December 2023
includes long-term prepayment of RMB63,700,000 to a
related company (2022: RMB63,700,000).

The amounts due from related companies are interest-free,
unsecured and repayable on demand. The carrying amounts
of these balances approximate to their fair values due to
their relatively short maturity terms.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23.

B R ER R M
31 December 2023
2023F 12 A31H

FEARIERH M E WA
(%)
BHEEEEERERABEXAE
SEREEBEMNEBBLEEIEL G
e BEIRNEEETFUAE L
RBLE BB &R R EA R TE
Bl o $2023F12 A31 8 » FiiRHE
MEBBENTI%ZE100% (2022
F :8%%E88%) °

R2023F 12 A31 B AN RIEL
BHEEn—EERARENNES
FIEAR¥63,700,0007T (2022
& : AR¥63,700,0007T) °

ZERWEB AR RBER TR
BEMLERERKER - A2
HEBAYERE  2FEHRNEREE
HERNABEMRS -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

24. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS 24. =Y EE
Sea lions Seals Dolphins Total
iy il &5 g7 st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB 000

AEETT ARETFT ARBTFT ARBTFT

At 31 December 2022 and 1202212 A31 B &

1 January 2023 2023F1A1H 5,756 524 700 6,980
Net gain from fair value AREEAED

adjustments (note 7) s (BHaE7) 4 21 - 25
At 31 December 2023 1202312 A31H 5,760 545 700 7,005

At 31 December 2021 and R2021512 A31H Kk

1 January 2022 20221 A1H 5,773 234 700 6,707
Net gain from fair value NAEEREN

adjustments (note 7) T (HEE7) 17) 290 = 273
At 31 December 2022 12022%12A31H 5,756 524 700 6,980
The biological assets of the Group are all marine animals AEBWNEYMEERTETRBEAME
at various stages of development in Chinese Mainland, KRR EEENTBESFEEY -
including sea lions, seals and dolphins which are classified BREEW - BHNKEK - B AR
as current assets. The quantities of sea lions, seals and MBEE ~ N2023F K » NEH
dolphins owned by the Group at the end of 2023 are as FrEa®Em 8 KK EEm
follows: T

31 December 31 December

2023 2022

20234 2022 4

12A31H 12A31H

Head Head

L] g8

Sea lions e i 11 11
Seals B 6 6
Dolphins K 1 1
Total FEE 18 18
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24. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)

The Group is exposed to a number of risks related to its

biological assets. The Group is exposed to the following

operating risks:

(i)

Regulatory and environmental risks

The Group is subject to laws and regulations in the
location in which it operates breeding of sea lions,
seals and dolphins. The Group has established
environmental policies and procedures aiming at
complying with local environmental and other laws.
Management performs regular reviews to identify
environmental risks and to ensure that the systems in
place are adequate to manage these risks.

Climate, disease and other natural risks

The Group’s biological assets are exposed to the risk
of damage from climatic changes, diseases and other
natural forces. The Group has extensive processes in
place aiming at monitoring and mitigating those risks,
including regular inspections, disease controls and
insurance.

The Group’s biological assets were revalued on 31
December 2023 based on valuations performed,
using the market approach or income approach,
at RMB7,005,000. The fair value represents the
amount of market value at which the assets could be
exchanged between a knowledgeable, willing buyer
and a knowledgeable, willing seller in an arm’s length
transaction at the date of valuation. The Group’s
conservation manager and the chief financial officer
have discussions on the valuation assumptions and
valuation results twice a year when the valuation is
performed for interim and annual financial reporting.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B G ERR A
31 December 2023
2023F 12 A31H

24 QEEF@ F (IIE
AEEEEZEEEEYMEERHA
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7o
oo
AA

(i)

AREBEERIATELER

EERRRERER
ZIKE@/,\LTTﬁZ«(%/i?EW s
o $§%E%‘JELAF}E\E§
WIRIR R EMED &R B IREVIR
BRENEF - BEEEHE
TIRET - AREE R E e [ FE
RERUMNERENE RIS
N

Rix - FRKkEAME AR
B
AEENEYEERLRIKE

1t~ KR EEMBRNEFTE
REOBEERR - XEEREE
WHIMEBNER R ERA R
fe - BIEEHRE - KRIE
N ARRR o

AEBREMEENR20234F
12 A31 BIRBEHEAMIH A
WAERTEREmME-BAA
R #7,005,0007t - AAEE
EREEEBBRANBENEER
SHEBEEEH ZREATER
MZXESFBEEEFHMES
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M BEeRN R R FEY
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B R ER R M
31 December 2023
2023412 A31H

24. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s biological assets:

24. £¥)EE ()
ARBEER
TRIAAEENENEENDR
BESRER

Fair value measurement
as at 31 December 2023 using
FEAUTBIENR2023F12A31 HETHWAAEBETE

Quoted

prices in Significant Significant

active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

RERT S BEATEE EBEAFAEE
KR E BAHE WABE @st

(B—-%) (B=&) (B=R)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARHE T ABEFT AREFT AREF

Recurring fair value EEERAREE
measurement for: e

Biological assets EMEE - 1,926 5,079 7,005

Fair value measurement
as at 31 December 2022 using
FERU T SIER2022F 12 A31 BTN AR EBE =

Quoted
prices in Significant Significant
active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
& BT 5 BAAHE BATAER
H)3R(E BAHE BARE st
(F—8&) (F=H) (BE=H)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEETT AEETFT AEETT AEETFT
Recurring fair value mEMAREE
measurement for: e
Biological assets EMEE - 1,901 5,079 6,980

HAICHANG OCEAN PARK HOLDINGS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2023



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023F 12 A31H

24. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued) 24. £EE (&)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) NREBEEZER(E)
During the year ended 31 December 2023, there were no REE2023F 12 A31HIEFE -
transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and F—RBERE_RRAABEAEZH
Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3. WS  TEEEEaE =R -
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within PEEAABEERE=ZFANA
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: AEETEREER -

31 December 31 December

2023 2022
20234 20224
12H31H 12A31H

RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT

Carrying amount at 1 January B A1 BREREE 6,980 6,707
Net gain from fair value adjustments FAE 7 FR B EL ) Ul 2 R A

recognised in other income in profit or loss ~ ARBEAEKZS FEE 25 273
Carrying amount at 31 December R12 A31 BREEHE 7,005 6,980
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B R ER R M
31 December 2023
2023412 A31H

24. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and

24. EW)EE (8)

AREBESL (FE)
UTNBEMEELEMBNMEET

the key inputs to the valuation of biological assets: EREEMABIBR CME -
Significant Range or
unobservable weighted
Valuation technique inputs average
HERE ERTAHERARIE 5[5 55 hnFE 19 B
2023
2023
Sea lions other than South Market method Market price 90-700
American sea lions, seals (RMB’000/head)
and dolphins
AR (T BRiEEEEm) misA M5 ER
EE YT 7S (AR T,/ 58)
Transaction cost 0-18
(RMB’000/head)
(AR T,/ 58)
South American sea lions Income method Market yearly rental 189-197
(RMB’000/head)
FZESisY WK misEFEE
(AR T,/ 58)
Discount rate 11.0%
Prif =
Economic life (year) 10
gEs ()

Under the market method, fair value is estimated based on
the market-determined prices adjusted with reference to
the species, age, growing condition and cost incurred to
reflect differences in characteristics and/or stages of growth
of biological assets less transaction costs to sell. Under the
income method, fair value is estimated using assumptions
regarding the benefits and liabilities of ownership over
the asset’s life including an exit or terminal value. This
method involves the projection of a series of cash flows on
a biological asset interest. A market-derived discount rate
is applied to the projected cash flow in order to establish
the present value of the income stream associated with the
asset.
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REMHE - AREBEDREDS
ETERET  ERRYE F
B RRBEAKRBELEKRANIEL R
B URBEVEEEKRFH
R/SBEERFEANZER - WHEH
ENRFHRA - REBWAOE 2
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EYEERGN —ERRTREN
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24. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)

25.

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

A significant increase (decrease) in the market price,
market yearly rental and economic life in isolation would
result in a significant increase (decrease) in the fair value
of the biological assets. A significant increase (decrease)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023%12 A31H

24. £ Y EE (&)
i\\ﬁl@@ l%& (nla)
MHER MHEESFHEREES
B A AIRIE I Of L) BEEEY
BEMNALEBEANEENCRD) -
RS ~ P37 K EH ARG I OF

in transaction cost, discount rate in isolation would result D) BERAEMEEN A BEANE
in a significant decrease (increase) in the fair value of the Y (1) o
biological assets.
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 25 BHERBEESZEEYURD
PLEDGED DEPOSITS EHEX
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB¥F ARETF T
Cash and bank balances e RIBITER 1,708,176 1,249,708
Less: Pledged for interest-bearing bank loans & : BBt B R1TE ZIK I
(note 29) (FFzE29) 5,912 5,075
Unpledged cash and cash equivalents EEFEe KR SEEY 1,702,264 1,244,633
Less: Frozen or restricted cash and W WRE IR HIIRE &
bank balances* RITASER 6,854 18,938
Unpledged, unfrozen and unrestricted cash R - R R X BR
and cash equivalents RERREFEY 1,695,410 1,225,695
* At 31 December 2023, certain bank accounts of the Group of & MW2023F 12831 H » AEEET

RMB6,854,000 (2022: RMB18,938,000) (note 35) were frozen

by certain court for preservation.

IRITERF P RARY6,854,0007T

(20224 : AR#18,938,0007T)
(K3E35) WA RERE -

2023 F E R

BEBFREERRARDT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

25.

26.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
PLEDGED DEPOSITS (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances and the time deposits of the Group denominated
in RMB amounted to RMB1,706,591,000 (2022:
RMB1,241,317,000). The RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies, however, under Chinese Mainland’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. The cash and bank balances and
pledged bank balances are deposited with creditworthy
banks with no recent history of default. The carrying
amounts of the cash and cash equivalents and the pledged
bank balances approximate to their fair values.

TRADE PAYABLES

5. BERBESEEYURE

HIFFER ()

RB|ER - REEBUARBEE
MRS RRITERUREHBERE
AR#1,706,591,0007T (20224 :
AR#1,241,317,0007T) - AR¥E
TR ERABRAEME - A -
& 95 P B 1At /9 SN B IR B K 4
B EERNEEERT A5
B RIBEREEITIMEEKAR
TARBH B AEME -

RITRS BB BRITHEHRARZ
T RBREF B - R RIRITHE
HRARCERRITERTFAGER
b AT BN B HE R RS8R O RTT © 3R
T RBREEYURBEMRITE
SEEREEE AR EERS

6. EZBAFIR

31 December 31 December

2023 2022

20234 2022 4

12A31H 12A31H

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR FoT ARETF T

Within one year —FR 840,751 374,345
Over one year tB3A—F 560,980 802,493
Total HBET 1,401,731 1,176,838
Less: Non-current portion B IEmENEL 666,170 526,849
Current portion meEl o 735,561 649,989

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are
normally settled on terms of 30 to 180 days other than the
trade payables to those suppliers agreeing to extend the
credit period to more than one year from 31 December
2028.
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26.

27.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B R ER R M
31 December 2023
2023%12 A31H

TRADE PAYABLES (continued) 26. EZEAFRIE (&)
The Group has been granted extended credit terms by AEECEEE THERERBRE
certain of the Group’s suppliers and service providers for HEEREER - AJR2024F12A
RMB723,159,000, after discounting, for repayment of trade STHEEESINHNE S EMNIE
payables to be due after 31 December 2024. AER#723159,0007T (Frzgi®) °
The fair values of trade payables approximate to their BEENAZBENADEBERAEER
carrying amounts. BRE -
OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 27. HittESRIER EFTEH
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
2023 20224
12H31H 12 A31H
Notes RMB’000 RMB 000
k=3 AR¥ T AERMFT
Contract liabilities aHNEE @) 264,959 53,503
Other payables H A FE A IR b) 495,874 519,365
Accruals fEETE A 21,821 8,485
Due to related companies JE 1S BE B N R 508 3,782 2,861
Total MGt 786,436 584,214
Less: Non-current portion B FEREIE D 104,971 139,912
Current portion BN 681,465 444,302

2023 EHE BEBFLABERERAT

259



260

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
(continued)

Notes:

(a) Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

HtEMNRERETEHN
(&)

GEX
@ ANBEFEDT :

31 December 31 December

2023 2022
20234 20224
12831H 12A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT ARKT T

Short-term advances received from customers — Z /242 B2 2

Park operation NEEE 226,687 51,852
Consultancy and management service R R B IR IRTS 38,272 1,651
Total @t 264,959 53,503

Contract liabilities include park operation services,
consultancy and management services. The increase in
contract liabilities in 2023 was mainly due to the increase
in short-term advances received from customers in relation
to the provision of park operation services, consultancy and
management services at the end of the year.

(b) Except for the non-current portion of other payables which
are repayable after one year from 31 December 2023, the
remaining other payables are unsecured, non-interest-bearing
and repayable on demand.

28. ADVANCES FROM CUSTOMERS

Advances from customers mainly represent rentals received
in advance for the Group as a lessor.
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AHBEE a?% E%iﬂ&f&‘ B
REERS - BXBER2023F1E
meEEHR iﬁwﬂmfﬁ“lﬁék
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(b)  BRZEM 2023412 A31 HiEst—F1%&
BE M H b FER RIBRIER BT D
SN R E fth BT SRIE B AR -
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28. B AN
EFENREEHAKEEALA
AFSME TS o



29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29. &t

-

31 December 2023

B R ER R M
31 December 2023
2023%12 A31H

BERITREMERRE

- 1=

31 December 2022

2023125318 202212318
Effective Effective
Interest Interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB’000  rate (%) Maturity RMB'000
1 Gk ERF%
(%) B ARBTT (%) IR AREFIL
Current i)
Other loans - secured” A EH - FHH 7-12 2024 96,065 7-12 2023 61,189
Bank loans - secured” RITER - BHA 3-5 2024 317,904 3-7 2023 442,042
Current portion of long term ~~ RHARTERH
bank loans - secured mEES - FHME 4-7 2024 989,566 4-7 2023 957,989
Subtotal of interest-bearing STERTR
bank and other borrowings ELEEUI) 1,403,535 1,461,220
Lease liabilities (note 14(0)) RERE (ME14() 5 2024 35,087 5 2023 25,833
Total - current B - Re 1,438,622 1,487,053
Non-current E 1377
Other loans - secured* HiEH - HHEA 7-12  2025-2028 164,993 7 2024-2025 64,591
Bank loans - secured ROEH - HHA 4-7  2025-2033 4,574,340 47 2024-2030 3,623,356
Subtotal of interest-bearing STERTR
bank and other borrowings EtbfE RNt 4,739,333 3,687,947
Lease liabilities (note 14(o)) RERE (MFE14() 5  2025-2033 121,017 5 2024-2032 92,730
Total - non-current B - ERE 4,860,350 3,780,677
Total st 6,298,972 5,267,730

2023 F E R
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS AND LEASE LIABILITIES
(continued)

*

The Group entered into certain sale and leaseback
agreements on certain of its property, plant and equipment
and investment properties. These agreements were in
substance accounted for as financing arrangements to obtain
secured loans with an aggregate amount of RMB231,058,000
at 31 December 2023 (2022: RMB95,780,000). The carrying
value of the Group’s underlying assets at 31 December 2023
under the aforesaid arrangements was RMB150,168,000

(2022: RMB68,830,000).

Haichang China, a subsidiary of the Company, entered into
agreements with a financial institution which was guaranteed
by Mr. Qu Cheng, a director of the Company, for certain
borrowings of RMB30,000,000 to the Group at 31 December
2023 (2022: RMB30,000,000).

An analysis of the carrying amounts of borrowings by type of
interest rate is as follows:

29.

*

REEHREETYUE  BEREH
REEWMET L THETHE RBA
Wk o WEREEE EAKRY AR
B WERBEFRER B
2023F 12 A1 HWEBAARKE
231,058,000 (20224 : AR
95,780,0007T) ° ANE B Eal 2o HE
THHEBEEER2023F12HA31H
WEEmEEA AR 150,168,000
(20224 : AR#¥68,830,0007T) °

ARAHMHBRARIEEFEMIR
2023F 12 A1 HAKEEERNSE
F & AR 30,000,0007T (2022
F: AR%30,000,0007T) £2—FH
CREBII L HE  BARRES
B2 A ER o

HEANERA I D WERREE
DITET

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB 000

AREFT ARET T

Fixed interest rate Jraalpes 2,251,247 3,560,894
Variable interest rate FEH & 4,047,725 1,706,836
Total 5t 6,298,972 5,267,730
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29.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

(continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BAFE IR AR RE

31 December 2023

29. ST ERITRE
‘Eﬁﬁ( &)

31 December

2023412 A31H

Lt {5 X &

31 December

2023 2022
20234 20224
128318 128311
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T ARMF T
Analysed into: VA=
Bank loans repayable: AR T R EENRITER
Within one year or on demand —FRIFEK 1,307,470 1,400,031
In the second year FER 798,958 1,122,026
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E=EZFhF (BREEEMF) 2,300,271 1,726,528
Beyond five years BRhF 1,475,111 774,802
Subtotal NET 5,881,810 5,023,387
Other borrowings repayable: AR AT BREERN EMER
Within one year or on demand —FAYIRERK 96,065 61,189
In the second year EEFR 61,967 33,542
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FE-EFHF (BREEEMT) 103,026 31,049
Subtotal NEF 261,058 125,780
Lease liabilities: HEaE
Within one year or on demand —imﬁmgﬁ 35,087 25,833
In the second year —FR 25,987 25,940
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E=ZFhFN(PEEEME) 57,977 43,551
Beyond five years fiEsp Ak 37,053 23,239
Subtotal NEF 156,104 118,563
Total 4aEt 6,298,972 5,267,730

2023 F E R
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS AND LEASE LIABILITIES
(continued)

The Group’s bank and other loans were secured by the
pledges of the Group’s assets with carrying values at 31
December 2023 and 2022 as follows:

29. ST ERT R EMtbfE R R HE
(%)

_— = =

AEBMRITEHEMERUAREER
MR20234 K 2022%E12 A31H 75

FREENEEERER
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
20234 20224
12H831H 12H31H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

et AREFT ARETT

Theme park’s buildings and machinery ~ EBRAE /)

Y RIS
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE
Pledged bank balances DIRIR TR
Investment properties classified SERFELHEDN
as held for sale B

12 2,336,823 1,053,871
14(a) 1,228,254 825,641
25 5,912 5,075
18 203,850 244,800

The Group pledged its 100% equity in Chongging Caribbean
for certain borrowings of RMB560,000,000 granted to the
Group at 31 December 2023 (2022: RMB150,000,000).

The Group pledged its 100% equity in Zhengzhou Tourism
for certain borrowings of RMB150,000,000 granted to the
Group at 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

Dalian Tourism pledged its 568.3% equity in LHT for certain
bank borrowings of RMB290,574,000 granted to the Group
at 31 December 2023 (2022: RMB350,678,000).
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H R BN AR EEAY 100% E RS IK R o

ANEBRBEF N 2023F12 A31 B A
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29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

BORROWINGS AND LEASE LIABILITIES
(continued)

In addition to the pledges of the Group's assets, AiE/&
E&£BER A7l (“Dalian Haichang Group”), a related
company, provided guarantees for certain borrowings of
RMB2,557,900,000 granted to the Group at 31 December
2023 (2022: RMB962,889,000).

In addition to the pledges of the Group’s assets, FRJI7N
(“Mr. Qu”, an executive director of the Company), &
¥ (“Ms. Cheng”, spouse of Mr. Qu), Mr. Qu Cheng (an
executive director of the Company) and 53 (“‘Ms. Yang”,
spouse of Mr. Qu Cheng) provided personal guarantees for
certain borrowings of RMB4,790,795,000 granted to the
Group at 31 December 2023 (2022: RMB4,043,327,000).

All the Group’s borrowings are denominated in RMB.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B R ER R M
31 December 2023
2023F 12 A31H

9. s BT R HEAMERKME
(&)

_— = =

BRASEBEELGRI BB AFAK
ESELEBEARAR([AEEE
&8 )|) REFMK2023F12A31H
AEBEEENE TERARK
2,557,900,0007T (20224 : AR#
962,889,000t ) He 1R ©

BRAEEEELTIN - dhTH7 ([l
KE] RRFINBMITES) - 1BF
F (Bt HEENEL®E) - i
BAEE(KARBNNITES) ks
(Bt HREEENRB) IHE
BR2023F12 AB1 B AKE &
BHETERAR4,790,795,000
70 (20224 « AR%4,043,327,000
7o) R EAELR -

REBEFRENEFIIAAREE °

2023 EHE BEBFLABERERAT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

30. GOVERNMENT GRANTS

30. BUF RS

31 December

31 December

2023 2022

20234 20224

12A31H 12H31H

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMTFT AREFTT

Carrying amount at 1 January "1 A1 BEREE 418,481 436,243
Received during the year A YU ER 44,911 36,326
Recognised in profit or loss (note 6) Ri8a= R (Fi5E6) (58,870) (54,088)
Carrying amount at 31 December M12A31 BEREE 404,522 418,481
Current ik 13,678 15,329
Non-current JERED 390,844 403,152
Total HBET 404,522 418,481

Government grants have been received either for the

construction of certain items of property, plant and

equipment, properties under development, investment

properties or for business development of the subsidiaries

of the Group. There are no unfulfiled conditions and

contingencies relating to these grants.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023F 12 A31H

31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. lRZ<
Shares B2 15
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
2023 20224
12H31H 128318
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT ANEETT
Issued and fully paid: BETRAR :
8,114,002,000 (2023: 8,114,002,000) 8,114,002,000%
ordinary shares (20234 : 8,114,002,000/%) L@ 2,489 2,489

A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is

as follows:

ARRBEAEZENBARLAT

Number of

shares in issue Share capital
ERITROEE % 7
RMB’000
AR¥F
At 1 January 2022 R20224%F1 A1H 4,000,000,000 2,451
Issue of shares BT 57,001,000 38
Immediately before the share subdivision — E#Z A& (7 #r 40 Al 4,057,001,000 2,489
Effect of the share subdivision RO AR E 4,057,001,000 =

At 31 December 2022, 1 January 2023 202212 H31H + 20234
and 31 December 2023 1 A1HK2023%F12 A31H 8,114,002,000 2,489

2023 EHE BEBFLABERERAT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

32. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

(@) Capital reserve

The amounts represent deemed contributions from
equity holders less deemed distributions to equity
holders, considerations paid by the Group to non-
controlling equity holders over their then share of net
assets of subsidiaries acquired, and dilution upon
capital contributions by the non-controlling equity
holders.

(b) Statutory reserves

In accordance with the PRC Company Law and
the PRC subsidiaries’ articles of association, each
subsidiary registered in the PRC as a domestic
company is required to appropriate 10% of its annual
statutory net profit as determined under generally
accepted accounting principles of The People’s
Republic of China (“PRC GAAP”) (after offsetting any
prior years’ losses) to the statutory surplus reserves.
When the balance of this reserve fund reaches 50%
of the entity’s capital, any further appropriation
is optional. The statutory reserves can be utilised
to offset prior years’ losses or to increase capital.
However, the balance of the statutory surplus reserves
must be maintained at a minimum of 25% of the
capital after these usages.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B R ER R M
31 December 2023
2023F 12 A31H

33. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES BB B K IEIE IR RE 2 B 26
WITH MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING DEEEN BT
INTERESTS
Details of the Group’s subsidiaries that have material non- BEESEAJEERERANANER KB
controlling interests are set out below: /D\ AIFFIBOE ¢
LHT KRB R

2023 2022
20234 20224
Percentage of equity interest held by 4% ﬁx%ﬁn%ﬁz
non-controlling interests: AR B DL
LHT Ri&E 41.7% 41.7%
Haipeng Jiayue BREN 40.0% =
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT ABEFIT
Profit/(loss) for the year allocated to B E FEIE R A
non-controlling interests: FAFE(E8)
LHT Wi 32,398 12,342
Haipeng Jiayue BREN (17,349) -
Accumulated balances of non-controlling  F ¥R B HiE) FEHE AR 5
interests at the reporting date ZIEHEER
LHT K;siiﬁ%/%& 64,689 32,291
Haipeng Jiayue R 17,062 =
2023 EHRE BEBELREZERERAF
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial
information of the above subsidiaries. The amounts

33. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES 33. EA&E KIEI=REZSI
WITH MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING DHEEME AT (&)
INTERESTS (continued)

LHT (continued) RERE (B)

T & B L B A B B A R
BE - FRESEL R REME

disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations: B AN ERHEE -
Haipeng
LHT Jiayue
KE R BRER
RMB’000 RMB’000
2023 2023 F ANRB¥For ARB¥Fr
Revenue A 172,295 93,030
Total expenses BFEX (91,300) (136,308)

Net profit/(loss) and total comprehensive FAMF(BER) R2E

income/(loss) for the year Wz (E518) L5 80,995 (43,278)
Current assets MENEE 217,307 74,226
Non-current assets ERBNE E 44,808 219,600
Current liabilities mEaE (96,365) (163,136)
Non-current liabilities ERBIAE (1,423) (104,779)

Net cash flows from operating activities EEEHEANFIRERE 21,045 1,375
Net cash flows used in investing activities B EEFAFRERE (18,824) (133,277)
Net cash flows from financing activities METHEEMNFRERE - 134,012
Net increase in cash and e KRR ESEYIEINFRE

cash equivalents 2,221 2,110
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33. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES

WITH MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING

INTERESTS (continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023F 12 A31H

33.

LHT (continued) RERE (B)
Haipeng
LHT Jiayue
PN BB
RMB 000 RMB 000
2022 20224 ARETFTT AREFIT
Revenue A 51,170 =
Total expenses #HE (82,025) =

Net loss and total comprehensive loss for

FRABREHEEREERE

the year (30,855) =
Current assets MENEE 170,242 =
Non-current assets EMBNE E 47,358 =
Current liabilities mEaE (114,202) =
Non-current liabilities EmEatE (1,423) -
Net cash flows from operating activities KEEHELENFRERE 876 =
Net cash flows used in investing activities REEHFAFHEERE (2,583) =
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents Re RReSEMRLFE (1,707) =

2023 EHE BEBFLABERERAT
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2023412 A31H

34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transactions
During the year, the Group had non-cash additions
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
RMB89,077,000 (2022: RMB88,414,000) and
RMB72,806,000 (2022: RMB88,414,000), respectively,
in respect of lease arrangements for plant and
equipment.

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities
2023

34. G BEERERMT

()

Lease liabilities

FEFERERS
FRAKRERBERRE
E’JTHE ZHE IR R 2 BN @ﬁﬁ

89,077,0007c(2022¢ CA
R#88,414,0007T) R AR
72,806,0007T (20224 : AR
#88,414,0007T) °

METHELEZABEEL

2023

Interest-bearing
bank and other
borrowings

STEBTR

HEAE Hh a5

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT AR FT

At 1 January 2023 7R2023F1 A1 H 118,563 5,149,167

Changes from financing cash @& R & HE &

flows (31,059) 706,931

New leases igHE 72,806 =

Interest expense MEFX 9,026 288,599
Interest paid classified as DEREEREREN

operating cash flows BEARFE (9,026) (1,789)

Revision of lease terms HEEET (4,206) -

At 31 December 2023 R2023F12 A31H 156,104 6,142,868
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023F 12 A31H

34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 34. 4#B£AEXMET (8)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) METBEE BB
activities (continued) (48)
2022 20224

Interest-bearing
bank and other

Lease liabilities borrowings
STEESRITR
HeEaE H g3
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMEF T AREFor
At 1 January 2022 202291 A1H 60,365 5,193,968
Changes from financing BERSREE
cash flows (17,941) (103,578)
New leases it HE 88,414 =
Interest expense B 4,370 =
Interest paid EARFLE (4,370) 58,777
Revision of lease terms THEET (12,275) =
At 31 December 2022 1K2022%12 A31H 118,563 5,149,167
(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HENBRESRLEZE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the SFTARESRERANNBEERNR
statement of cash flows is as follows: eRbBEnT
2023 2022
2023 % 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFIT
Within operating activities LTSN (9,026) (4,370)
Within financing activities BEEENAN 31,059 17,941
Total BET 22,033 13,571
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

35.

36.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

During 2023, certain suppliers of the Group filed claims
to the People’s Court of Pudong New Area in Chinese
Mainland against the Group for overdue payments of
construction costs of approximately RMB12,585,000
and the interests arising from the overdue payments of
construction costs of approximately RMB305,000. As
at 31 December 2023, a bank account of the Group of
RMB2,592,000 was frozen by People’s Court of Pudong
New Area for property preservation. As of the date of
approval of the financial statements, the trials of the cases
are yet to be scheduled. The Group has made full provision
for payments of construction costs due to the possibility of
the Group taking settlement responsibility on the basis of
the available evidence and legal advice taken. The directors
of the Company are of the opinion that, the interests
claimed are without merits and the possibility for the Group
to be subject to additional interest claims was remote and
no provision has been made for the interests claimed.

COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following contractual commitments at
the end of the reporting period:

35.

36.

HAREE

R2023F A"EEETHERA
EHEAMERTEARER - @\
AEBEREBANEEKARTIELD
AR#12,5685,000t XA E
B AR SRR A SRIBE AWM B A A
R #305,0007T - ®2023F 12 A
318 ' AEEBRITERERFLPIRARKE
2,592,000 7T 2 #UR R & A RERT
REEVEMERS - RIMBEHRELE
BE - RUEFAEHEA - ERE
EEBREEIREZEER  ZEE
AEBBRENKREEHALMYE -
RNE BB BB EK AN IEE 2 B
e ARAEERA  RENEL
EORBEE - BASEAENEI
FERERH ] EMRE - &
BAARENSIELBE -

TRIE
MBEYRAEBE LT A L&

=

31 December 31 December

2023 2022

20234 20224

128318 12 A31H

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT AREFT

Property, plant and equipment E Gy 505,580 470,351
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 138,000 138,000
Total st 643,580 608,351
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND

BALANCES

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023F 12 A31H

7. BEANLERFZ REER

The related companies with which the Group had REBE IV 5HEEE N0

transactions were as follows:

Name of related party

T

Relationship with the Group during the year

BEATRE £ FREXSENREE

Mr. Qu Cheng Son of Mr. Qu and executive director of the Company
phAZSE & HEENEFRARAIMITES

Ms. Yang Spouse of Mr. Qu Cheng

CE iR e aa=0fiRY

Mr. Qu Executive director and chief executive officer of the Company
ih 5% & RRATITEETRITRAER

Ms. Cheng Spouse of Mr. Qu

B+ i 5E A B A8

REBELEERERLAA

(“Haichang Corporation Development”)
REBELEZERBRAR (BELEERE]
BEaBEIREERERAA

(“Yantai Haichang Tourism Development”)
EagaREEEARAR (B EEREERE])
RERFKBERERRA

(“Dalian Oriental Watertown Development”)
RERFKBERBRAR ([ RERFKEER])
REHEMEREERAT

(“Dalian Ruichang Lease”)
AREREMEASERAR ([ KEREMHE])
Changsha Park*
/N

Mr. Qu and Ms. Cheng are beneficial equity holders

HEEREZTRERERIBEEA
Mr. Qu and Ms. Cheng are beneficial equity holders

HEERIEZTRERERIBEEA
Mr. Qu and Ms. Cheng are beneficial equity holders

HEEREZTRERERIBEEA
A joint venture of a beneficial shareholder of the Company

RAREHZREAE E QA
An associate of the Group
NER E R Bt & A R
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND 7. BEATRZRERR (8)

BALANCES (continued)

Name of related party

BEALHE BB

Relationship with the Group during the year
FRERSEHNEFR

—hHEREERABR AT

(“Sanya Development”)
—REERFERARAR([=FERE])
Dalian Haichang Group
REBEEHE
RNEBEEMKAREERERAEESERBE

(“Dalian Haichang Property Guanglu Island Hotel”)
NEGEEHMKREREZBERA

ERSERBEE

GﬁLﬁ%ﬁmFF%EED
REBEHEELEEERD

(“Haichang Business Operaﬂon ")
KLAEﬁ%L“AEE@ AI([EEEmXES])
NEBEBSEREEERA

(“Haichang Seafood Cultivation")
KL@%@ CmBBEARAR(BEBLmEHE])
REBEMEBRAT

(“Dalian Haichang Shipping”)
RNEGEMERRA TUK‘@%%ED
REGERMESRBARD

(“Dalian Haichang Property ’)
REBEFMERBRRAR ([ KEEERME])

since 8 October 2023.

HAICHANG OCEAN PARK HOLDINGS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Mr. Qu and Ms. Cheng are beneficial equity holders

HAEERELTRESESRFEA
Mr. Qu and Ms. Cheng are beneficial equity holders
BEERELTAERERFEA
Mr. Qu and Ms. Cheng are beneficial equity holders

HEERBERT RESERFEA

Mr. Qu and Ms. Cheng are beneficial equity holders

MEERBEZTRERERFEEA
Mr. Qu and Ms. Cheng are beneficial equity holders

MEERBEZTRERERFEEA
Mr. Qu and Ms. Cheng are beneficial equity holders

HAEEMEZRT AERESFEA
Mr. Qu and Ms. Cheng are beneficial equity holders

HEERBEREIRESERFTAA

Changsha Park had no longer been an associate of the Group G RYPABEB2023F10 A8 AT H

RS SET: )i FNC]



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023F 12 A31H

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND 37.B@EATXRZR&EE: (E8)
BALANCES (continued)

(a) Related party transactions (a) BEALXRS
In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in B I 25 B A i 2k A L Ath b 5 5
these financial statements, the Group had the following MHZER SN AEBFR
transactions with related parties during the year: BB AT AU TEARR
2

2023 2022

2023% 20224

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Hiat ARETT AEETT

Rental income: HEHA -
Yantai Haichang Tourism Development B A S8R R (@) - 716
Consultancy and management service FHREERBFUA -

income:
Changsha Park S=IUN (@i 2,753 10,617
Rental fee: HEEH :
Dalian Haichang Property Guanglu Island ~ KEBEEHERSE/E

Hotel (a)(ii) 1,160 1,160
Revenue from ticket sales: PIEHEUA -
Yantai Haichang Tourism Development BEaBEREER (@)(iv) 460 =
Revenue from hotel operations: JBEEEWA
Dalian Haichang Property RNEBEFHE @) 4 =
Payment of expenses on behalf of: REZLU T L]

THEA

Dalian Haichang Group RNEFEEE - 210
Purchase of goods: REERD
Haichang Seafood Cultivation BEEYRER (@vi) 690 10
Interest income: FIEHA -
Dalian Haichang Shipping NEGEME (@)(vi) - 2,880
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BAREIRAR P RE

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES (continued)

(@) Related party transactions (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(ii)

The Group terminated the lease agreement with Yantai
Haichang Tourism Development. No rental income
was derived in 2023 from Yantai Haichang Tourism
Development (2022: RMB716,000).

The Group entered into operation management service
agreements with Changsha Park, pursuant to which the
Group would provide consultancy services with a total
amount of the contracts of RMB16,000,000 for planning
and design, construction and making preparations
for the scheduled opening of the park. During the
period from 1 January 2023 to 8 October 2023, the
Group offered park design and consultancy services to
Changsha Park, and recognised consultancy service
income of RMB2,753,000 (2022: RMB10,617,000).

The Group renewed the lease agreement with Dalian
Haichang Property Guanglu Island Hotel with a term of
one year from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023
for RMB1,160,000. The rental fee for the year ended 31
December 2023 charged by Dalian Haichang Property
Guanglu Island Hotel was RMB1,160,000 (2022:
RMB1,160,000).

HAICHANG OCEAN PARK HOLDINGS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Eg\ Aiﬁ&% &n\ﬂﬁ% /"E

()

BEALIRS (&)

fi g -

(i)

(i)

(i)

AEEBBERIEHEESFEIR
BEEREHEERZ - 2023F
THREEEGEREERE
BHESWA (20224F : AR
716,0007T) °

NEBERED AR LBEE
BR&E - Bt - AEEE
HABMRERE - ER

MERESH TEIRHES
HeE B AR 16,000,000
TTHFE AR TS - 20234 1
A1B#£%E2023410A8H

HHF'W? $Elﬁ§z’1\ =
B R AT R wE AR
Iﬁﬁﬁm wh @HWZHM\AE@Z

2,758,0007T (2022F : AR
#10,617,0007C) °

AREEBREKNEFEEMER
EBEEHE R B
A H2023%F1 A1 H#EE2023
F12A31HIEAH—F -
e AR 1,160,000 7T °
RNEBEBEMERSHERM
HZE2023F 12 A31HILE
FREMNASKRABARE
1,160,0007T (20224 : AR
#1,160,0007T) °



37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES (continued)

Related party transactions (continued)

Notes: (continued)

()

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

During the year 2023, the Group recognised revenue
from ticket sales of RMB460,000 from Yantai Haichang
Tourism Development (2022: Nil). The transaction was
made according to the terms of contract mutually
agreed.

During the year 2023, the Group recognised revenue
from hotel operations of RMB4,000 from Dalian
Haichang Property (2022: Nil). The transaction was
made according to the terms of contract mutually
agreed.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
purchase between the Group and Haichang Seafood
Cultivation was conducted according to the contracts
mutually agreed.

The Group charged interest for an amount relating to
a sale and leaseback arrangement with an effective
interest rate of 9% per annum.

During the year 2023, Mr. Qu, Ms. Cheng, Mr. Qu
Cheng and/or Ms. Yang provided guarantees for certain
borrowings of RMB4,790,795,000 granted to the Group
(2022: RMB4,043,327,000) at nil consideration.

During the year 2023, Dalian Haichang Group pledged
certain of its property, plant and equipment for a
borrowing of RMB10,000,000 granted to the Group
(2022: RMB10,000,000) at nil consideration.

The Group pledged its upcoming rental income from
a tenant and revenue from a self-operated restaurant
during 2023 to 2027 for certain borrowing of
RMB10,000,000 granted to the Group at 31 December
2023 (2022: Nil). Dalian Haichang Group provided
financial guarantees for the loan.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B R ER R M
31 December 2023
2023F 12 A31H

7. BEALRZ K #Ees (&)

(@) BEEALXRS (&)

P -

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(vii)

(ix)

2023 EHE

(%)

MR2023F R - AEEFER
BEIREERERAMEHE
WA AR 460,0007T (2022
F:|E) BRHIIREER
K S R RRETT ©

MR2023F RN - AEEHKE
g8 B b EE W RE IR & B U
AARE4,0007T (20224 :
/) ZRGIIBBEEHTHE
B A KUMERGEST o

ARREERS  AKEEE
E/82 mEEZRNRETIR
RETHENS KETT -

AEEH —FRERBL L
BRARNFRREFE - BRF
MEHI% °

M2023F R « k4 1B
T BmBEER HBLLE
RAEEREENE THERA
R#4,790,795,0007T (2022
F: AR¥4,043,327,000
JL) EEERBIER o

R2023F A + REBEEH
RAEEERN—EEBRAR
#10,000,0007C (20224 :
AR#10,000,0007T) £ (&K
HEETME - BB R&E -

ANEBE MR 20235F12 A 31
BEEEENE TERAR
#10,000,0007C (20224 :
/) BEABR—RMEF
IWER Y € WA K 2023 F &
2027 F—HIBEEBAMKA
TR KiEGEEBMUERIR
HERIER o

BEBFLAEERERAF
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B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES (continued)

(b) Balances with related companies

The Group had the following balances with its related
parties at the end of each of the reporting periods:

37.

BEALRZ K& (&)

(b) EEEEEEA BIRVASER
RERENE - AEERLY
BT AT

31 December

31 December

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
12H31H 12A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AEEFT
Long-term prepayment to a related S — I #GEE A )
company 7= HATE 1~ 708
Dalian Haichang Group NEBEEHE 63,700 63,700
Due from related companies JRE LA B gk X BRI
Haichang Business Operation BEEEES 1,925 2,608
Dalian Haichang Group NEBEEHE 779 4,517
Yantai Haichang Tourism EEEERELE
Development 452 264
Sanya Development — DR 189 254
Dalian Haichang Property NiEgE R E 2 =
Changsha Park EDRE - 593
Haichang Corporation Development &8 3R - 5
Total HEt 3,347 8,241
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES (continued)

related companies

Balances with
(continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. B@E

BAFE IR AR RE

31 December 2023

31 December

202312 A31H

AER 5 K isex ()

(b) EREAEELN A AVAER ()

31 December

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
12A31H 12 H31H
Notes RMB’000 RMB 000
Kzt ABE¥FrT AREFT
Due to related companies FEAS BAEE A R FRIE
Dalian Haichang Property Guanglu NEBEBENERS
Island Hotel B 2,260 1,633
Dalian Haichang Group RNEFEEE 900 900
Haichang Seafood Cultivation BERBYmEHE 306 10
Dalian Oriental Watertown NERF K ERE
Development 210 215
Haichang Corporation Development &3 3R 51 51
Dalian Ruichang Lease RNEREHRE 32 32
Dalian Haichang Shipping RNEFEME 16 16
Haichang Business Operation BERFEE 7 4
Total #Et 3,782 2,861
The balances are unsecured, interest-free and have no EerAEEE - TE R RERE
fixed terms of repayment. TE 2 o
2023 EHRE BEFELRERERAF
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31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND 37.B@EBEATXRZR&EE: ()
BALANCES (continued)

(c) Compensation of key management (c) MAEBEFTEEEAEIR
personnel of the Group £ 59 3R A

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFTT ARETT

Emoluments: B :
Salaries, allowances, bonuses, e - RN B4

benefits and other expenses & & EAth & A 13,142 14,791
Post-employment benefits RIRAEF 580 592
Total compensation paid to TRTFTEEEEABD

key management personnel Bk 13,722 15,383
Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s EREZE NTHRERE S 0E
emoluments are included in note 9 to the financial — S EE N SR EMTEEQ o
statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023%12 A31H

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 38. 2@ TES%E

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RBERARN SR SR T AR
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as HELT :

follows:

2023 2023%

Financial assets TREE

Financial assets
Financial at fair value
assets at  through profit

amortised cost or loss Total
BRRE
RESEAGE  RAABESER
hemEE NERMERE #5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ABETT ARETT ARETT

Financial assets included in prepayments ST FIE R A A R

and other receivables FEANEREE 327,569 = 327,569
Financial assets at fair value through BRBEERAAEE

profit or loss SR eRAE - 146,429 146,429
Trade receivables B H A 46,209 - 46,209
Pledged deposits BEERER 5,912 - 5,912
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBEEEY 1,702,264 - 1,702,264
Total Bt 2,081,954 146,429 2,228,383
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B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(continued)
2023 (continued)

Financial liabilities

2023 (#&)

TEA

il

/

38. M T EDHE (&)

Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
REERAR A
Sl BR Y
SRIEE
RMB’000
ARETFTT

Financial liabilities included in other payables and
accruals (note 27)

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings (note 29)

Trade payables (note 26)

Due to related companies

ST AE B 5 & R B A A
B E (ME27)

FHERTTREMER (Hi5E29)

B 5N FE (Mi5E26)

& {5 BBt 1% ) 5K IR

517,695
6,142,868
1,401,731

3,782

Total

8,066,076
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(continued)
2022

Financial assets

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023%12 A31H

38. M I EDHE (&)

20224
TREE
Financial assets
Financial at fair value
assets at through profit
amortised cost or loss Total
BBER
RESRATE  ROAEEIE
MERMEE mEREE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB 000

AEETFT ARETT ARETT

Financial assets included in prepayments

ATABMFER AR

and other receivables FERNEREE 1,016,141 - 1,016,141
Financial assets at fair value through BRBEERAAEE

profit or loss JIENEREE - 165,020 165,020
Trade receivables B SR E 47,597 = 47 597
Pledged deposits BEERER 5,075 - 5,075
Cash and cash equivalents ReRReEZED 1,244,633 - 1,244,633
Total Bt 2,313,446 165,020 2,478,466
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 38. 2R T ES¥ (&)
(continued)

2022 (continued) 20224 (#&)
Financial liabilities TRIBE
Financial
liabilities
at amortised
cost
biog: 470N
HI| AR &Y
TRIBE
RMB’000
AR¥F T
Financial liabilities included in other payables ST AE D FE T FRIE N BT E A A
and accruals (note 27) SREE (WE27) 530,711
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings (note 29) 5+ BSR1T R H A&k (Fiz£29) 5,149,167
Trade payables (note 26) B S FIE (f5E26) 1,176,838
Total 45 6,856,716
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023F 12 A31H

39. M TARARNEBEERAR
BESHK
AEELRTANKEERALE
B (AEAERAABEAREES

reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows: BRah) ZiR
Carrying amounts Fair values
BREE AREE
2023 2022 2023 2022
20234 20224 20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFR AREFr AREFT AREFTT
Financial assets CREE
Financial assets at fair value — BEBREZEANEE
through profit or loss SRS REE 146,429 165,020 146,429 165,020
Financial liabilities cREE
Interest-bearing bank and sHERITREAM
other borrowings (other B (HE
than lease liabilties) B ERIN) 1,855,371 2,718,953 1,869,609 2,754,562
Long-term payables R A 50 771,141 666,761 771,141 666,761
Total wBst 2,626,512 3,385,714 2,640,750 3,421,323

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash
and cash equivalents, pledged deposits, trade receivables,
trade payables, financial assets included in prepayments
and other receivables, trade payables, financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals, amounts due from
related companies and amounts due to related companies
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the
short-term maturities of these instruments.

EEECHHRENESEFEY
EEMER  BEZRUKE B
FER IR ~ s ATANFIR R A b/
WHBERANEBREE - EHENK
H - AEARMENKIARER &S
NE @B IE - EKEIRE QR R
NENBBARRENALEER
HEBWEREERS  T2HRZ
ETAREHRNEE -

2023 EHE BEBFTLABERERAT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The Group’s finance department headed by the finance
manager is responsible for determining the policies and
procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The finance manager reports directly to
the chief financial officer and the board of directors. At
each reporting date, the finance department analyses
the movements in the values of financial instruments and
determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The
valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief financial
officer. The valuation process and results are discussed
with the board of directors once a year for annual financial
reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of the interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings with fixed interest rates have been calculated
by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates
currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit
risk and remaining maturities. The changes in fair value
as a result of the Group’s own non-performance risk for
the interest-bearing bank and other borrowings as at 31
December 2023 were assessed to be insignificant.
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0. EMIBEARBERAR
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The fair values of unlisted equity investments designated at
fair value through profit or loss have been estimated using
a market-based valuation technique based on assumptions
that are not supported by observable market prices or
rates. The valuation requires the directors to determine
comparable public companies (peers) based on industry,
size, leverage and strategy, and to calculate an appropriate
price multiple, such as enterprise value to earnings before
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (“EV/EBITDA”)
multiple and price to earnings (“P/E”) multiple, for each
comparable company identified. The multiple is calculated
by dividing the enterprise value of the comparable company
by an earnings measure. The trading multiple is then
discounted for considerations such as illiquidity and size
differences between the comparable companies based on
company-specific facts and circumstances. The discounted
multiple is applied to the corresponding earnings measure
of the unlisted equity investments to measure the fair
value. The directors believe that the estimated fair values
resulting from the valuation technique, which are recorded
in the consolidated statement of financial position, and the
related changes in fair values, which are recorded in other
comprehensive income, are reasonable, and that they were
the most appropriate values at the end of the reporting
period.

The Group invests in an unlisted unit trust fund investment
at fair value through profit or loss. The Group has estimated
the fair value of this unlisted investment by using a
discounted cash flow valuation model based on the market
interest rates of instruments with similar terms and risks.

The Group invests in the equity of a company listed on
the over-the-counter exchange for companies in Chinese
Mainland. The Group has estimated the fair value of the
debt instrument by using the Binomial Tree Model.

For the fair value of the financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, management has estimated the potential
effect of using reasonably possible alternatives as inputs to
the valuation model.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B R ER R M
31 December 2023
2023412 A31H

39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY  39.
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the

valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative

sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2023 and 2022:

ERIAEQAABERAR
BESZH (E)
NTASRTARBGNERTATH
R ABBEHMBERN2023F &
2022F 12 A31HWEEHXE D
T

Significant
Valuation technique unobservable input Weighted average Sensitivity of fair value to the input
hERE EXTABRAALE mETH AABEHRARBNGEE

Unlisted equity investment Valuation multiples ~ Average price-to-book 2023: 0.65 10% (2022: 10%) increase/decrease in multiple

ratio (P/B) multiple (2022: 0.51) would result in increase/decrease in fair value
of peers by RMB1,201,000 (2022: RMB2,950,000)

FLmRARE L RETETHEPB)ES 20235 : 0.65 (R F010% (2022 : 10%) EBHAR

(20225 : 051) BN,/ WD ARE1,201,0007 (20205 -
AR%2,950,0007)
Discount for lack of 2023: 20% 10% (2022: 10%) increase/decrease in discount
marketability (2022: 20%) would result in decrease/increase in fair value
by RMB300,000 (2022: RMB740,000)
RgTERBENTE 20235 : 20% RN/ 0 10% (20025 : 10%) EBBHAR
(20205 : 20%) EERD / BIMAREI00,0007 (20226 : A
R#740,0007)
Unlisted unit trust Risk-free rate as at the 2023: 2.53% 1% (2022: 1%) increase/decrease in rate would
valuation date (2022: 2.93%) result in decrease/increase in fair value by
RMB18,000 (2022: RMB56,000)
EEMERRE RMEERRNEEBNE  2003F : 2.53% FIZEM / 501% (20225 : 1%) EEHAA(E
(2020% : 2.93%) {EHD /EMARE18,0007T (20025 - ARH
56,0007C)

New Over-The-Counter (OTC)  Discounted future Average enterprise value  2023: 2.55 10% (2022: 10%) increase/decrease in multiple
Market listed equity cash flow to sales (EV/Sales) (2022: 3.04) would result in increase/decrease in fair value
investment multiple of peers by RMB3,662,000 (2022; RMB4,568,000)

F=R(H=k]) EARAXERERE RETHILFBEHHEE  2023F : 255 {EEEM,/H010% (20226 : 10%) GEHAR
BlRARE (Ev/#&) R (20226 : 3.04) EEEM/ HD ARSS3,662,0007 (2002 :

Valuation multiples

Gl

Discount for lack of
marketability

Yy ek ki

2023: 20%
(2022: 20%)

20235 : 20%
(20224 : 20%)

AR%4,568,0007T)

10% (2022: 10%) increase/decrease in discount
would result in decrease/increase in fair value
by RMB909,000 (2022: RMB1,189,000)

BB/ W010% (2022 < 10%) EEBAR
EERD / EMAREI09,0007 (20226 : A
R%1,189,0007)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The discount for lack of marketability represents the
amounts of premiums and discounts determined by the
Group that market participants would take into account
when pricing the investments.

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2023

B R ER R M
31 December 2023
2023%12 A31H

. EMIBEARBERAN

BESFH (&)
RE|TIBRBIM N RIETIEL2H
¥ 1STETE BIR AR Z B 1 A £ B T
BEZRERTHESHE -

TRIAARENEH T AN

R2023F12H31H

Fair value measurement using

ERNATERETHAABEENE

Quoted
prices

in active
markets
(Level 1)
RERT &
HHE
(E—%)
RMB’000
ARBETFT

Significant Significant

observable unobservable

inputs inputs
(Level 2) (Level 3) Total

EXTHE EATABR

WAE BAYE
(=) (B=8) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFT ARETFT

Financial assets at fair value through ~ BBERRANLEE
profit or loss SIERA BB B -

- 146,429 146,429
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: (continued)

V0. EMIAEAABERR

1?@—.!'11

(&)

ARBESHR (E)
Tﬁﬂ%¢%@%@@1ﬁm@ﬁ
BEEESR : (&)

>

Assets measured at fair value: (continued) BARBEFENEE : (8)
As at 31 December 2022 2022612 A31H
Fair value measurement using
FRATSBETHNAAEETE
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
N ERAHEE EATIEHR
HR(E AR AR
(B—#R) (B=%) (B=8) et
RMB’000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000
AREF AREFT AREF ARETT
Financial assets at fair value BRERELAEE
through profit or loss PIERA S RS E - - 165,020 165,020
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023F 12 A31H

39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 39. 2R TEQNABHEHREAR

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) BEEHR (E)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) i Aﬁﬁﬁ (&)
The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3 E=LMANBETENFRNLE
during the year are as follows: R
2023 2022
2023 % 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR#TT AREFIT
Financial assets at fair value through BRBEREAAEE
profit or loss FIRRR S BB E
At 1 January ®1HA1H 165,020 159,363
Purchases BE - 5,657
Capital refund BARIRE (8,385) =
Fair value losses AREEEE (6,206) =
Disposals ifi=— (4,000) =
At 31 December W12 HA31H 146,429 165,020

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at
fair value as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and
financial liabilities (2022: Nil).

MR2023F K2022F12 A31H » &K

SEYEBEEFEAAREEFENS
AR -

FHN - eREERERABES —
&%:%&A/ugﬁa‘l'iZFaﬁﬂEﬁ%
HE BUTEBElREIE =&
(20224 : &) -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S RE AR B o

31 December 2023
2023412 A31H

39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 39. 2R TERQNABHEHREAR
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) BEEL (&)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) NREBEER (E)

J
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: BARBERENERE
As at 31 December 2023 72023%12H31H

Fair value measurement using

ERANTREETNAAEENE

Quoted
prices in Significant Significant
active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RERT S EXTBRE EAFTEE
HRE BAHE BAHE
(5—-%) (=) (B=8) B3t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBBFT  ARETFT ABETT ABHTT

Interest-bearing bank and other TR REMER

borrowings (other than lease (BEBERIN)

liabilities) - 1,869,609 - 1,869,609
Long-term payables REEM A - 771,141 - 771,141
Total @t - 2,640,750 - 2,640,750
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023%12 A31H

39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 39. 2R TEQNABHEHREAR
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) BEZEH (EF)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

As at 31 December 2022

AREESH (E)
2022912 A31H

Fair value measurement using
ERATREETHARBERS

Quoted
prices in Significant Significant
active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

RNERME  EAUER EATIER

K (E BABE BAHE
(1) (B=H) (=) i
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETIL  ARETT  ARETT  ARETT

Interest-bearing bank and other

SHERITREAMER

borrowings (other than lease (REAERIN)

liabilities) - 2,754,562 - 2,754,562
Long-term payables REENFE - 666,761 = 666,761
Total Bt - 3,421,323 - 3,421,323
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, pledged deposits
and cash and bank balances. The main purpose of these
financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s
operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as trade receivables, trade payables, other
receivables and other payables, which arise directly from its
operations.

It is, and has been throughout the year under review, the
Group’s policy that no trading in financial instruments shall
be undertaken.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B R ER R M
31 December 2023
2023F 12 A31H

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. B ¥EBREEEERKE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (%)
Interest rate risk =R [ bz
The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market 7N £ B B T Be B9 T 45 A1) 3R 2 & [l [
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank and other T EHEWFE29FE M AN E BIRFH
borrowings with a floating interest rate set out in note 29. MEABREITNEMERERA -
The Group has not used any interest rate swaps to hedge N £ B Ak {5 A (] 7 = 3= 2 DA ¥
its interest rate risk. L ) 2 B o
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a TRERE—HMOEERFTEZ
reasonably possible change in interest rate, with all other B AREBKEAIEE B8 %HE
variables held constant, of the Group’s loss before tax FMEREE 72E) BWANERESIERfE
(through the impact on floating rate borrowings). BET CBRE -
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in  (decrease) in
basis points profit before tax
EZtH/ BRBEADE R
(T¥) 2,/ (Hd)
RMB’000
ARETFT
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BZ2023F12A31HILEE 100 (38,786)
(100) 38,786
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease) in
basis points  profit before tax
B A/ Bt A A
(T&)  &m/Chd)
RMB'000
ARETT
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE2022F12 A1 HIEERE 100 (12,754)
(100) 12,754
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s businesses are located in Chinese Mainland
and nearly all transactions are conducted in RMB. All of
the Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in RMB,
except for those owned by the Company and certain
subsidiaries which are denominated in USD and HKD.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the
USD and HKD exchange rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s loss before tax (arising from USD
and HKD denominated financial instruments).

HBERBEEEREREE
(%)

SN LB
AEENEBHERF AN B
FHRAERPAAREHR - REHE
MFTE BERA B ARE
& ARARETFHEARARKE
PETRBTLAENAE R A ER
5h o

TRINFRBERRERAEME
BERFTENERT - BAEXTME
BEXNAEAIEES MY A KHE
BRATEENTE (EXBARTR
BILFHENERITE) -

2023 2023%F

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in  (decrease) in
USD/HKD rate profit before tax

E Ve 1
ExtH BB AT A
(F&)  #m/ (&)
% RMB’000
AREFT
If the RMB weakens against the USD WMAREHEETE 10 (2,075)
If the RMB strengthens against the USD WAREHETER (10) 2,075
If the RMB weakens against the HKD fisf A B 5 B8 55 10 (1,928)
If the RMB strengthens against the HKD AR B ER (10) 1,928
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B R ER R M
31 December 2023
2023F 12 A31H

UBEREEBEEREE
(,,.a)

9"[:“";%: (nﬁ

2022 20224
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease)
HK$/RMB in profit
rate before tax
B ARE
BxLH/ BR AR A
(T%)  #m/Cad)
% RMB 000
ARETT
If the RMB weakens against the USD WMARBHEEZTE 10 (113)
If the RMB strengthens against the USD WAREHETER (10) 113
If the RMB weakens against the HKD fisf A BB S B8 5 10 3,374
If the RMB strengthens against the HKD WARK R EkeEn (10) (3,374)
2
Credit risk EE R

The Group trades with recognised and creditworthy third
parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish
to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored
on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts
is not significant. For transactions that are not denominated
in the functional currency of the relevant operating unit,
the Group does not offer credit terms without the specific
approval of the Head of Credit Control.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification as at 31 December. The
amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial
assets.

AEBREFERHINABAAFE=ZTR
2 AEBHNBRZE - LEBAE
ERSTARSGEPHEARRERAR
RBIZFF o AN AEERFBEERE
1451 RIRAE R - F AR B IE

BB AK - BRI IEABREEE
Efﬁﬁ’ﬂj}ﬁ%%’i FHENRS - A%
BERKEESE Ea{/ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁt
ET  TERHEES

BERERFERER
TRETBBRASEEERX (X2
ER@EER - BRIFEZEAEMNET
WERKARHE H T SHAMER)
WEEEZR&ESEERRAE -
M&Fmﬂmﬁ%i%ﬁ&%ﬁo
27N ATREENERZ
&
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40.0B¥ERmEEEERKE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (%)
Credit risk (continued) EERR (&)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued) BEEEERELEEE (&)

As at 31 December 2023 M2023%F12H31H

300

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8 A H
FEEBE FEARBEEEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E1ME & EpLty E3MER b h % B3t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTL ARETr ARETr ARETr ARETx
Trade receivables* (note 22) B S EWIE
(Kt5E22) - - - 99,831 99,831
Financial assets included AR FE R EA
in prepayments and other BRI A HY
receivables SREE
- Normal** = EF 324,222 - - 11,993 336,215
- Doubtful™ — R 30,283 - - - 30,283
Pledged deposits [RELREIEE
- Not yet past due — WAREH 5,912 - - - 5,912
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBREEEY
— Not yet past due — (AR 1,702,264 - - - 1,702,264
Total @t 2,062,681 - - 111,824 2,174,505
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)

As at 31 December 2022

(

B R ER R M
31 December 2023
2023F 12 A31H

40. B RERBEEBERBE

&)

FEERRE ()
REREBEREXEE (&)
2022512 31 H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{A A B
FEER FENRHEERR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F1RR FoRER FIRER BER* Bt
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Trade receivables* (note 22) B SR IE
(Ft5E22) - - - 103,878 103,878
Financial assets included STABAFERAM
in prepayments and other TR AR
receivables SREE
- Normal** = JER™ 1,007,900 = - 10,877 1,018,777
- Doubtful** - R 47,434 - - - 47,434
Pledged deposits [RELREIEE
- Not yet past due — WA 5,075 = = = 5,075
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBREEEY
- Not yet past due — HABH 1,244,633 - - - 1,244,633
Total @t 2,305,042 - - 114,755 2,419,797

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the

simplified approach for impairment, information based on

the provision matrix is disclosed in note 22 to the financial

statements.

*k

The credit quality of the financial assets included in

prepayments and other receivables is considered to be

“normal” when they are not past due and there is no

information indicating that the financial assets had a

significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is
considered to be “doubtful”.

*k

SRAKBEEBELRETZNES
EUHRIEM S - N EERESER
EVE R T IR RE22 IR EE o

S TR FRIA K E At FE U SRIE R EY
TREENEELIR  £RAHA
THEEHBETZEEREENER
[B B B B IR TR AR E K IR AN EY
BRATHERIERE] - B - ZF
SREENEEERWESIRE] -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure
to credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in
note 22 to the financial statements.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for
collateral. Concentrations of credit risk are managed by
customer/counterparty, by geographical region and by
industry sector. At the end of the reporting period, the
Group had certain concentrations of credit risk as 34.14%
(2022: 34.76%) of the Group’s trade receivables was due
from one of the Group’s debtors within the park operation
segment.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings, and lease
liabilities. Cash flows are closely monitored on an ongoing
basis.
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as
at the end of reporting period, based on the contractual

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023%12 A31H

40. R EEEERBEK
(%)
REE SRR (&)
RIEEER  AEENSBEER
B AR BB A R B EIE R

undiscounted payments, is as follows: R
3 to less
On Less than than 12 1t05 Over
demand 3 months months years 5 years Total
RER  DHSEA 3ELM2MEA 1255 5N EH)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETT ARETT AREFT AREFT AREFZ%
31 December 2023 2023%E12A31H
Interest-bearing bank and SRR REM
other borrowings B (Ta%E
(excluding lease liabilities) HEER) - 431,774 1,287,269 4114565 1,776,948 7,610,556
Lease liabilties neat - 10,607 31,821 98,594 39,628 180,650
Trade payables B 735,561 - - 723,159 - 1,458,720
Other payables and A EMFUER
accruals [E:rER 681,465 - - 112,893 - 794,358
Total b 1,417,026 442,381 1,319,090 5,049,211 1,816,576 10,044,284
31 December 2022 2022%12A31H
Interest-bearing bank and STERITREM
other borrowings (excluding 3 (Pt
lease liabilities) HEaR) - 452,060 1,026,410 3,264,130 774,802 5,517,402
Lease liabilities HeatE = 7,103 21,309 72,306 23,282 124,000
Trade payables B HEMTE 649,989 = = 578,753 - 1208742
Other payables and EtEAFER
accruals [E:rER 444,302 = = 147,465 - 591,767
Total gt 1,094,291 459,163 1,047,719 4,062,654 798,084 7,461,911
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31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40.

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise equity holders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not
subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 31
December 2022.

The Group monitors capital using a net debt to total
equity ratio. Net debt includes interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings, and lease liabilities, less cash and cash
equivalents. The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting
periods were as follows:

DERAREERRRBE
(%)

EXERE
AEEAAERNEEABREE
AEE N B EE R R FTBR
MARLE  AXHFHEBRA
HEE ABRBAEE -

RAEBERBLERAE S RABE
ENERFHEERABRERNE
e RERIABRELRER &
EgHBRNTREAKRE - [
BREFEEALZETHR - &
B NZERINE M MNEERER
R - REZE2023F12A8318
2022F12A31HIFE - BE -
BURSIR P I AT (] B -

AEBEMAFEEAESE R RE
REX - BEFREBEFEBRITR
HfeEARMEERE  RRE R
ReFEY RBEHRANEEL
KT -

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARE T ARETT

Interest-bearing bank and other FHEERTT R EMIEK

borrowings (note 29) (F15E29) 6,142,868 5,149,167
Lease liabilities (note 29) HEaE (H:E29) 156,104 118,563
Less: Cash and cash equivalents W ReMIREeFEEY 1,702,264 1,244,633
Net debt B FRE 4,596,708 4,023,097
Total equity R 4A%R 2,518,362 2,676,327
Net debt to total equity ratio FREAEREE 183% 150%
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41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December

B R ER R M
31 December 2023
2023F 12 A31H

41. RN B B AR R =

BN HRE I RARRM BN K
MERSIE T

31 December

2023 2022
20235 20224
12H831H 12 A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTF T ARETFr
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Prepayments and other receivables TR R E A A IR 5,629 41,341
Due from subsidiaries FE M BB A B ZUA 3,254,399 3,226,133
Cash and cash equivalents ReMEEEEY 236 3,801
Total current assets RENEELE 3,260,264 3,271,275
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Other payables and accruals HMEASRIBERETER 4,456 4,753
Total current liabilities ME B ERE 4,456 4,753
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEETFHE 3,255,808 3,266,522
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES BEERRBEE 3,255,808 3,266,522
Net assets EEFHE 3,255,808 3,266,522
EQUITY R
Share capital &N 2,489 2,489
Reserves (note) M (BIEE) 3,253,319 3,264,033
Total equity MR 3,255,808 3,266,522
2023FEHRE BEFEARERERAT
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B R ER R M

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

42.

THE COMPANY (continued)

41, DB B AR R 3R (48 )

Note: MIEE -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RABEBEREHNEHOT -
Exchange
Share Capital  fluctuation Accumulated Treasury
premium reserve reserve losses shares Total
B3 &E Exfits ERRBRE RiER ExR st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFL AEETT ARETT ARETT AREFR  AREFZ
At 1 January 2022 12022%1 A1H 2,373,396 426,726 37,866 (46,020) - 2,791,968
Loss for the year FRER - - - (59,084) = (59,084)
Exchange differences on translation of ~ BESIEBMNES £
foreign operations - - 266,765 - - 266,765
Total comprehensive incomey/(loss) ERZENE /(BB
for the year o = = 266,765 (59,084) - 207,681
Issue of shares kA 267,554 - - - - 267,554
Share issue expense RV BITES (8,170) - - - - (3,170)
At 31 December 2022 and R2022F12A31A R
1 January 2023 2023F1A1H 2,637,780 426,726 304,631 (105,104) - 3,264,033
Loss for the year FRER - = = (29,598) = (29,598)
Exchange differences on translation of REBNEBNESZR
foreign operations - - 56,013 - - 56,013
Total comprehensive incomey/(loss) ERZENE /(BB
for the year 8% - - 56,013 (29,598) - 26,415
Shares repurchased EEERH - - - - (37,129) (37,129)
At 31 December 2023 12023%12 A31H 2,637,780 426,726 360,644 (134,702) (37,129) 3,253,319

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements,
the Group had no other subsequent events after the

reporting period.

HAICHANG OCEAN PARK HOLDINGS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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43.

44.

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

As further explained in note 2.3 to the financial statements,
due to the adoption of the new and revised IFRSs during
the current year, the accounting treatment and presentation
of certain items and balances in the financial statements
have been revised to comply with the new requirements.
Accordingly, certain prior year adjustments have been made,
and certain comparative amounts have been restated to
conform with the current year’s presentation and accounting
treatment.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 26 March 2024.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

43.

44.

B R ER R M
31 December 2023
2023F 12 A31H

LB & 58

WA MK 5E 2.3 — SR -
AR AF ERMF ] RIS T BB
MEHREER - MBEHmREFETE
BREHRNSTREREYEH#ET
B8]+ AFEFER - Bt - B
NAFEELETHAE  BEE
ETHERESE  LWEAXFENZ
NEestERE B -

BA RS SRR AV HL A

BB mR O N20245E3 A26 HESE
EefdlfERIRET)E -
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MAJOR PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP
AEBERZEEYEF

City-Phase Usage Address

- R if it

Dalian - Discoveryland Park No. 35 Jinshi Road, Jinshitan, Economic and Technological Development Area, Dalian, Liaoning Province, PRC
AE - EREH AE HEEEEABEERNAEE 2RSS RHKI0T

Dalian - Discoveryland Hotel No. 37 Jinshi Road, Jinshitan, Economic and Technological Development Area, Dalian, Liaoning Province, PRC
N - BHTE EE TEEEEAELERNAEESAESAKTH

Dalian - Discoveryland Office No. 38 Jinshi Road, Jinshitan, Economic and Technological Development Area, Dalian, Liaoning Province, PRC
AE - BREH IUN MEEEEAELERMARESAESAKIBT

Dalian Commercial street? Dalian Laohutan Fisherman's Wharf, Dalia, Liaoning Province, PRC

AE RS TREBREABTAELREBAER

Dalian Commercial Space Haichang Xincheng Commercial Space, No. 137 Huale Street, Zhongshan District, Dalian, Liaoning Province, PRC
AiE &R PEEEL AT LRELH1TREEMARS

Sanya - Phase | Park + Commercial street Sanya Haichang Fantasy Town, Haitang South Road, Sanya, Hainan Province, PRC

=i —H NE+EEH PEEEE e meREE=DEATRY

Sanya - Stage 2, Phase |
=E - —HRMER

A parcel of land of
Sanya Property
ZDEXMR

Shanghai - Park Phase |
tE-2E-H

Shanghai - Hotel Phase |
B ——EEE

Yantai - Phase |
Ea——H

Yantai - Phase |
fEa——H

Yantai - Phase |

fBa -4

To be determined
5a

To be determined
e

RFAE

Park
N

Commercial

2

Park
N

Hotel
i)

Commercial street

RS

Sanya Haichang Fantasy Town, Haitang South Road, Sanya, Hainan Province, PRC

TR R S SARR

Sanya Haichang Fantasy Town, Haitang South Road, Sanya, Hainan Province, PRC
hEERE = MEREE=RE TR

No. 166 Yin Fei Road, Nanhui New City, Pudong New District, Shanghai, PRC
B LIS TR RATR MR AT R R 5K 1665

No. 777 Qi Qing Road, Nanhui New City, Pudong New District, Shanghai, PRC
hE LT RRNREEMNACERITTH

No. 45 Binhai Road, Laishan District, Yanhai, Shandong Province, PRC
hE L REEA TRILEE R4S

No. 45 Binhai Road, Laishan District, Yanhai, Shandong Province, PRC
hELIREERTRILEE R4S

No. 45 Binhai Road, Laishan District, Yanhai, Shandong Province, PRC
REILREE AR ILERGHOH

HAICHANG OCEAN PARK HOLDINGS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2023



MAJOR PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP

AEEFEZETEYHE
Total actual Total actual
or planned or planned
Total Cumulative GFA held for ~ GFA held for
actual or total sale investment
Actual or planned GFA' GFA sold (sq.m.) (sq.m.) Interest
planned (sq.m.) (sq.m.) BEHER BIEREN attributable
construction AERY 2O HE HERIHRE  AERIRE Term  to the Group
Status period REEEER" AEEEE EAEE EEnE of land rEE
i BRI 8TH (EHK) (FHK) (FHK) (FAR)  THEH gz
Completed 2002—2006 118,164 Not applicable Not applicable  Not applicable 50 years 100%
Bk 2002 —2006F TER TER TER 50
Completed 2002 - 2006 13,704 Not applicable Not applicable ~ Not applicable 50 years 100%
B 2002 — 20065 TER TER TER 50
Completed 2002—2006 9,644 Not applicable Not applicable  Not applicable 50 years 100%
BExA 20026 — 20065 TNER ik TER 50
Completed - 12,671 - 12,671 Not applicable 40 years 100%
BExA - TNER 40F
Completed - 6,365 - - Not applicable 70 years 100%
B - TaR 705
Completed - 47,402 Not applicable 9,630  Not applicable 50 years 100%
Bk - (11,098) TER TER 50%
For future - 40,897 Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable 50 years 100%
development (13,128) TER TER TER 506
ARARER =
For future = 35,822 Not applicable Not applicable  Not applicable 50 years 100%
development NER MER il 50%
BRAREE -
Completed September 2016 - 171,900 Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable 40 years 100%
BExA November 2018 (33,658) ik ik TNER 40F
2016594 -
2018511
Completed September 2016 - 35,490 Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable 40 years 100%
B November 2018 (11,000) TER TER TER 40F
20165F9A —
20185114
Completed 2006.11 - 2010.7 17,170 Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable 40 years 100%
BExA 20065114 - (7,284) TNER ik TNER 40F
2010%7 A
Completed 2006.11 - 2010.7 14,7117 Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable 40 years 100%
B 20065114 - (3,628) TER TER TER 40%
20107 A
Completed 2006.11 - 2010.7 46,422 35,357 Not applicable 9,698 40 years 100%
Bk 20065118 — TER 40F
2010474
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MAJOR PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP

Address
it

AEEFEZETEYHE
City-Phase Usage
W - E& 23
Chongging - Phase | Park
EE-—4 N

Chongging - Phase |
EF -8

Chongging - Phase Il
BE-—H

Zhengzhou - Phase |
oM -—5

Zhengzhou - Phase |
gH-—H

Zhengzhou - Phase |
oM -—5

Zhengzhou - Phase |l
g - =5

Zhengzhou - Phase Il
)

Zhengzhou - Phase |l
oM -5

Commercial strest

GR35

To be determined
e

Hotel
BIE

Commercial street

R

Park
N

Hotel
i)

Commercial

2

Park
YN

No. 35 Chongwen Road, Nan'an District, Chongging PRC
hEEEMEFERK0R

No. 35 Chongwen Road, Nan'an District, Chongaing PRC
EE R T FRR 355

No. 35 Chongwen Road, Nan'an District, Chongqing PRC
PEEETERRRXHI5T

2,000 metres from the east side of the crossing of Zheng Kai Avenue and Guanghui Street and northbound of
Zhengzhou Haichang Ocean Park, Dameng Town, Zhongmu County, Zhengzhou, Henan Province PRC

PEAEEBNTPAEARABRAERRSHERRA - MR2TK - B BN ESEEAE

2,000 metres from the east side of the crossing of Zheng Kai Avenue and Guanghui Street and northbound of
Zhengzhou Haichang Ocean Park, Dameng Town, Zhongmu County, Zhengzhou, Henan Province PRC
hENRE BN TR EEARABRABRBEEERND  WR2TK - BABMEEEAE

2,000 metres from the east side of the crossing of Zheng Kai Avenue and Guanghui Street and northbound of
Zhengzhou Haichang Ocean Park, Dameng Town, Zhongmu County, Zhengzhou, Henan Province PRC

PEAEEBNTPAEARABRAERRSHERRA  MR2TK - B BN ESEEAE

2,000 metres from the east side of the crossing of Zheng Kai Avenue and Guanghui Street and northbound of
Zhengzhou Haichang Ocean Park, Dameng Town, Zhongmu County, Zhengzhou, Henan Province PRC
hENRE BN TR AEARABRABRERERND  WR2TK - BUABMEEEAE

2,000 metres from the east side of the crossing of Zheng Kai Avenue and Guanghui Street and northbound of
Zhengzhou Haichang Ocean Park, Dameng Town, Zhongmu County, Zhengzhou, Henan Province PRC

TEIEE BN AEAZABRAAERRSERND  mR2TK - B BMESEEAE

2,000 metres from the east side of the crossing of Zheng Kai Avenue and Guanghui Street and northbound of
Zhengzhou Haichang Ocean Park, Dameng Town, Zhongmu County, Zhengzhou, Henan Province PRC
mENRE BN TR AEARABRABRBERERND  MR2TK - B BMEEFAE
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MAJOR PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP

REBRE2EEYHE
Total actual Total actual
or planned or planned
Total Cumulative GFA held for GFA held for
actual or total sale investment
Actual or planned GFA' GFA sold (sq.m.) (sq.m.) Interest
planned (sq.m.) (sq.m.) BEHER BIEREN attributable
construction AERY 2O HE HERIHRE  AERIRE Term  to the Group
Status period REEEER" HEEEE BEAEE EEnE of land rEE
(e RESHEIY (T5%) (F5%) (F5%) (F5%)  1HEH B
Completed 2007.3 - 2009.5 - Not applicable Not applicable - 40 years 100%
Bk 2007F3A - ik TER 40F
20095 A
Completed 2007.3 - 2009.5 45,943 - 20,056 - 40 years 100%
BExA 2007463A - (580) 40F
20095 A
For later stage of - 54,095 - - - 40 years 100%
development (9,758) 40F
AREHRER
Completed 2018.3 - 2023.9 28,033 - - - 40 years 100%
Bk 2018634 - (6,525) 40F
202349
Completed 2018.3 - 2023.9 10,442 - - - 40 years 100%
BExM 2018534 - 40F
20239 A
Completed 2018.3 - 2023.9 78,244 - - - 40 years 100%
Bk 2018634 - (8,259) 40F
202349
For later stage of - 32,999 - - - 40 years 100%
development (8,440) 40%F
AREHRER
For later stage of - 78,105 - - - 40 years 100%
development (21,516) 40F
AR HRERE
For later stage of ~ Scheduled to be 57,837 = = = 40 years 100%
development completed in 2024 (14,619) 40F
AR BER 20245 R T

2023 EHE
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MAJOR PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP
AEERFAEZEENR

Notes:

1. It is a practice of the PRC land administrative authorities that
property ownership certificate is usually not issued for underground
GFA.

2. Dalian Fishermen’s Wharf, an ancillary commercial properties in

Dalian, was not developed but acquired by the Group. Therefore,
information about its development is not relevant.

HAICHANG OCEAN PARK HOLDINGS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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